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During the nineteen years he served as 
an Associate Justice of the U.S. Supreme 
Court, David H. Souter was a good friend 
to the Supreme Court Historical Society, and 
we shall all miss not only his presence but 
his good humor as well. In this issue we are 
pleased to carry tributes to him by another 
friend of the Society, former Justice Sandra 
Day O’Connor, and two of Justice Souter’s 
former clerks. Heather K. Gerken is currently 
the J. Skelly Wright Professor at the Yale Law 
School, and Kermit Roosevelt III teaches law 
at the University of Pennsylvania.

This issue carries an even greater diversity 
of materials than usual and once again testifies 
to how extensive we now consider the field of 
Supreme Court history. Jeffrey L. Amestoy is 
the retired chief justice of the Supreme Court 
of Vermont and well knows how a judicial case 
can affect public policy. His article focuses 
on Richard Henry Dana, best known to most 
people for his memoir Two Years Before the 
Mast (1840). Dana had an eventful life and 
was known in his time as a champion of two 
downtrodden groups, sailors and slaves. He 
served as counsel in one of the first instances

in which the U.S. Supreme Court considered 
the extent of the executive’s war powers— 
Lincoln’s blockade of Southern ports after the 
start of the rebellion. The litigation, known as 
the Prize Cases (1863), involved ships seized 
during the blockade, and if the Court had cho­
sen to declare the blockade illegal—as Chief 
Justice Roger Taney wanted to do—it would 
have struck a serious blow to the Union. Ac­
cording to Chief Justice Amestoy, Dana’s skill 
averted a potential catastrophe.

One always hears the phrase “I’ll take it all 
the way to the Supreme Court,” but we know 
that in any given Term, the Court routinely 
turns away literally thousands of petitions for 
review. The ones that the Court chooses to 
hear normally deal with questions of consti­
tutional or statutory interpretation. Yet every 
now and then it chooses to hear something 
different. U.S. Circuit Court Judge Myron H. 
Bright tells us about one of those cases, and 
especially about the dogged determination of 
a particular lawyer to do right by his client. 
A Nebraska farmer was found dead in his 
barn, and while it might have been an acci­
dent, the coroner initially ruled suicide and the
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insurance company refused to pay on the mod­
est policy. How this case got to the High Court 
is a fascinating story.

Stefanie Lepore graduated from George 
Washington Law School last year. While there, 
she wrote a paper on the origins of the Court’s 
practice of seeking the views of the Solicitor 
General in certain cases. We thought it so good 
that we are happy to publish it in this issue.

The role of law clerks has been the fo­
cus of a number of books and articles in re­
cent years, including some in this journal. All 
clerks take a vow of secrecy, but over the 
years information emerges as to how certain 
Justices interacted with their clerks, the work 
that clerks performed, and, occasionally, a tid­
bit about some judicial quirk. Richard Arnold 
clerked for Justice William J. Brennan dur­
ing the Term that the Court heard and de­
cided one of the key cases in the so-called

due-process revolution, Mapp v. Ohio (1961), 
which extended the protections of the Fourth 
Amendment to the states as well as the federal 
government. Arnold kept a diary of his time 
in Brennan’s chambers, and Professor Polly J. 
Price of the Emory University School of Law 
uses that diary to explore the Court’s thoughts 
and processes in deciding Mapp.

Finally, under the sponsorship of Justice 
Ruth Bader Ginsberg, Professor Emerita Jill 
Norgren gave a slide show presentation to the 
Association of the Bar of the City of New York 
in October 2008, and her article in this issue 
of the Journal grew out of that talk. Professor 
Norgren, who for many years taught govern­
ment at the John Jay School of City University 
of New York, is well known as the author of 
Belva Lockwood: The Woman Who Would Be 
President (2007).

As always, enjoy the feast!
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Whe n the U.S. Supreme Court Justices took their seats at the beginning of the 2009 Term, 
the Bench looked different. Gone from the Bench, after nineteen years, was David H. Souter. 

He returned to his home in New Hampshire, a state he likes enormously. Justice Souter will  be 
missed by his former colleagues and by advocates before the Court, by legal scholars nationwide 
and by all who follow the Court’s work and activities.

I was privileged to serve on the Court with 
Justice Souter for more than fifteen years. He 
was an admirable Justice and is a cherished 
friend. While serving on the Court, Justice 

Souter produced 157 majority opinions, 121 
dissenting opinions, and 83 concurring opin­
ions. He served as the Circuit Justice for both 

the First and the Third circuits. His opinions 
were always thoroughly researched and writ­
ten, with full explanations of the facts, the is­
sues, and the governing principles. He cut no 
corners and explained his reasoning in depth.

His writing was evidence of his scholarly 
nature. He was, after all, a Harvard Law School 
graduate, a Rhodes Scholar, a former New 
Hampshire trial court judge, a New Hamp­
shire supreme court justice, and a judge on 
the First Circuit Court of Appeals. His opin­

ions, written while he was on the Supreme 
Court of the United States, were as methodical 
as they were measured. Justice Souter’s con­
curring opinion in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW ash ing ton v. G luckshurg }

captured his judicial philosophy nicely. He 
wrote: “ [Tjhe usual thinking of the common 
law is suspicious of the all-or-nothing analysis 

that tends to produce legal petrification instead 
of an evolving boundary between domains of 
old principles. Common-law method tends to 
pay respect instead to detail, seeking to under­

stand old principles afresh by new examples 
and new counterexamples. The ‘ tradition is a 
living thing,’ albeit one that moves by mod­
erate steps carefully taken.” 2 His careful ap­
proach to opinion-writing meant that he very 
seldom felt compelled to make a major alter­
ation to one of his circulating opinion drafts 
because he wrote such thorough explanations 
in his original draft opinions.

Justice Souter was an especially treasured 
colleague on the Bench. He has a delightful 

sense of humor and a natural wit that often en­
tertained his colleagues. He has a remarkable 

memory for details of conversations and events 
going back a great many years. The Justices
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o fte n have lu nch to ge the r in the Justices' din­
ing room on days of oral argument or confer­

ence. Justice Souter would eat his customary 
cup of yogurt and contribute to the conver­
sation with the occasional story, always told 
with humor and vivid detail. One day at lunch, 
someone mentioned a family wedding one 
of the Justices had recently attended. Justice 
Souter said the discussion reminded him of a 

story told to him by Justice William Brennan’s 
son. He told us that Justice Brennan’s father 
was, at the time, Democratic Party “boss” in 
New Jersey. His granddaughter got married to 
a young man whose grandfather was the Re­

publican Party “boss” in New Jersey. Some­
one asked Justice Brennan’s father, “Doesn’t it 
bother you that your granddaughter is marry­
ing the grandson of your archrival?”  “No,”  said 
Justice Brennan’s father. “You have to remem­
ber that we always stood shoulder to shoulder 
against the interests of the people.”

From time to time, I would have reason to 
stop by Justice Souter’s Chambers to inquire 
about some Court matter. He would always 
cordially welcome my unannounced visit to his 
Chambers. Entering his Chambers was unlike 
entering any other Chambers at the Court. He 
disliked bright lights and his office was always 
rather dark. Only some natural light from win­
dows illuminated his personal office. Every 
part of the floor space between his desk and the

couch was piled high with books. Often even 
the seats on the couch, save one for a visitor, 
would be stacked with books. Justice Souter 
is a reader and a collector of books. There 
was simply not enough space in his Chambers 
for the ever-growing number of books on his 
“ reading list.”

There is an enormous amount of reading 
of court documents and opinions that every 
Justice must do in order to keep up with their 

work at the Court. But that did not prevent Jus­
tice Souter from reading many other books as 

well, books unrelated to the work of the Court. 

He was also a student of history and the vari­
ous figures in the Court’s history. The walls 
in his Chambers were hung with paintings 
of such people as Daniel Webster and Henry 
Clay alongside former Supreme Court Justices 
Bushrod Washington and Harlan Fiske Stone.

It is customary at the Court for law clerks 

in the various Chambers to invite each Jus­
tice to join them for lunch at some time dur­
ing the Term of the Court. Justice Souter was 
gracious about accepting such invitations. He 

would bring his own cup of yogurt for his lunch 
and would talk to the law clerks at length in 
conversations lasting well over the appointed 
hour. Needless to say, the law clerks were al­
ways delighted and impressed.

Justice Souter did not accept many of the 
numerous invitations sent to him for social
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e ve nts in Was hingto n, D.C. He typically de­
clined invitations for speaking engagements 
throughout the United States and in other 
countries as well. He preferred to return to 
New Hampshire at every opportunity. For 

years, he had a Volkswagen automobile, and 
he would drive it up to Weare as soon as the 
Term ended and as soon as the holiday and 
winter recesses occurred. While in Washing­

ton, D.C., he would rise early every day and 
run on the grounds of the Naval base at the 
foot of Capitol Hill  before coming to the Court 
for the balance of the day and often late into

the evening. He remained a bachelor and had 
no need to interrupt his work to meet family 
obligations, as most of the Justices typically 
would do. Now, back in New Hampshire, Jus­
tice Souter has managed to replace his daily 
Capitol Hill  runs with frequent hikes across 
the White Mountains near his home.

E N D N O T E S YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

1 W ash ing ton v. G lucksberg , 521 U.S. 702 (1997).

2 W ash ing ton , 521 U.S. at 769 (quoting Justice Harlan’s 

dissent in P oe v. U llm an , 367 U.S. 497, 542 (1961)).
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Adam Gopnik once observed that “Paris is a struggle between its pompous official culture 
and its matchless ... commonplace civilization.”  The aphorism applies even more clearly to the 
Supreme Court. It is an institution cloaked in formality, from the ceremonies of First Monday to 
the grand generalities it invokes in its ruling. It is also an institution that takes itself extremely 
seriously, with its strongest opinions penned when it thinks another institution—Congress in 
passing Commerce Clause legislation or the Religious Freedom Restoration Act, the Florida 
supreme court during YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB ush v. G ore— is treading on the Court’s privileges. The Court’s pompous 
officious culture contributes to the studied cynicism lawyers exhibit whenever they talk about 

judges.

The Court’s matchless commonplace civ­
ilization has always redeemed it in the eyes of 
the profession. Our faith in the Court is built 
upon the common sense and decency of those 
behind the Court’s official culture. Souter per­
fectly embodied those values, something that 
may explain why he dissented in each of the 
cases described above. He was a judge’s judge 
and a lawyer’s lawyer. He prepared meticu­
lously for each case and displayed a sure­

footed sense of that path the doctrine would 
take.

Justice Souter wasn’ t just fair-minded; he 
was one of the rare jurists who could step out­
side the bounds of his experience. The year 

that I clerked for him, he wrote an extraordi­
nary dissent in a voting-rights case. There he 
carved out a position on the fraught relation­

ship between race and voting that was both 

more nuanced and more pragmatic than that 
of his Brethren. Souter was perhaps the least 
politically connected person on the Court, and 
his racially homogenous home state of New 
Hampshire hadn’t had much experience with 
the Voting Rights Act. Yet even as someone 
who had self-consciously lived outside of pol­
itics, he understood its dynamism and had an 
astute sense of how to harness it in the service 
of racial integration.

Though there is no one who cares more 
deeply about the Court as an institution, Jus­

tice Souter displays none of the pomposity that 
occasionally mars the Court’s reputation. In 
person, he is a delight—witty, charming, and 

erudite. He knows the names of the guards 
and the cleaning staff. He is the most powerful
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p e rs o n I kno w we ll, and y e t the m o s t de ce nt 
and hu m ble o ne . To this day, I cannot fathom 
how a man of such integrity negotiated the 
Serbonian bog of Washington.

Justice Souter’s clerks adore him. We pro­
tect his privacy with a tribal ferocity, much to 
the dismay of reporters. We refer to him as “ the 
Boss,”  as if  we never had another boss. We re­
turn every year for the annual reunion—for the 
announcement of the new “Souter babies,”  the 
painfully amateurish skit by the prior year’s 
clerks, the Justice’s after-dinner speech. We 
go even as the tribe has grown so large that 
we know we will  have only a few minutes’ 
worth of conversation with him. For us, it is 
enough.

It ’s quite funny that the Souter clerks tend 
to look upon the clerkship as the greatest job 
they ever had, since we were all but useless 

appendages. To be sure, we wrote memos and 
did research and provided initial drafts of opin­
ions. But no one would ever call the Justice 
“clerk-driven.”  To the contrary, we sometimes 
wondered what purpose we served. The Jus­
tice prepared for oral arguments entirely on 
his own, reading the clerk’s memorandum at 
the end of his preparation simply as a check 
to be sure he hadn’t missed anything. His pen­

chant for entirely rewriting our drafts always 
prompted dark jokes from clerks; we’d boast

to each other that we could identify one “ the”  
and three “ands”  that were left from the origi­
nal draft. My co-clerk once glumly showed me 
a mass of sticky papers he’d just gotten from 
the Boss. The Justice had taken the phrase “cut 

and paste” quite literally, laying waste to my 
co-clerk’s shiny draft with scissors and rubber 

cement.
And yet... the Justice managed to make 

us feel important. He could restate your gar­
bled argument in such elegant terms that you 
began to fancy yourself a genius. And 1 re­
member one night, as dusk fell and the Court 
grew quiet, when the Justice called me back 
into his office after I ’d handed him some pa­
pers he required. The day before, I ’d told him I 

thought his initial take on a case was mistaken, 
arguing with the passion of a 24-year-old just 
out of law school. I ’d spent the day agonizing 
about the conversation, wondering whether I 

should have been more deferential. As I lin­

gered at the door, he said a few kind words 
about the day before. It was enough. It was 
more than enough.

Looking back on the clerkship, I realize 
what a profound effect Justice Souter had on 
my view of the law and the profession. In 

law school, I had romanticized the Warren 
Court’s opinions, with their epic sweep and 
grand style. Souter, however, was a Florentine,
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no t a Ve ne tian. As the clerkship wore on, I 
came to admire the lapidary qualities of his 
opinions, the care he took with each facet of 
the argument. I began to grow impatient with 

the breadth of other judges’ pronouncements, 
the lack of attention to detail, the slippage in 
the analytics.

Souter always had a firm sense of the re­

lationship between large and small in the law. 
He thus perfectly understood the relationship 
between the Court’s pompous official culture 
and its matchless commonplace civilization, 
the ways in which the law’s grand generali­
ties must be grounded in common-sense intu­
itions. He knew that an institution as powerful 

as the Court must be careful with the facts 
and attentive to the dictates of craft. That is 
because Souter is, at his core, a common-law 

judge. The Justice wrote of that tradition that 
“ the judicial paradox [is] that we have no hope 
of serving the most exalted without respecting 
the concrete.”  In doing so, he invoked the myth 
of Antaeus, the giant who drew his strength 
from contact with the earth and could not be

defeated until Hercules had the wit to hold 
him aloft with his feet flailing uselessly in the 
sky.

Adam Gopnik recently wrote a lovely 

piece in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT he N ew Y orker that brought the Jus­
tice to mind. Gopnik quoted G.K. Chesteron 
as saying that “all my life I have loved frames 
and limits, and I will  maintain that the largest 
wilderness looks larger through a window.”  
Gopnik added that Chesterton’s insight “ is not 
that small is beautiful, but that beautiful is al­
ways small, and that we cannot have a clear 
picture in the white light of abstractions.”

Souter was always skeptical of the white 
light of abstractions. He insisted that we must 
look through the window of fact and precedent 

if  we hoped to glimpse law’s grand generali­
ties. He approached the Court’s docket as a 
craftsman, not a poet; as a country lawyer, not 
a seer. He was the sort of judge who renews 
your faith in judging. With Justice Souter’s re­
tirement, the Court has lost its finest common- 
law judge. As any of the Boss’s clerks will  tell 
you, that’s the highest of compliments.
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KERMIT ROOSEVELT

Many former Supreme Court clerks describe their clerkship as the best job of their lives. 
David Souter’s former clerks do too, though with what I believe is a greater than normal 
frequency. (As a former Souter clerk I confess to partiality.) But while Souter resembles other 
Justices in the devoted affection he inspires, he was in many other ways a very unusual presence 
at the Supreme Court.

There are, of course, the foibles for which 
Souter was well known. His frugality and 
simplicity are colorful by the standards of 
Supreme Court Justices, and so the media paid 
attention to the fact that he ate apples and yo­
gurt for lunch, wrote with a fountain pen, and 
disdained overcoats.

It is true that Justice Souter abhors ex­
travagance and waste. He would read by nat­
ural light rather than use electricity even if 
he had to stand by the window to do so, 
and he once wrote me a note on a napkin I 
had left on my desk rather than use a fresh 
sheet of paper. But these characteristics are not 
simple eccentricities; they are indications of 
deeper currents in Souter’s character. Souter is 
a judge, and a man, of true humility. He treated 
clerks, Court staff, and fellow Justices with the 
same respect, and he had a modest vision of 
the judge’s role, one rooted in the common- 
law methodology he brought to the Supreme 
Court.

Law is important, Souter believes, indi­
vidual judges less so. Satisfaction, he once told 
the Third Circuit judicial conference, comes 
less from great moments than from being part 
of the great stream of law. On his resigna­
tion, some writers complained that he did not 
leave bold doctrines or memorable phrases. 
But Souter does not see the judge’s role as 
working dramatic changes in the law or whip­
ping up passions outside the court. A great 
moment for a judge is not the dramatic break 
with precedent or the minting of a sparkling 
phrase; it is the quiet resistance against excess.

There are moments of crisis, and some­
times judges must confront them. Souter has 
also spoken of Gettysburg, and of the men who 
found themselves facing Pickett’s charge. But 
the role he sees for courts in such times is not 
to wade in gleefully on one side or the other. 
It is to moderate, to be a safe place in society, 
as free of passion and partisanship as human 
nature allows. At the clerk reunion after his
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David Souter had only 
served for a few months 
as a federal judge when 
President George H. W. 
Bush selected him to 
fill the Supreme Court 
seat vacated by Justice 
William Brennan.

retirement was announced, he told us the story 
of a New England ancestor who had stopped 
the witch trials of Salem from spreading to his 
town, refusing to issue a warrant against an 
accused girl with the simple words “We will 
have none of that here.” It is not a lofty phrase 
or an ambitious theory, but it is a pretty good 
judicial philosophy, and if we look back at 
Souter’s notable decisions, I think we will see 
it has explanatory power. When the time found 
him, he stood against extremism and held the 
line.

Souter was also unusual in his fondness 
for New Hampshire and distaste for Washing­
ton. No Justice was more eager to leave the 
capital at the end of the Term, and speaking to 
the Justice when he was in New Hampshire, 
you could almost hear over the phone line the 
pleasure and renewal he drew from its simple 
calm.

This, too, was indicative of deeper cur­
rents. Who would not enjoy the social status 
and accolades accorded Supreme Court Jus­
tices? Someone who thought they got in the 
way of real personal interaction. Because of 
his distaste for the events and parties of Wash­
ington society, Souter was often mistaken for 
an awkward recluse. But his clerks know him 
as a warm and witty man who most afternoons 
would emerge from Chambers to take a cup 
of coffee and put us in stitches with anec­
dotes about New Hampshire or Oxford. We

know him as a gifted storyteller who speaks at 
reunions with extemporaneous fluency, some­
times holding a glass of port and a folded sheet 
of paper and consulting the former in prefer­
ence to the latter. He can show a sly humor 
even with strangers: when a couple mistook 
him for Justice Breyer and asked him his fa­
vorite part of sitting on the Supreme Court, he 
gravely informed them that it was the honor of 
serving with David Souter.

Souter did not like the social trappings of 
the Court, and he did not enjoy the position for 
its own sake. Most Justices retire only when 
age or circumstance makes continued service 
difficult, and some hang on much longer than 
they should. I have always found it understand­
able. Who would want to turn from dramatic 
constitutional issues to the life of a private cit­
izen?

Someone who found real meaning and 
pleasure in that life, someone whose sense 
of himself went far beyond his status as a 
Supreme Court Justice. And that is David 
Souter, too. He retired at 69; to find a younger 
ex-Justice we have to go back forty years to 
Abe Fortas, whose decision to leave was as­
sisted by the threat of impeachment. In a col­
umn I wrote at the time of his resignation, 
I likened Justice Souter to Cincinnatus, the 
Roman farmer called to service who cast off 
his power and went home when the crisis was 
done.
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I still think the comparison is apt. But 
when he spoke to me later, Souter invoked 
instead Calvin Coolidge, who said simply 
“The work is done.” The Justice was be­
ing modest, and Coolidge is in some ways 
quite different. (No one would have called 
him a charming raconteur, for instance.) But

some of what he said does capture Justice 
Souter on the occasion of his retirement as 
well. “We draw our Presidents from the peo­
ple,” wrote Coolidge. “It is a wholesome 
thing for them to return to the people. I 
came from them. I wish to be one of them 
again.”
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On Janu ary 1, 1863, Abraham Lincoln signed the Emancipation Proclamation, claiming 
constitutional authority to do so “as a fit  and necessary war measure.”  The epic struggle between 
North and South had been raging for nearly two years. There were over a million soldiers under 
arms. At Antietam there had been more than 20,000 casualties in the bloodiest single day of 
battle in American history.1 But was it, in point of law, a war?

This astounding question—conceivable 
under such circumstances only in the U.S. 
constitutional system—was answered by the 
Supreme Court in the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP rize C ases.2 It was 
very nearly answered in the negative. That it 
was not was due to the extraordinary argument 
of a lawyer who, fortunately for the history of 
the United States, went to sea as a young man.

Richard Henry Dana, Jr. is today remem­
bered as the author of T w o Y ears B efo re the 
M ast, his classic account of a voyage around 
Cape Horn to the California coast. Published in 
1840, the year the twenty-five-year-old Dana 
opened his law office, the book has never been 
out of print. Scholars of American literature 
have expressed regret that Dana “dissipated”

his enormous literary talent in the practice of 
the law.3 But Dana always saw himself, first 
and foremost, as a lawyer. He had written T w o 

Y ears B efo re the M ast, in part, to express his 
outrage at the unjust and unlawful treatment 
of seamen.4

Dana’s book brought the young lawyer a 
succession of clients who seldom had access 
to legal representation. He quickly built a rep­
utation as a zealous advocate for the common 
sailor. His office “ [i]n  those days, and indeed 

long afterwards, ... was apt to be crowded 
with unkempt, roughly dressed seamen, and it 
smelled on such occasions much like a fore­
castle.” 5 Dana’s experience at sea shaped and 

informed his development as a lawyer. By the
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R ic h a rd H e n ry D a n a w a s  tw e n ty - f iv e in 1 8 4 0  w h e n  

h e  w ro te Two Years Before the Mast, h is  f irs t -h a n d  

a c c o u n t o f a  v o y a g e a ro u n d  C a p e  H o rn  to  C a lifo rn ia  

in  a  m e rc h a n t v e s s e l s im ila r  to  th e  o n e  p ic tu re d . T h is  

p h o to  o f D a n a  w a s  ta k e n  tw o  y e a rs  la te r .

outbreak of the Civil War, no lawyer in Amer­
ica was more well-versed in maritime law or 
more experienced in the intricacies of “prize 
law”—the arcane avenue of jurisprudence that, 
in 1863, threatened to unravel Lincoln’s at­
tempt to preserve the Union.

The YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP rize C ases arose from the capture of 
four vessels—the brig A m y W arw ick , the bar­
que H iaw a tha , and the schooners B rillian te 
and C renshaw— in the early months of the 
Civil War. Each had been seized pursuant to 
a blockade of Southern ports proclaimed by 
President Lincoln in April 1861.6 The right 
to interdict, seize, and dispose of vessels and 
cargo belonging to those residing in “enemy’s 
territory”  upon the implementation of a lawful 
blockade was a recognized principle of inter­
national law. But the right was predicated on 
a war between sovereign nations. Lincoln did 

not accept the claim of the Confederacy that it 
was a sovereign government. He had an equal 
interest in ensuring that no other nation did 
either.7
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Lincoln’s first blockade proclamation 
characterized the Southern secessionists as 

a “combination of persons” engaged in “an 
insurrection against the government of the 
United States.” 8 The difficulty posed by this 

description was that a government engaged 
in the suppression of an insurrection could 
“close” its domestic ports but could not, ac­
cording to accepted tenets of international law, 
“blockade”  them.9 Why, then, had Lincoln not 
chosen to close Southern ports—a decision 
clearly within his executive authority and con­
sistent with international law?

The question had divided Lincoln’s “ team 
of rivals.” 10 Secretary of the Navy Gideon 
Welles, supported by Attorney General Ed­

ward Bates, argued strenuously against the 
blockade because its legal validity presup­
posed a conflict between two distinct nations. 
The issue of whether to close or blockade 
was revisited in the summer of 1861 w h e n 
Congress, on July 13, specifically authorized 
the President to declare ports closed w h e r e 
the authority of federal customs collections 
was challenged. Lincoln requested his Navy 
Secretary to advise him whether the blockade 
should be continued. Welles responded in a 
lengthy memorandum asserting that a port clo­

sure would be “ legally ... impregnable” but 
that a blockade was unlikely to be sustained 
by a federal court. Welles warned the Presi­
dent that the Union would face huge damage 

claims for selling vessels and cargoes as prizes 
if  the blockade was declared illegal.11

Lincoln was a good enough lawyer to 
recognize the validity of the legal arguments 
espoused by his Secretary of Navy and At­
torney General, but he was President of the 
United States during a war. Secretary of State 
William Seward conveyed the view of the Cab­
inet member who mattered most: the British 
foreign secretary, Lord Russell. Her Majesty’s 
government made clear it would not accept 

American “closure” of Southern ports that 
would expose British shippers to arrest as com­
mon smugglers. A “blockade,” on the other 

hand, would enable England to exercise the 
rights of a neutral nation. The British mes­

sage was coupled with the implicit threat that 
port closure could lead to direct recognition 

of the Confederacy and the intervention of the 
British fleet to preserve the shipping rights 
of British subjects.12 Secretary Welles ac­
knowledged Lincoln’s convincing rationale for 

choosing a legally problematic blockade over 
a legally sound closure: “The President said 
we could not afford to have two wars on our 
hands at once.” 13

History has proved the soundness of Lin­
coln’s judgment. But it has made remote the 
enormous stakes at risk in the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP rize C ases. 

“Contemplate, my dear Sir, the possibility of 
a Supreme Court deciding this blockade is il ­
legal,” Dana wrote to Charles Francis Adams, 
the American ambassador to England. Dana 
thought “ it would end the war.” 14 At the very 

least, an adverse decision would subject the 
Union to immense damages when it least had 
the capacity to pay them. Depending on its 
scope, an opinion concluding the President had 
acted illegally in declaring a blockade could 
raise constitutional challenges to decisions al­
ready made by Lincoln pursuant to his inter­
pretation of the war power. If  there was no 
constitutional basis for Lincoln’s blockade of 
Southern ports, where was the authority for 
the decision he had made to suspend habeas 

corpus nearly two years earlier? Or to eman­
cipate slaves from states in rebellion against 
the government, taken less than two months 
earlier?

Lincoln had already expressed h is view 
that the judiciary did not comprehend the re­
ality confronted by a President in a civil war. 
The judiciary, he stated, “seemed as if  it had 
been designed not to sustain the government 
but to embarrass and betray it.” 15 By the time 
the P rize C ases were ripe for Supreme Court 

review, Lincoln had no reason to be more op­
timistic. Counsel for the ship owners in the 
P rize C ases were eager for a hearing before 
the Court despite their lack of success in the 
courts below. Their well-founded optimism 
was based on the Court’s composition.

There had been one vacancy on the nine- 
member Supreme Court when Lincoln was
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elected President. In March 1861, Justice John 
McLean died shortly after Lincoln took of­
fice. One month later, Justice John Campbell 
followed his home state of Alabama out of 
the Union by tendering his resignation to the 
President. The six remaining members of the 
Court included four Justices (James Wayne, 
Robert Grier, John Catron, and Samuel Nel­

son) who had joined Chief Justice Roger Taney 
in the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD redSco tt decision of 1857.16 The sixth 

member of the Court, Justice Nathan Clifford 
of Maine, had not been on the Court at the 

time the D red Sco tt case was decided, but as 
a Buchanan appointee, he had made clear his 
agreement with the decision.17

In early 1862, attorneys for the claimants 
in the P rize C ases pressed Attorney General 
Bates to advance the cases on the Supreme 
Court calendar.18 Bates wavered, despite the 

certainty that a hearing before the Court as 
then composed would have led to an opinion 
adverse to the government. Asserting that he 
was being “urged in several quarters to ask for 
a special term,”  Bates asked William M. Evarts 
for advice. Evarts, who had represented the 
United States in the H iaw a tha and the C ren­

shaw claims before federal courts in New York, 
advised the Attorney General that the govern­
ment had little to gain by accelerating the case, 
especially when President Lincoln had yet to 
fill  a vacancy on the Court.19

The posture of the P rize C ases presented 
Attorney General Bates with greater chal­
lenges than an unsympathetic Court. That ob­

stacle he could partly surmount by refusing to 
grant the claimants’ request for an expedited 
hearing before a truncated Court. But Bates 
was no closer to a compelling legal theory with 
which to defend the blockade decision than 
he had been nearly two years earlier when he 
joined Secretary of Navy Welles in expressing 
doubts about its legality. In the words of Chief 
Justice Taney’s biographer:

The Supreme Court was in position 

to greatly embarrass the government 
in either of two ways. It might hold

that the conflict was not a war ... 

and that the prizes had been illegally 
taken... Such a decision would make 
the government liable for huge sums 
in damages, and its psychological ef­
fect would be such as seriously to 
cripple the conduct of the war. On the 
other hand the court might hold that 

the Confederacy was an independent 
sovereign power and although hold­

ing the blockade to be legal, it might 
do it in such a way as to encourage 
the recognition of the Confederacy by 
foreign governments.20

Bates had been a rival of Abraham Lin­
coln’s for the Republican presidential nomi­
nation in 1860, and his appointment as Attor­

ney General owed more to his political value 
than to his legal acumen. Bates’s opinion jus­
tifying Lincoln’s decision to suspend the writ 
of habeas corpus was not persuasive.21 But 

he at least had some self-knowledge of his 
shortcomings as an oral advocate.22 With the 

P rize C ases scheduled for the Court’s Decem­
ber 1862 term, Bates began assembling the 

legal team to argue the most momentous case 
heard by the U.S. Supreme Court during the 
Civil  War. His first choice almost cost the gov­
ernment its case. His last choice saved it.

As principal advocate for the govern­

ment in the P rize C ases, the Attorney General 
chose Charles Eames, a prominent Washing­
ton lawyer. Eames, a former newspaper editor 

and U.S. minister to Venezuela, was often used 
by Secretary Welles to represent the Navy De­
partment.23 Given the Secretary’s longstand­

ing reservations about the legality of the block­
ade and his high regard for Eames, Welles un­
doubtedly influenced Bates’s choice. Although 
the Secretary’s characterization of Eames as 
“ the most correct admiralty lawyer in the coun­
try” is often cited as evidence of the reason­
ableness of the Attorney General’s selection, 
it is revealing to note a further description 
from Welles’s diary. Eames, wrote the Sec­

retary, “did not love the practice of the law,
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but necessity impelled him.... Not endowed 
with a strong constitution, he broke down upon 
the pressure of certain great cases entrusted to 
him.”24 The Supreme Court was soon to make 

it clear that Charles Eames was a disastrous 
choice for the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP rize C ases.

The Court scheduled twelve days of oral 
argument commencing on February 10, 1863 
and ending on February 25.25 Allowing each 

side six days to present its case would be incon­
ceivable today, but even in a legal culture where 
lengthy argument was the norm, the grant of 
two weeks to oral advocacy emphasized the 
significance the Court attached to the P rize 
C ases. The cause “attracted a display of legal 
and forensic talent rarely equaled in the history 
of the Court.” 26

Attorneys for the claimant ship owners 
divided their time among four accomplished 
appellate lawyers. James M. Carlisle of Wash­

ington, a friend of Chief Justice Taney’s, rep­
resented the Mexican owner of the B rillian te , 
seized on June 23, 1861 for attempting to 
run the blockade of New Orleans and con­
demned as a lawful prize by the U.S. district 
court in Key West. Claimants in the seizures 
of the H iaw a tha and the C renshaw were rep­
resented by the prominent New York firm of 
Lord, Edwards, and Donohue. Daniel Lord was 
an experienced appellate attorney, and he and 
his partner Charles Edwards often represented 

British interests. The British-owned H iaw a tha 
and the Virginia-owned C renshaw had each 

been captured in Hampton Roads in May 1861 
and condemned as lawful prizes by the U.S. 
district court in New York City. Counsel for 
the Virginia claimants in the A m y W arw ick was 
Edward Bangs of Boston, who had represented 
the ship’s owners in the U.S. district court in 
Boston after its capture off the Virginia coast 
on July 10, 1861.27

Attorney General Bates apparently in­
tended to have Charles Eames argue three of 
the four consolidated cases—B rillian te , C ren­

shaw , and the A m y W arw ick— though Eames, 
unlike opposing counsel, had argued the cases 
in neither the district nor the circuit courts.

In the case of the H iaw atha , the Attorney 
General assigned the argument to Evarts and 
Charles B. Sedgwick. Bates had already relied 

on Evarts’s sensible advice not to expedite the 
P rize C ases. Sedgwick was a New York Con­
gressman and Chair of the House Committee 
on Naval Affairs. Astonishingly, Bates did not, 
in the first instance, consider Richard Henry 
Dana as counsel for the government.28

The Attorney General’s failure to imme­
diately draw upon Dana’s unequalled exper­
tise, immense talent, and legendary diligence 
is particularly difficult  to understand given the 
origin of the A m y W arw ick case. Unlike the 

other three ships, the A m y W arw ick had not 
been seized for attempting to run a blockade 
after notice. It had been captured on the “high 
seas” by the U .S .S . Q uaker C ity , much to the 
surprise of its master, who was bringing cof­
fee from Rio de Janeiro to Richmond. In re­

sponse to the standard interrogatories taken in 
the P rize C ases, the master had explained:

At the time of the first pursuit and 
capture, the ship was steering directly 
for Cape Henry... Saw a man-of-war 
... some two or three hours before 
she weighed anchor and bore down 

on us; did not alter course but hoisted 
American flag when she hoisted hers 

... The ship brought us to by firing 
a gun, on which I hove to and waited 
for orders, and was much surprised to 
hear that there was a blockade on the 
port, and Virginia had seceded.29

The captured vessel was taken to Boston, 
where Dana served as U.S. Attorney. U.S. dis­
trict courts had jurisdiction in prize cases. Al ­
though prize courts in Philadelphia and New 
York were ordinarily nearer to blockade sta­
tions than was Boston, captains preferred to 

bring their prizes to Boston, where Dana’s 
knowledge of prize law enabled him to de­
vise the most “honest, rapid, and inexpensive”  

Prize Court proceedings in the country. Dana’s 
integrity and sympathy for ships’ crews, who 
shared in the proceeds derived from the sale
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of a captured vessel and its cargo, made the 
U.S. district court of Boston one of the busiest 
prize courts in the country.30

It also made Judge Peleg Sprague one of 
the most respected maritime jurists in the na­
tion. Judge Sprague knew full well, as did 
Dana, that the issues of “enemy’s property”  
and “enemy’s territory”  raised by the circum­
stances of the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAA m y W arw ick’s seizure on the 
open sea went to the heart of the prize-case 
controversy. “ [I]t  is contended,” wrote Judge 
Sprague in deciding the A m y W arw ick case, 
“ that although this property might be liable to 

confiscation if  the contest were a foreign war, 
yet it is otherwise in a rebellion or civil war. 
This requires attention.” Relying extensively 
on Dana’s brief and argument, Judge Sprague 
foreshadowed the legal theory that was ulti­
mately to persuade a majority of the Supreme 
Court that the United States could invoke both 
belligerent and sovereign power against the 
Confederacy without a Congressional decla­

ration of war.31

Unaccountably inattentive, Attorney Gen­
eral Bates did not see fit  to consult with Dana, 
despite the evidence that Dana’s work had per­
suaded one of the nation’s most knowledgeable 
prize-case judges of a novel legal theory that 
could preserve Lincoln’s presidential author­
ity. It has been suggested that Dana’s lack of 
experience in the Supreme Court (he had ap­
peared only once) was the reason Bates looked 
elsewhere.32 If  so, the Attorney General had 
very little familiarity with Dana’s reputation 

for oral advocacy. Judge Sprague, who served 
for a quarter-century, said upon his retirement 
that Dana “made the best arguments that I ever 

heard from anybody, except perhaps, some of 
[Daniel] Webster’s.” Dana’s former law part­
ner, who passed along this accolade to Dana, 
noted that “ this is, as Dr. Johnson would say, 
a compliment enhanced by an exception, if  in­
deed, it be an exception, for Judge Sprague ev­
idently doubted whether he could make it.” 33

Dana viewed the Attorney General’s 
preparations for the P rize C ases with
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increasing apprehension. As events were soon 
to prove, Dana had reason to question whether 
Eames had the mastery of the law and subtlety 
of argument the cause required. Sedgwick’s 
perfunctory brief was evidence that his se­
lection owed more to the Attorney General’s 
view of Sedgwick’s Congressional signifi­
cance than to Sedgwick’s legal standing. Dana 
had great respect for Evarts, whom he had 
known since their days as law students. Though 
Evarts had successfully represented the gov­
ernment before the U.S. district Court and the 
Second Circuit in the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH iaw atha and C renshaw 

cases, Dana correctly judged Evarts’ argument
to be an incomplete exposition on the law ofHGFEDCBA

34prize.
The man and the moment were at hand. 

Two of the most striking aspects of Dana’s 

character—his fearless devotion to a just cause 
and his complete immersion in the work 
needed to further it—had been shaped and 
strengthened by his years “before the mast.”  In 
1841, Dana had written T he Seam an s F riend , 
a comprehensive handbook on seamanship, 
sailors’ rights, and masters’ duties. Of the lat­
ter Dana had written, “ [h]e may ask advice, 
but he must act upon his own account, and is 
equally answerable for what he does himself 
and what he permits to be done.” 35

Dana’s legal career was a testament to 
that standard. No lawyer of equivalent stand­
ing had done as much on behalf of fugitive 

slaves—or paid a higher price. Dana had been 

socially ostracized, economically boycotted, 
and physically assaulted for his defense of 
fugitive slaves and their “ rescuers.”  Dana had 
taken the cases without fee when Boston’s 
other prominent attorneys, Rufus Choate and 
Charles Sumner among them, had refused. 
Dana’s unwavering commitment to “ the un­
popular side ... kept the rich clients from 
his office. He was the counsel of the sailor 
and the slave—persistent, courageous, hard- 
fighting, skillful but still the advocate of the 

poor and unpopular. In the mind of wealthy 

and respectable Boston almost anyone was to 
be preferred to him... ,” 36

“ E v e r y  man rates himself when he ships,”  
Dana had written in T he Seam ans F riend . He 
knew well that “by training at the bar and be­
fore the mast, no less than by the natural turn 
of his thought and habit of mind [he] was bet­
ter qualified to present the case on the side 
of the government as, in view of all the cir­
cumstances, it ought to be presented than any 
other lawyer in America.”37 On November 16, 

1862, Dana wrote to Attorney General Bates 
offering to participate in the P rize C ases with­
out fee. One week later, an assistant attorney 
general replied that he could do so.38

Dana prepared for the P rize C ases in char­
acteristic fashion. “Dana ... was always abso­
lutely absorbed in the one thing he was doing,”  
an associate in his office has written, “and this 

question of—was there a war? Could there be 
prize?—took absolute possession of him.” 39 
Dana’s power of advocacy owed much to the 
literary gift so apparent in T w o Y ears B efo re 

the M ast. It was this “same faculty of seeing 
and describing” that enabled Dana to “ [see] 
things clearly himself, and then [make] others 
see them as he saw them.”40

That faculty and more were critical to suc­
cess in the P rize C ases. As the first day of oral 
argument approached, there was very little ev­
idence that a majority of the Supreme Court 
would see things as clearly as the govern­
ment claimed to see them. The three new ap­
pointees of President Lincoln—Justices Noah 

Swayne, Samuel Miller, and David Davis— 
could be reasonably counted on to be recep­
tive to the Lincoln administration’s case. Chief 
Justice Taney could not. Of the five remain­
ing Justices, four of whom had sided with 
the Chief Justice in D red Sco tt, only Justice 
Grier provided a basis for hope: sitting as a 
circuit judge, Justice Grier upheld the block­
ade in an appeal from the U.S. district court in 
Philadelphia.41 Attorney General Bates, how­

ever, had little regard for Grier, whom he 
considered a “natural-born vulgarian.” In a 

later case before the Court in which Bates ap­
peared for the government, he had been ap­
palled when Justice Grier said to him from the
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Bench: “If  you speak, give that damned Yankee 
hell.” 42

Two other Justices had also affirmed the 

blockade while sitting as circuit judges. Nei­
ther was likely to accept the government’s ar­
gument. Justice Nelson had affirmed the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH i ­

aw atha and C renshaw condemnations with “a 
view to facilitate a hearing before the Supreme 
Court.”43 Justice Clifford had upheld Judge 
Sprague’s blockade decision in the A m y W ar­

w ick case, but asserted that should the issue 
come before the Supreme Court, “ [m]y mind 
is open to conviction on this great question.”44 

Justice Clifford had the unusual distinction of 
being a Southern sympathizer from Maine, so 

his “openness” did not bode well for the gov­
ernment. That left, as “swing votes,” the two 
Southern Justices who had refused to resign 

their seats during the war: Justice Wayne of 
Georgia and Justice Catron of Tennessee. At­
torney General Bates could expect them to ap­
proach the P rize C ases with as much objectiv­
ity as their sympathies would allow, but it was 
clear that, absent a coherent and compelling 
legal theory to support the government’s case, 
the cause would be lost.

The legal quandary confronted by the gov­

ernment’s attorneys was more easily stated 
than resolved. Could the United States gov­
ernment seize the ship and cargo of its citizens 
without any proof of treasonable acts, on the 

sole ground that their residence was in a part 
of the United States controlled by persons in 
rebellion against the government? Prize was 
permitted only in war. Congress had never de­
clared war. The necessary predicate for the 
legality of blockade and the taking of prizes 
was a state of war between sovereign nations. 

But if  the United States conceded that such a 
state of war existed between it and the Confed­
erate States of America, foreign powers had a 
much greater incentive—some would argue an 
obligation—to recognize the Confederacy as a 
de ju re nation.45

There was an added complication that 
only Dana appeared to grasp. Under prize-law 
doctrine, the vessel and cargo seized pursuant

to a lawful blockade must be “enemy’s prop­
erty,” and the owners of the captured prize 
must reside in “enemy’s territory.”  Both terms 

were fraught with potential extrajudicial con­
sequences. The first would appear to condemn 
the property of United States citizens without 
proof of their disloyalty—or even, as the own­
ers of the A m y W arw ick insisted, in the face 
of loyalty to the Union. The second implicitly  
recognized the status of the Confederacy, for 

it was difficult to see how the United States 
could argue that the ship’s owners were resi­
dents of “enemy’s territory”  without acknowl­
edging that it was passage of secessionist or­
dinances that had created the territory.46

The government’s dilemma was not lost 
on the attorneys for the ship owners. Nearly 
a century and a half later, it is still possible 
to feel the force of Carlisle’s argument when, 
on February 10, 1863, he appeared before 
the Supreme Court on behalf of the Mexican 
owners of the captured schooner B rillian te .^ 

Carlisle argued, as did counsel for the cap­
tured vessels H iaw a tha and C renshaw , that 
there had been no intent to violate the block­
ade. But that was a question of fact, and as 
Carlisle well knew, subsumed by the largest 
question of all:

To justify this condemnation, there 
must have been w ar at the time of this 
so-called capture; not war as the old 
essayists describe it, beginning with 
the war between Cain and Abel; not a 
fight between two, or between thou­
sands ... but war as known to interna­
tional law—war carrying with it the 
mutual recognition of the opponents 
as belligeren ts ', giving rise to the right 
of blockade of the enem y’s ports, and 
affecting all other nations with the 
character of neutrals.... War, in this, 

the only sense important to this ques­
tion, is matter of law, and not merely 
matter of fact.48

Carlisle made effective use of Lincoln and 
Seward’s evasion of the war issue. The seizure
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of the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB rillian te , Carlisle asserted, took place 
“when the President, casting about among 

doubtful expedients,’ ’ used the Navy under 
the Act of 1807 to suppress insurrection. Lin­
coln and Seward, Carlisle emphasized, denied 
to all the world that a war, with its atten­
dant rights and obligations, existed between 
the United States and the Confederacy. There­
fore, Carlisle maintained, blockade and prize 
jurisdiction could not have existed.49

The “most extraordinary part of the argu­

ment for the United States,”  claimed Carlisle, 
is that “ [t]he principle of self-defense is as­
serted; and all power is claimed for the Pres­
ident. This is to assert that the Constitution 
contemplated and tacitly provided that the 
President should be dictator ... It comes to 
the plea of necessity. The Constitution knows 
no such word.” 50 The impact of Carlisle’s ar­
gument is testified to by those to whom it 

was directed. Immediately after the hearing, 
Justice Catron wrote a congratulatory note to 
Carlisle expressing his hope that the argument

would be reprinted in the Court’s reports. Jus­
tice Catron added that Justice Nelson and Clif ­
ford joined in the request.51

Eames opened for the government.52 The 
record of his argument has not been preserved, 
but the Court’s reaction to it is well docu­
mented. Justice Swayne, whom the govern­
ment counted as a certain vote for its posi­
tion, told Attorney General Bates that Eames 
had made “no argument at all.” Swayne com­
plained that Eames had made a “speech” that 
had turned the hearing “ into a farce.” 53 The 

thrust of Eames’s argument may be glimpsed in 
the remarks of Carlisle, who addressed himself 
to “counsel for the United States ... [who] tes­
tifies, in well-considered rhetoric, his amaze­
ment that a judicial tribunal should be called 
upon to determine whether the political power 
was authorized to do what it has done.” 54

When a court has scheduled twelve days 
for oral argument, counsel does not open 
from a position of strength by questioning 
the Court’s decision to take the case. Justice 

Swayne provided further evidence of Eames’s 
woeful performance by passing along to Bates 
a remark of the Chief Justice. Eames had un­
successfully represented Union General Fitz- 
John Porter, court-martialed for misconduct at 
the Second Battle of Bull Run. After hearing 
Eames argue, Taney had said of the General: 
“ [H]e deserved to be convicted for trusting his 
case to such counsel.” 55

When Dana rose to argue the P rize C ases, 
“ the supreme crisis, in jurisprudence as well 
as in war”  was at hand.56 Here in the midst of 

his country’s most terrible storm was a peril 
equal to that Dana confronted when his ship 

nearly foundered in a fearsome gale off Cape 
Horn. Dana had the characteristic qualities of 
an accomplished appellate lawyer: quickness 

of mind, command of the law, and verbal dex­
terity. But that could be said of each of the em­

inent attorneys in the case except the unfortu­
nate Eames. Dana, however, possessed an ex­

traordinary trait, first exhibited when he went 
to sea and well described by his biographer 
and former law associate:
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[H]e displayed in a high degree that 

great quality of physical and men­
tal nerve ... which has always been 
a noticeable characteristic of great 
commanders. Never flustered even 

when taken unawares, Dana invari­
ably rose to an equality with the oc­
casion. As new difficulties presented 
themselves and danger increased he 
seemed to grow cooler and more 
formidable; what excited others only 
toned him up to the proper key, and 
thus it was in the moment of greatest 
peril that he appeared in most control 
of all his faculties.57

There can be no doubt of the profound 

impact Dana’s legal reasoning had upon the 
Court’s decision in the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP rize C ases. That may 
be readily seen by comparing Dana’s brief and 
the Reporter’s notes of his argument with the 
Court’s majority opinion.58 Dana’s method of

preparing for argument was unorthodox. He 
looked to precedent last. Always a master of 

the facts, Dana first sought to identify funda­

mental principles and work out the reasoning 
that would apply those principles to the is­
sue at hand. Only then would Dana examine 

precedent in light of the legal theory he had 
evolved.59

There is no greater evidence of the effec­
tiveness of this method than Dana’s argument 
in the P rize C ases. He first brilliantly framed 
the issue:

The case of the A m y W arw ick 
presents a single question which may 
be stated thus: At the time of the cap­

ture, was it competent for the Pres­
ident to treat as prize of war prop­
erty found on the high seas, for the 
sole reason that it belonged to per­
sons residing and doing business in 
Richmond, Virginia?60

Upon this question, Dana proceeded to 
construct a logic that could compel only one 
answer.

Dana began with the law of prize applica­
ble to cases of war with a recognized foreign 
power: property on the high seas owned and 
controlled by persons who themselves reside 
in “enemy’s territory” is liable to capture as 

prize of war. His comprehensive knowledge of 
the law of prize and even greater capacity to 
educate the Court provided a path through the 
political minefield of the terms “enemy’s prop­
erty” and “enemy’s territory.” Each phrase, 

Dana emphasized, was a technical term pe­
culiar to prize courts. The owners of the A m y 
W arw ick asserted that they were American citi­
zens residing within an insurrectionary district 
but neither implicated in the rebellion nor dis­

loyal to the United States. They contended that 
seizure of their property was an unlawful con­
fiscation and unjust penalty. But Dana artfully 
contrasted forfeitures and confiscation, which 
depended upon a nation’s “ internal codes”— 
applicable if  Lincoln had “closed”  the ports—
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with the law of prize derived from the rights 
and powers of war.61

The right of the sovereign power to cap­
ture property on the high seas did not depend 

on any actual or presumed disloyalty of the 
property’s owners. To the contrary, asserted 
Dana, prize law made immaterial whether an 
owner was loyal, neutral, or disloyal. Nor was 
it material whether the seized cargo would di­
rectly benefit the enemy or whether the com­
merce was with neutral nations.62 The test, 

Dana maintained, was the “predicament” of 
the property. If  found on the high seas and 
owned by persons residing in “enemy’s terri­

tory,”  the property was subject to capture YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAju re 
belli, a prize of war. Characteristically, Dana 
emphasized the reason for the right: “The rea­
son why you may capture it is that it is a justi­

fiable mode of coercing the power with which 
you are at war. The fact which makes it a justi­
fiable mode of coercing that power, is that the 
owner is residing under his jurisdiction and 
control.” 63

The rule was clear enough when the war 
was between established sovereign powers, but 
why was it applicable to an “ internal war”  
where the sovereign claiming the right of 
blockade denied the war was against another 
government? Here again Dana argued from 

first principles. In internal wars, the sovereign 
can exercise belligerent powers. The object of 
the sovereign is to coerce the power that is 
organized against it and making war upon it. 
Insurrectionists can compel inhabitants of the 
territory controlled by the insurgency. There­
fore, Dana maintained, the parent state has the 
same interest and right to capture property on 
the high seas for the purpose of coercing the 
rebel power as it would if  the insurrectionists 
were a de ju re rather than de fac to state.64

Dana brought an equal clarity of argument 
to the issue of “enemy’s territory.”  The test, he 
argued, was whether the residence of the prop­
erty’s owner is within the de fac to jurisdiction 
and control of the enemy. Again, Dana cou­
pled reason to rule and rule to example. The 
reason for the rule, Dana explained, was be­

cause captured property “must be condemned 
or restored to the claimant.” If  the A m y W ar­

w ick had been permitted to go to Richmond, 
Dana argued, duties would have been paid to 

the rebel government. Vessel and cargo could 
have been taken by the insurrectionists for mil­
itary purposes with or without compensation. 
Indeed, Dana observed, if  the owners of the 
A m y W arw ick were as loyal to the Union as 
they claimed, it increased the likelihood that 
the Confederacy would confiscate the vessel.65

It was unnecessary, Dana asserted, to 
“draw a fine line” as to what constituted “en­

emy’s territory.”  The occupation of Richmond 
by rebel forces was more than sufficient for the 

purposes of deciding the P rize C ases. Thus, 
Dana neatly avoided drawing the Court into the 
political thicket of whether articles of seces­
sion established a territorial sovereignty that 
might provide a basis for recognition of the 
Confederate states as a de ju re power.66

Dana’s careful explication of the law of 
prize resurrected a government case that had 
almost been sunk by Eames’s argument. There 

remained, in Dana’s words, “another branch 
of the question” : whether the President could 
exercise the war power without a preceding 
act of Congress declaring war. In light of the 
relevance of the P rize C ases to current de­
bate about presidential authority in undeclared 
wars, it is of interest to note how Dana framed 
the issue.67

Dana conceded that the right to initiate 
a war as a voluntary act of sovereignty was 
vested solely in Congress. Dana asserted that 
“ [t]he question is not what would be the result 
of a conflict between the Executive and Leg­

islature, during an actual invasion by foreign 
enemy, the Legislature refusing to declare war 
... it is as to the power of the President be­
fore Congress shall have acted, in case of war 
actually existing.” 68

Dana argued that actions of Congress 
subsequent to Lincoln’s April 1861 blockade 
proclamation had ratified the President’s de­
cision. The essence of his argument, however, 
was “ the overwhelming reasons of necessity”
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derided by Carlisle in his opening argument for 
the ship owners. “War is YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAa sta te o f th ings, and 
not an act of legislative will, ” Dana asserted. 

The President’s authority to use the Army and 
Navy “within the rules of civilized warfare and 

subject to established laws of Congress, must 
be subject to his discretion as a necessary in­
cident to the use, in the absence of any act of 
Congress controlling him.” 69

The influence of Dana’s carefully con­
structed logic on the Court’s opinion is clear. 
What cannot be precisely recaptured is the bril­
liance of Dana’s oral presentation. Oral argu­
ment was not only longer in the nineteenth 
century than today, it was also of far greater 
significance to the outcome of the case. Dana’s 
argument before the Supreme Court “with all 

its power of illustration, force of logic, clear 
statement, philosophy and eloquence, except 

as a tradition, has died with the death of those 
who heard it.” 70 We do, however, have a re­
markable account of Dana’s performance:

There are but few now living who 
heard that argument... but those who 
are left can easily recall the glow of 
admiration and delight with which 
they listened to that luminous and 
exquisite presentation which armed 
the Executive with power to use the 
methods and processes of war to sup­
press the great rebellion ... [Tjhe ... 

right of capture of private property at 
sea was for the first time in the hear­
ing of most of the judges ... applied 
to the pending situation with a power 

of reasoning and a wealth of illustra­
tion and a grace and felicity of style 
that swept all before them.71

Oral argument concluded in the P rize 
C ases on February 25, 1863. Justice Swayne’s 
confidential visit to Attorney General Bates 
occurred the very next day. The Attorney Gen­
eral confided to his diary: “Mr. Eames who 

was entrusted by me, with the chief manage­
ment of the P rize C ases ... seems ... in the 
conduct of the cases, [to have] made himself

very obnoxious to the Court... I am afraid that 
the feeling may endanger the P rize C ases.” 12

Bates now had some inkling of his 
grievous error in selecting Eames, but he had 
yet to realize the significance of the fortuitous 
appearance of a sailor turned lawyer. The At­

torney General was apparently not privy to 
the “ impulsive compliments”  Dana’s argument 
had prompted from the Justice who was to 

write the majority opinion in the P rize C ases. 
In the words of one who was present:

After Mr. Dana had closed his argu­
ment, I happened to encounter Judge 
Grier who had retired for a moment to 
the corridor in the rear of the bench 
... and, in a burst of unjudicial en­
thusiasm he said to me, “Well, your 
little ‘Two Years Before the Mast’ has 
settled that question; there is nothing 
more to say about it! ” 73

There remained the not inconsequential 
step of transforming Dana’s argument into the 
majority opinion of the United States Supreme 
Court.

On March 10, 1863, the Court was 
crowded in anticipation of a decision. The N ew 
Y ork W orld reported that lawyers and specta­
tors were attracted from throughout the land. 
It was widely recognized that the nation was at 
a crossroads awaiting a momentous ruling.74

Justice Grier delivered the opinion of the 
Court. His very first sentence revealed the pro­

found effect Dana’s reasoning had upon the 
majority. Justice Grier began by observing that 
“ [t]here are certain propositions of law which 
must necessarily affect the ultimate decision of 
these cases, and many others, which it will  be 

proper to discuss and decide before we notice 
the special facts peculiar to each.” 75

Joined by the three Lincoln appointees— 
Justices Swayne, Miller, and Davis—and by 

Justice Wayne, Grier’s decision adopted every 
significant argument Dana had advanced in 

support of the blockade. The “ right of prize 
and capture has its origin jus belli and is gov­
erned and adjudged under the law of nations” ;
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“ it is not necessary to constitute war that both 

parties should be acknowledged as indepen­
dent nations” ; “ [t]he President was bound to 
meet [war] in the shape it presented itself, 
without waiting for Congress to baptize it with 

a name” ; enemies’ territory “has a boundary 
marked by lines of bayonets” ; “whether prop­
erty be liable as enemies’ property does not in 
any manner depend on the personal allegiance 
of the owner.” 76

Dana may not “have swept all,” but his 
argument was unquestionably the key to the 
government’s victory. Justice Catron, Justice 
Clifford, and Chief Justice Taney joined the 
dissent authored by Justice Nelson. Nelson’s 
language provides a stark reminder of what 

was at stake in the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP rize C ases'.

So the war carried on by the Presi­
dent against the insurrectionary dis­
tricts in the Southern states, as in the 
case of the King of Great Britain in 
the American Revolution, was a per­
sonal war against those in rebellion 
... with this difference, as the war­
making power belonged to the King, 

he might have recognized or declared 
the war at the beginning to be a civil  
war... but in the case of the President 
no such power existed ...

I am compelled to the conclusion 
that no civil  war existed between this 
government and the states in insur­
rection til recognized by the Act of 
Congress, 13th of July 1861; that the 

President does not possess the power 
of the Constitution to declare war or 
recognize its existence ... and, con­
sequently that the President had no 
power to set on foot a blockade un­
der the law of nations ... and in all 
cases before us in which the capture 
occurred before the 13th of July 1861 

for breach of blockade or as enemies’ 
property are illegal and void.77

The single-vote majority in the P rize 
C ases preserved Lincoln’s capacity to carry

on the war. We cannot know if, in the words 
of one historian, “a defeat at the hands of the 

Court at this time would have shattered the 
morale of the union.” 78 But Supreme Court 
historian Charles Warren was certainly cor­

rect in describing the P rize C ases as “ far more 
momentous” than any other case arising out 
of the war.79 And Dana expressed the view of 

the Lincoln administration when he wrote that 
the consequences of an adverse decision were 
“ fearful to contemplate.”80 By securing a ma­
jority in the P rize C ases, Dana may well have 

deterred constitutional challenges to other ac­
tions essential to the Union’s success, includ­
ing the Legal Tender Act of 1862, the Emanci­
pation Proclamation, and the Conscription Act 
of 1863,81

The significance of the P rize C ases de­

cision was amply illustrated by attempts, in 
modern parlance, to “spin” the result. Those 
sympathizing with the South, including many 
in the North and in Europe, seized upon the 
phrase “enemy’s territory” to argue that the 
Supreme Court had acknowledged the right 
of secession and the independence of the 
Confederate States.82 To counter misleading 

use of the Court’s decision, Dana published 
a pamphlet entitled “Enemy’s Territory and 
Alien Enemies—What the Supreme Court De­
cided in the Prize Causes.” 83 The pamphlet 

was widely circulated, and Dana’s clarity im­
pressed another fair stylist: Abraham Lincoln.

Dana visited Lincoln at the White House 
in May 1864. Superficially, there could 
scarcely be a greater contrast between two 
men. By the time of Lincoln’s birth in a Ken­
tucky log cabin, three generations of Danas 
had graduated from Harvard. Yet for all their 

dissimilarities, each had, to borrow Churchill’s 
phrase, “ the root of the matter” in him. Dana 

had written of Lincoln that “ [h]is life seems 
a series of wise, sound conclusions, slowly 
reached, oddly worked out, on great ques­
tions.” 84 That is an equally apt description of 
Dana’s argument in the P rize C ases.

Dana wrote to his wife of his visit with 
the President: “When I return, I will  tell you



R IC H A R D  H E N R Y  D A N A ONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 2 3zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

of a high compliment he paid me, in a sincere, 
awkward manner.”  Lincoln had told Dana that 

he had read his YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP rize C ases pamphlet and that 
“  it reasoned out... what he had all along felt 
in his bones must be the truth of the matter and 
was not able to find anywhere in the books, or 
to reason out satisfactorily to himself.” 85

It was indeed the highest of compliments. 
In the P rize C ases, Dana had confronted the 
critical challenge to a constitutional democ­

racy in the time of war: “ to keep the discrep­
ancy between what had to be done and what 
could be done constitutionally, as narrow as 
possible.” 86 The sailor-lawyer’s extraordinary 

argument enabled the great work of the prairie 
lawyer to continue, because each felt in their 
bones that the Constitution mattered.
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In May 2009, a de cis io n o f the United States Supreme Court with North Dakota roots 
turned fifty  years old. A case unique in the annals of the law, YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD ick v. N ew Y ork L ife Insu rance 
C om pany  ̂still fascinates lawyers today. Factually, the case presented a strange question: could 

an experienced hunter accidentally shoot himself not once, but twice? Some of North Dakota’s 
finest lawyers, including Philip Vogel, Donald Holand, and Norman Tenneson, aimed to get 
to the bottom of that matter. The judges were equally impressive: Judge Ronald Davies of the 
federal district court; Judge John Sanborn of the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit; 
and Chief Justice Earl Warren and Justice Felix Frankfurter. Finally, as a matter of Supreme 
Court jurisprudence, D ick may have been the last time the High Court granted a petition for 
certiorari in a case that turned almost exclusively on questions of fact. In honor of its golden 

anniversary, this article recounts the captivating story of D ick v. N ew Y ork L ife .

T h e  F a c ts

William Dick, a healthy, good-natured, 47- 
year-old farmer from rural Ransom County, 

began the morning of January 20, 1955, like 
any other. Dick sat down for an otherwise or­

dinary breakfast with his 14-year-old daughter 
and his beloved wife, Blanche. The night be­
fore, the family had eaten ice cream together as 
they watched television, and Dick had helped 
his daughter with her science homework. At 
breakfast, Dick and Blanche discussed his plan 
to make sausage with his cousin later that day. 
After breakfast, Dick put on his winter work

clothes—including bulky gloves and a heavy 
jacket—and Blanche drove their daughter to 
school. Before leaving, Dick said goodbye in 

the normal way, and he started to feed silage 

to his cattle and milk to his pigs.
About thirty minutes later, Blanche re­

turned to the farm and went inside the main 
house to complete her housework. When 
Blanche thought it was time to go to Dick’s 
cousin’s house, she went to the barn to look 
for her husband. After a short search, Blanche 
found Dick lying on his back in a pool of blood 
in the silage shed. Dick’s double-barreled
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s ho tgu n, which he ke p t lo ade d in the s he d 

be cau s e o f anim al attacks o n his live s to ck, 
was o n the flo o r ne arby , as was a s cre wdrive r 
that Dick used to open the silage shed’s bro­
ken door. Dick had been hit by pellets from 
two shotgun shells: one discharge entered his 
chest and was not immediately fatal; the other 
entered his head, killing  him instantly. A coro­
ner’s jury later determined the death to be a 
suicide.

At the time of his death, Dick carried a 

life insurance policy with the New York Life 
Insurance Company with benefits of $7,500

on his death but $15,000—that is, double 
indemnity—for an accidental death. Blanche, 
the policy’s beneficiary, filed a claim. New 
York Life, while admitting liability  for the pol­
icy’s face value of $7,500, denied Blanche’s 
claim for the double indemnity, contending 
that Dick’s death was a suicide.

T h e  L a w y e rs , a  T h e o ry , a n d  a  L a w s u it

Dick’s family, unsatisfied with the finding that 

Dick had killed himself, eventually retained 
lawyer and state senator Donald Holand on

D o n a ld H o la n d ( le f t )HGFEDCBA 

w a s a s ta te s e n a to r 

a n d  a  le a d in g  la w y e r in  

L is b o n , N o r th D a k o ta , 

w h e n th e D ic k fa m ­

i ly h ire d h im  a s th e ir  

c o u n s e l.
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P h ilip B . V o g e l ( le f t )HGFEDCBA 

s e rv e d a s le a d  c o u n s e l 

in th e Dick c a s e  

a n d w o rk e d w ith th e  

a u th o r in th e ir la w  

f irm fo r tw e n ty -o n e  

y e a rs . V o g e l, w h o m  th e  

a u th o r h a s d e s c r ib e d  

a s  a  t ru e  “ R e n a is s a n c e  

m a n ,” s e rv e d a s h is  

m e n to r d u r in g th e ir  

e a r ly  y e a rs .zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

the advice o f Dick’s brother, state represen­
tative Lawrence Dick. Holand was my good 
friend; both our families had immigrated from 
Europe and first settled near the turn of the 
twentieth century in the small city of McKin­

ley, on Minnesota’s Iron Range. Holand at­
tended the University of North Dakota and 
started out at the law school, but service in 
the India Theater during World War II inter­

rupted his studies. After the war, he served on

the staff of Senator Milton Young and com­

pleted his law degree at George Washington 
University in Washington, D.C. He returned to 
Lisbon, North Dakota shortly thereafter, began 

a successful legal practice, and got elected to 
the North Dakota legislature. Holand was the 
leading lawyer in Lisbon at that time.

Holand initially thought that the Dick 
case “sounded pretty hopeless,”  but he revised 
his view when he began to reconstruct the



2 8RQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAJ O U R N A L  O F  S U P R E M E  C O U R T  H IS T O R Y zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

incide nt. Ho land vis ite d the Dick farmstead, 
where he learned that the shotgun had a hair 
trigger and frequently misfired. After numer­
ous attempts to recreate the events of the day 
with a broom, Holand had an epiphany, which 

he explained as follows:

[I]t  hit me that [Dick] might have 
been carrying the gun by the barrel; 
that being in a hurry or for some rea­
son he slammed the gun against the 
casing of the door entering the silo 
shed, and that it discharged causing a 
grazing wound to his left chest wall 
and spraying pellets into the upper 

far comer of the silo shed. I surmised 
that [Dick] had sited something in 

the holding pen, hurried to the barn, 
grabbed the gun by the door, rushed 
to the silo shed door, and in his haste 
had hit the gun against the door cas­
ing, causing it to fire the first shot.
The rest was easy. His forward mo­
tion and the impact had spun him 
around. Still hanging on to the gun he 
landed on the floor on his back with 

the gun pointed to his head. Upon 
hitting the floor, the gun discharged a 
second time, hitting him in the head 
and spraying pellets next to the west 
door.

On the basis of this theory, Holand had the 
coroner’s jury’s verdict voided. Then Blanche 
sued New York Life in state district court, 
alleging that the death was accidental and 
seeking the double indemnity. Norman Ten- 
neson represented New York Life. Tenneson 
had graduated from Yale Law School and was 
considered an excellent lawyer in every legal 
area, including trial and appellate.

When Tenneson removed the case to fed­
eral district court, Holand, who had never tried 
a federal case, decided to associate with a long­
time friend: Philip Vogel. Vogel, born in 1909, 
graduated from the UND School of Law. Vogel 
had been my mentor when I joined the Vogel 
firm as an associate in 1947 and remains one

of the finest lawyers that I have ever known. 

When Holand explained the bizarre facts to 
Vogel, Vogel was convinced in the rightness 
of the Dick cause and agreed to join the case, 
despite the small amount of money at stake. 
Holand wrote that “ [t]here really would be 
no big reward if  we won, but money was not 
the motive. We were both certain that William 
Dick had not committed suicide and we wanted 
to erase that stigma for the family.”

T h e  P ro c e e d in g s

The case was tried to a jury in Fargo in 1957, 
with Judge Ronald Davies presiding. About 
the same time as the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD ick proceedings, Judge 
Davies gained international recognition for or­
dering the integration of all-white Little Rock 
Central High School, which led to President 
Eisenhower’s deployment of the 101st Air ­
borne Division to escort the so-called “Little 
Rock Nine.” The D ick trial, which featured 
Holand on the floor with the empty shotgun 
demonstrating his theory to the jury, resulted 
in a swift verdict. The jury found that Dick’s 
death was an accident, not suicide, and found 

New York Life to be liable on the double­
indemnity provision.

Tenneson appealed on behalf of New York 

Life to the Eighth Circuit, arguing that the 
record contained insufficient evidence to sus­
tain a jury verdict. The case was assigned to 
a distinguished panel of jurists. Judge John 
Sanborn, a very experienced judge, had three 
years tenure as a State of Minnesota judge, 
then seven years as a federal district judge, 
and thereafter twenty-six years as a federal 
circuit judge. He was about seventy-five years 
old. The second judge was Judge Joseph 

Woodrough, then eighty-four years of age. 
Judge Harvey Johnsen, a youngster then aged 
sixty-four, was the third judge of the panel.

Much to the dismay and surprise of 
Holand and Vogel, the panel unanimously re­
versed. The judges believed they could justifi­
ably set aside the jury verdict:
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One can be lie ve that e ve n an ex­
perienced hunter might accidentally 
shoot himself once, but the asserted 
theory that he could accidentally 

shoot himself first with one barrel 
and then with the other stretches 
credulity beyond the breaking point.2

The court’s critical assumption was that 
Dick’s shotgun could not have misfired; the 
panel believed that the record “definitively 
established” that “neither barrel could have 

been fired unless someone or something ei­
ther pulled or pushed one of the triggers.” 3 
The court mentioned North Dakota law only 
in passing:

The Supreme Court of North Dakota 
has held that proof of death by gun­
shot wound plus the presumption of 
accidental death makes a prima fa­
cie case that death was accidental, 
and “ that a verdict founded upon 
such proof and presumption would 

not be set aside unless the facts and 
circumstances surrounding the death 
could not be reconciled with any rea­

sonable theory of accidental or non- 
intentional injury.” 4

Finally, the court concluded that

the infliction of two wounds in suc­
cession, one in the left side in close 
proximity to the heart, and the other

N o rm a n  T e n n e s o n  (p ic ­

tu re d ) , c o u n s e l fo r N e w HGFEDCBA 

Y o rk L ife , s u c c e s s fu lly  

a p p e a le d  th e  Dick c a s e  

to th e E ig h th C irc u it . 

T h e th re e la w y e rs in ­

v o lv e d  in  th e  c a s e  w e re  

g o o d  f r ie n d s  w ith  e a c h  

o th e r a n d w ith th e  

a u th o r .
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in the he ad, canno t be re co ncile d 
with any re as o nable the o ry o f acci­
de nt, and that, u nde r the e vide nce , 
the qu e s tio n whe the r the de ath was 

accide ntal was no t a qu e s tio n o f fact 
fo r the ju ry .5

After reading the decision, Holand called
Vogel to discuss what, if  anything, would come 
next. Vogel thought that the Eighth Circuit 
opinion had paid lip service to North Dakota 
law but utterly failed to apply it. He was de­
termined to right the wrong, despite the fact 
that the amount at issue might not have justi­
fied further litigation. Both attorneys wanted 

to proceed thinking that if  a relatively small 
case had come this far, it would be worth pur­
suing it a little further.

But desire often wrecks on reality’s 
shoals, and the prospect that the U.S. Supreme 
Court would grant certiorari was dim indeed. 
So here they were, two North Dakota lawyers 
faced with the almost impossible task of trying 
to get justice from the U.S. Supreme Court on 
a simple insurance case that turned primarily 
on an interpretation of facts, with apparently 
no great constitutional issue in the case.

Vogel got to work drafting and produced 
a persuasive and excellent petition for the writ 

of certiorari. In less than eight pages of facts 
and argument, he conveyed the following:6

1. That the case presented an important 

constitutional question: the right to a trial 
by jury as guaranteed by the Seventh 
Amendment.

2. A compelling (but accurate) statement of 
the facts and how those facts justified the 
writ.

3. A strong, concise legal argument, which 
concluded:

We recognize that writs are sparingly 

granted but the failure to follow the 
North Dakota law and the denial to 
Mrs. Dick of her right to trial by jury, 
is of sufficient importance, not only

to the petitioner, but to other citizens 
of North Dakota, that we submit the 

writ should be allowed.

Wherefore, it is respectfully sub­
mitted that petitioner’s prayer for a 
writ of certiorari to review the judg­
ment of the Eighth Circuit Court of 
Appeal should be granted.7

It worked. On June 23, 1958, to the de­
light of Vogel and Holand the Supreme Court 
granted the writ.

In January 1959, Vogel, Holand and Ten- 
neson traveled to Washington, D.C. to present 
their oral arguments. Vogel believed that he 
would win. In fact, Vogel was a great believer 

in himself. As I have said in the past about 

this lawyer, “ If  he believes he’s right, by gosh, 
he’ ll leave no stone unturned to get the relief 
his clients are entitled ... On the other side, 
he’s fair and objective in attempting to resolve 
issues fairly for everybody before they go to 
litigation.” 8

When Vogel returned we talked about the 
Supreme Court argument. Vogel mentioned 
that the Court seemed agreeable to the argu­
ments that he had made, and he was fairly con­

fident that he would succeed in the appeal. He 
also mentioned that he had been asked about 
the shotgun, which Dick claimed had a de­
fect, and he brought that exhibit to the Jus­

tices. Later on, the marshals told him that he 
had made a mistake: the lawyers do not ap­
proach the Bench in the Supreme Court but 
give an exhibit to the marshals. Despite the 
breach of formal protocol, the Justices seemed 
unbothered.

Vogel also conveyed to me an incident 
that happened after the arguments had con­
cluded. He and Holand were descending the 
steps in front of the Supreme Court when a 

couple of young priests approached them and 
asked if  they might ask a question. Holand 
said, “Sure.” One of the priests asked, incred­
ulously, how the Dick case had reached the 
highest court in the land with only $7,500
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invo lve d. The priest pointed out that in his part 
of the country, it would cost much more than 

that amount just for legal representation. Vogel 
responded that lawyers do things differently in 
North Dakota. He also said that the case was a 

matter of principle: to prove that Dick’s death 
was not suicide. He told the priest that, even 
if  he received a favorable decision, Mrs. Dick 
would still be receiving the proceeds. As they 
left, one of the young priests said, “God bless 
you. We will  say a prayer for you this evening.”

The prayers must have helped. On May 
18, 1959, the Supreme Court handed down its 
decision. It reversed the Eighth Circuit and 
reinstated the jury verdict and judgment in the 
district court.

A  D e c is io n  a n d  a  D is s e n t

Chief Justice Earl Warren drafted the major­
ity opinion. After a careful description of the 
record evidence, he wrote the following:

In our view, the Court of Appeals im­
properly reversed the judgment of the 

District Court. It committed its basic 
error in resolving a factual dispute 
in favor of respondent that the shot­
gun would not fire unless someone 

or something pulled the triggers. Pe­
titioner’s evidence on this score ... 
could support a jury conclusion that 
the gun might have fired accidently 
from other causes. Once an acciden­
tal discharge is possible, a jury could 
rationally conceive of a number of ex­
planations of accidental death which 
were consistent with evidence which 
the jury might well have believed 
showed the overwhelming improba­
bility  of suicide.9

At the conclusion of the Warren opin­
ion, the Chief Justice added:

W illia m  D ic k 's  w ife , B la n c h e , fo u n d  h im  ly in g  o n  h is  b a c k  in  a  p o o l o f b lo o d  in  th e  s ila g e  s h e d  o n  th e ir  fa rm HGFEDCBA 

in  N o r th  D a k o ta , s im ila r to  th e  o n e  a b o v e . D ic k ’s  d o u b le -b a r re le d s h o tg u n , w h ic h  h e  k e p t lo a d e d  in  th e  s h e d  

b e c a u s e  o f a n im a l a tta c k s  o n  h is  l iv e s to c k , w a s  o n  th e  f lo o r n e a rb y . H is  d e a th  f ro m  th e  p e lle t w o u n d  to  h is  

h e a d  w a s  h a s t ily  ru le d  a  s u ic id e .
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Under all the circumstances, we be­
lieve that he was correct and that rea­
sonable men could conclude that the 
respondent failed to satisfy its burden 
of showing that death resulted from 
suicide.10

Thus, a jury could reasonably believe that 
Dick accidentally shot himself twice.

Incidentally, the Court also noted that 
“ [ljurking in this case is the question whether 
it is proper to apply a state or federal test of 
sufficiency of the evidence to support a jury 
verdict where federal jurisdiction is rested on 
diversity of citizenship.” 11 The Court noted 
that on this question, the lower courts are not 
in agreement.12 However, the Court said that 
since this issue had not been briefed and all 
parties assumed that the North Dakota stan­
dard applied, it would apply the North Dakota 
standard in its decision.

For the dissent, this was exactly the type of 
case that the Supreme Court should not review. 
Justice Frankfurter, joined by Justice Charles 
Whittaker, railed against the grant of certiorari. 
Frankfurter stated that certiorari had been im­
properly granted and argued that the Supreme 
Court exists to decide important matters and 
not mere factual matters:

If this case raises a question un­
der the Seventh Amendment, so does 
every granted motion for dismissal 
of a complaint calling for trial by 
jury, every direction of verdict, every 
judgment notwithstanding the ver­

dict. Fabulous inflation cannot turn 
these conventional motions turning 
on appreciation of evidence into con­
stitutional issues, nor can the many 
diversity cases sought to be brought 
here on contested questions of ev­
identiary weight be similarly trans­

formed by insisting before this Court 
that the Constitution has been vio­
lated. This verbal smoke screen can­
not obscure the truth that all that is 
involved is an appraisal of the fair

inferences to be drawn from the evi­
dence.

On the merits, Justice Frankfurter added:

It is the staple business of the Courts 
of Appeals to examine records for 
the sufficiency of evidence. To un­
dertake an independent review of the 
review by the Court of Appeals of 
evidence is neither our function nor 
within our special aptitude through 

constant practice. Such disregard of 
sound judicial administration is em­
phasized by the fact that the judges of 
the Court of Appeals are, by the very 
nature of the business with which 
they deal, far more experienced than 
we in dealing with evidence, ascer­
taining the facts, and determining the 
sufficiency of evidence to go to a 
jury.13

The dissent concluded, “ If  we are to con­
sider the merits of the case, I would affirm the 

judgment of the Court of Appeals.” 14
Justice Frankfurter’s unusually lengthy 

lament was the manifestation of long conflict 
with Chief Justice Warren about the proper 
role of the Supreme Court. In his biography 
of Chief Justice Warren, Bernard Schwartz 
noted the disagreement between Frankfurter 
and Warren in taking cases in which only the 
facts were in dispute, particularly in Federal 
Employers Liability Act cases. As noted by 
Schwartz, the Dick case brought the matter to 
a head:

Frankfurter did, however, publicly 
dispute Warren on whether the Court 

should take ... minor cases in a 1959 
case in which the Court reinstated a 
$7,500 jury verdict for a widow on an 
insurance policy. According to An­
thony Lewis in the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAN ew Y ork T im es, 

the opinion of the Court by Chief Jus­
tice Warren “ reviewed in human, al­

most folksy terms, the issues in the 
case.” Frankfurter, Lewis went on, 
then “ read his colleagues a lecture on
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the ne e d to co ns e rve the Co u rt’s time 
and energy by avoiding trivial cases.”  
Frankfurter declared (in a passage not 
contained in his printed dissenting 
opinion), “This is a case that should 
never have been here. It will  set no 

precedents. It will  guide no lawyers.
It will  guide no courts.” 15

Dick's L e g a c y

Vogel disputed Frankfurter’s characterization 
of the case as “ trivial.” It certainly wasn’t for 
Mrs. Dick. Moreover, Vogel told me, “Frank­
furter said this case is of importance to no­
body else but the parties. In fact, it ’s one of the 

most widely cited cases from that term in the 
Supreme Court.”

Well, courts across the land have cited 
the case about 150 times, including 21 cita­
tions in the U.S. Supreme Court. To be sure,

most of those citations relate to the standard 
of proof, either under federal or state law, that 
applies to a judgment entered in federal court 
in a diversity case. Of course, the Supreme 
Court never decided that issue. But the en­
during legal importance of YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD ick is probably 

its acknowledgement of the central role of the 
jury in our judicial system. Cases relating to 
facts may or may not get to the highest court 

in the land. And when they do, the High Court 
will still support the validity of a jury ver­
dict where sufficient evidence will  support that 
verdict. D ick also caused a reappraisal of the 
Supreme Court’s certiorari process. Whether 
the High Court should review more cases is a 
contentious issue that continues to divide the 
legal community today.

Cases are not only about legal principles. 
D ick 's legacy has a human component too. For 

the family, the case provided justice and fi ­
nality. A wrong was righted. For the lawyers, 
the case showed the importance of zealous ad­
vocacy, legal acumen, and perseverance. The 
lawyers are now dead, but their conduct in this 
case represents the quality of representation 
that the lawyers in North Dakota should aspire 
to for their own clients. For the judges, the case 
reflected how different minds analyze similar 
issues and how a diversity of opinion in the ju­
diciary improves the administration of justice. 
It also calls for our admiration and respect 

for a great Chief Justice, Earl Warren, who 
believed that the role of the Supreme Court 
included taking cases when justice requires. It 
has been said that Chief Justice Warren had 
a soft spot in his heart for widows, orphans, 
and railroad workers (his father worked for a 
railroad). Whether for its legal effect or its hu­
man effect, D ick v. N ew Y ork L ife deserves our 
warm praise.

E N D N O T E S
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of Fargo, North Dakota for a copy of the Supreme Court 

record of the case.
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T h e  D e v e lo p m e n t o f  th e  S u p re m e HGFEDCBA 

C o u r t P ra c t ic e  o f C a llin g  fo r  th e  

V ie w s  o f  th e  S o lic ito r  G e n e ra lONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

S T E F A N I E  A .  L E P O R E

I .  In tro d u c t io n zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

“Whe n the Su p re m e Co u rt invite s y o u , that’s the equivalent of a royal command. An invitation 
from the Supreme Court just can’t be rejected.” 1 The guest most frequently invited to the 
Supreme Court is the Solicitor General. Even before the practice of the Supreme Court calling 
for the views of the Solicitor General process developed, the Court occasionally invited the 
Solicitor General to participate as amicus in important cases by submitting a brief and/or 
participating in oral arguments before the Court.2 As then-Solicitor General Simon E. Sobeloff 

remarked to then-Attorney General Herbert Brownell in a 1954 letter about the landmark school 
desegregation cases, “The Supreme Court has expressly extended an invitation to the United 

States to participate in the reargument. While this by no means compels participation, such an
invitation is not to be lightly declined.” 3

The Solicitor General “has developed a

unique relationship with the Supreme Court, 
one in which it serves as an adviser as well 
as an advocate.”4 The Solicitor General ful­
fills his role as the Court’s adviser and ad­
vocate by responding to the Court’s invitation 
to express the views of the United States in 
given petitions for certiorari.5 Here, the So­
licitor General acts as a special type of am­

icus, because the Solicitor General is neither 

a party to the proceeding nor opining on be­
half of one of the parties, but rather acting as 
a sort of “partner” to the Justices.6 When the 
Justices believe that, before they can grant or 
deny a petition for certiorari, they would like 
another opinion of the merits of a petition, they 
“call for the views of the Solicitor General,”  
known colloquially as CVSG.7 Because of the
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e no rm o u s am o u nt o f tru s t that the Co u rt has in 
the So licito r General’s office, the Court values 
the Solicitor General’s opinion as “providing] 
[the] best judgment with respect to the matter 
at issue.” 8 However, this unique relationship of 
trust between the Court and the Solicitor Gen­
eral, such that the Solicitor General’s opinion 

is treated as tantamount to the opinion of a 
tenth Justice,9 did not develop until the 1950s.

This paper will  examine how the CVSG 
process developed. Part II will  provide general 
background information, explaining the office 
of the Solicitor General, the Supreme Court 
practice of granting certiorari and the reasons 
for doing so, and the process by which the 

Supreme Court invites the Solicitor General 
to express the opinion of the United States. 
Part III will examine the environment that 
laid the groundwork for the CVSG process 
to emerge: the personal relationships that ex­
isted between individual Justices and attorneys

in the Office of the Solicitor General and the 
political climate that instituted a political part­
nership between the Court and the Solicitor 
General. Finally, Part IV will argue that the 
CVSG process represents the culmination of 
the mutually beneficial relationship between 

the Court and the Solicitor General and then 
describe the first petitions for certiorari in 
which the Supreme Court exercised its option 
to CVSG.

I I .  B a c k g ro u n d  In fo rm a t io n ONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

A .  T h e S o l ic i to r  G e n e r a l

Congress created the Office of the Solici­
tor General with the Federal Judiciary Act 
of 1870.10 As an officer within the execu­

tive branch, the President appoints the So­
licitor General, and the Solicitor General is 

then subordinate to both the President and the 
Attorney General.11 In appointing the Solicitor
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General, the President looks at the same crite­
ria that affect the nomination of a Supreme 

Court Justice: well-respected, legal experi­
ence, and probably shares a similar legal phi­
losophy of the President’s administration.12 

Because the Solicitor General is formally a 
member of the Department of Justice, his of­
fice is in that department’s building.13 How­

ever, as a testament to the Solicitor General’s 
dual roles as government lawyer and adviser 
to the Supreme Court, he also has permanent 
chambers in the Court.14

“Politics and law are at the intersection of 
the solicitor general’s responsibilities.” 15 The 

Solicitor General must be “ learned in the law”  

and is entrusted with representing the inter­
ests of the United States, assisting the Attor­
ney General, and “ translating the policies of 
the government, the president, and the exec­
utive branch into litigation.” 16 The Solicitor 
General decides which cases that the govern­
ment lost in lower courts will  be appealed to 
the Supreme Court, controls government liti ­
gation at the Supreme Court, advocates as ami­

cus curiae in cases where the government is not 
a party, and advises the Supreme Court on pe­
titions for certiorari.17 Although the Solicitor 
General experiences some political pressure 

from the President and the President’s admin­
istration, the tradition of independence of the 
Solicitor General’s office helps to ensure that 
the Solicitor General largely retains autonomy 
from political sways.18 Indeed, the Attorney 
General does not usually attempt to control the 
litigation strategy of the Solicitor General.19 

Instead, the Solicitor General’s agenda is struc­
tured by the Supreme Court’s agenda: as the 
Supreme Court’s power and docket changes, 
so does the role of the Solicitor General.20 Not 

only is the Solicitor General’s agenda struc­
tured around the Supreme Court, but the So­

licitor General helps to set that of the Court: 
a “principal chore of the Solicitor’s office is 
to help the Supreme Court set its docket by 
screening petitions for certiorari.” 21

B . G r a n t ,  D e n y , o r  C V S G :  T h e  C e r t io ­

r a r i  P r o c e s s

“A petition for certiorari is, stripping away 
the legal verbiage, a request to the Supreme 
Court to hear and decide a case that the pe­
titioner has lost either in a federal court of 
appeals or in a state supreme court.” 22 Par­
ties can file petitions for certiorari throughout 
the year, and the petitions therefore generally 
accumulate at between 80 to 100 per week.23 
When a petition for certiorari first arrives at 
the Court, it is sent to the “cert pool,”  which 
was first created at the suggestion of Justice 
Powell in 1972.24 The “cert pool” consists of 

the law clerks of the participating Justices, 

who collectively pool their law clerks to di­
vide the petitions for certiorari among them­
selves.25 The law clerks divide the thousands 
of petitions so that one of them reads every pe­
tition, assesses the worthiness of the petition 
for the Court’s review, and writes an anno­
tated certiorari memo “outlining the facts and 
contentions”  of the petition.26 The law clerks 
circulate the annotated certiorari memos for 
each petition for certiorari to the participat­
ing Justices, who then review the memos and 
make a preliminary decision on how to vote 
on the petition.27 Before the Justices meet col­

lectively to determine the fate of a petition for 
certiorari, the Chief Justice circulates a “dis­
cuss list”—a list of the petitions that he would 
like to discuss with the other Justices.28 The 
Associate Justices are also free to add peti­
tions to the “discuss list,”  and any petition for 
certiorari not discussed at a conference is de­
nied certiorari without a vote.29 For much of 
the year, except during the Court’s recess be­
tween July and the last week of September, 
the Justices vote on the petitions for certiorari 

in weekly conferences held in a room next to 
the Chief Justice’s Chambers.30 These Confer­

ences in which the Justices vote on petitions 
for certiorari are only attended by the Justices; 
“ they are not open to the public or to other 
Court personnel.” 31
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Whe n a p e titio n fo r ce rtio rari is o n the dis­
cu s s lis t at a we e kly co nfe re nce and the re fo re 
re ady fo r the Ju s tice s’ ultimate decision, the 
Justices have several voting options.32 Most 
obviously, they can vote to grant in full  or deny 
in full  certiorari.33 However, they have several 
options that fall between these two extremes. 
For instance, sometimes the Justices believe 
that more information is necessary before they 
can reach a full decision to grant or deny cer­
tiorari, and they will  therefore CVSG.34 If  
several petitions for certiorari raise the same 
issue, the Court may accept all of them “ to ad­
dress that issue more fully than a single case 
would allow them to do.” 35 The Court may 
also choose to narrow the granting of certio­
rari by choosing one issue raised in the pe­
tition or posing an issue YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAsua spon te to the 
parties.36

After the Court has granted certiorari, ei­
ther in full  or in part, the Court then decides be­
tween giving the petition full  consideration and 

giving it summary consideration.37 For peti­
tions granted full  consideration, the Court will  
hear oral arguments, receive briefing on the 
merits from the parties, and issue “a decision 
on the merits with a full  opinion explaining the 
decision.” 38 If, instead, the Court gives a peti­
tion summary consideration, the petition may 
take two routes.39 Usually, in summary consid­
eration, the Court issues a “GVR,”  which en­
tails granting certiorari (G), vacating the lower 
court decision (V), and remanding the case to 
the lower court for reconsideration (R).40 In 

the remainder of summary consideration peti­
tions, the Court issues a per curiam opinion—a 
short, unsigned opinion on the merits.41

When hearing and deciding cases on the 
merits, the Court operates by majority rule.42 
However, when making certiorari decisions, 
the historical practice of the Court, called 
the “ rule of four,”43 is to require four out of 
nine votes from the Justices.44 The Court has 
never been very forthcoming about why one 

petition is deemed worthy of certiorari and 

another not worthy. Instead, it advises that 
“certiorari will  be granted only for compelling 
reasons.”45 Those compelling reasons, though

“neither controlling nor fully measuring the 
Court’s discretion,” are described in Rule 10 
of the Rules of the Court.46 The criteria de­
scribed in Rule 10 for evaluating a petition 
for certiorari are: (1) a conflict between two 
appellate courts, often called a circuit split; 
(2) a conflict between the court at issue and 

Supreme Court precedent; (3) importance of 
the issues in the petition; and (4) procedural 
posture of the case.47 Although these criteria 
for certiorari may seem somewhat imprecise 
and vague, it has long been certain that “ [t]he 

Supreme Court is not, and never has been, pri­
marily concerned with the correction of errors 
in lower court decisions.”48

C . T h e C V S G  P r o c e s s : C a l l in g  f o r  t h e 
V ie w s o f  t h e  S o l ic i to r  G e n e r a l

“ [Tjhe group of lawyers that has the great­
est impact on the Court is the set of about 
two dozen who work for the Office of the So­
licitor General in the Justice Department.” 49 

Indeed, when the Supreme Court calls for 
the views of the Solicitor General, the Solic­
itor General becomes “an important ally for 

the justices, who rely on the office’s exper­
tise to control their docket and help struc­
ture doctrinal development.” 50 Essentially, the 
Supreme Court is requesting the Solicitor Gen­
eral’s opinion on a petition for certiorari be­
cause the Justices believe that the petition is 
important and potentially worthy of certiorari 
but need more information, in the form of an­

other legal opinion, before they can make a 
final decision.51 In the CVSG role, the Solic­

itor General puts aside any partisan advocacy 

concerns that the Office may otherwise have 
in order to “assist in the orderly development 
of the law and to insist that justice be done 
even where the immediate interests of the fed­
eral government may not appear to benefit.” 52 
The Solicitor General provides “a less parti­
san review of the law and a survey of existing 
precedent.” 53 Traditionally, even where gov­

ernment interests would prefer otherwise, the 
Solicitor General does not hesitate to advise 
the Justices that the Court lacks jurisdiction
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o ve r an is s u e rais e d in a p e titio n o r that the p e­
titio n s im p ly do e s no t s atis fy the Co u rt’s crite­
ria for granting certiorari.54 There are a num­
ber of circumstances in which the Court will  

CVSG: where a federal interest is involved; 
where there is a new issue without established 
precedent; where there has been a change in the 
development of an issue; or where an evolving 
issue has become more complicated and at­
tached to other issues.55 Former Solicitor Gen­
eral Kenneth Starr described the purposes of 
the CVSG process as follows:

The CVSG has a twofold purpose. 
First, it serves to guide the Court or 
assist the Court as to whether the case 
is important enough to merit review. 
Second, it serves to offer the position 
of the U.S. on the merits of the issue.
With respect to the former... [i]t  is a 
courtesy to the government. With re­
spect to the latter—the position of the 

U.S.—there we followed the profes­
sional responsibility of assimilating 

the views of different parts of the Jus­
tice Department and the agencies and 
putting forth the best arguments.56 

The high rate of correlation between
the Solicitor General’s certiorari recommen­
dations and the Court’s certiorari decisions is 
a testament to the Court’s trust in the nonpar­
tisan legal opinion of the Solicitor General.57 

Indeed, the Terms from 2001 to 2006 saw a 
100-percent correlation between the Solicitor 
General’s recommendation that the Supreme 
Court grant certiorari and the Court’s doing 
so.58 While the correlation is slightly less 

when the Solicitor General recommends that 
the Court should deny certiorari, the rate is 
still high enough to suggest more than simple 
coincidence.59

I I I .  1 9 4 3 -1 9 5 7 : L a y in g  th e HGFEDCBA 

G ro u n d w o rk  fo r  a  P a r tn e rs h ip

Typically, the Solicitor General did not file vol­
untary amicus curiae briefs when the Supreme

Court was hearing a groundbreaking or emerg­
ing issue.60 In the days before the CVSG pro­

cess became established, the Solicitor Gen­
eral was only involved in emerging issues be­

fore the Court when the government was a 
party to the proceeding.61 Also, in a num­
ber of cases where the Court wanted the gov­
ernment’s opinion, the Court simultaneously 
granted certiorari and requested that the So­

licitor General file an amicus brief expressing 
the views of the United States or of a particular 
agency of the United States.62

However, during the late 1950s, the Court 
began to gravitate away from its practice of 
requesting an amicus curiae brief from the So­
licitor General as it was granting certiorari 
and towards the CVSG practice of request­
ing the Solicitor General’s opinion in deter­
mining if  a petition for certiorari merited re­
view. Several factors came together during this 
time period to provide a framework in which 
the CVSG practice seemed like the logical 

extension to the Court’s certiorari practices. 
Attorneys in the Solicitor General’s Office cul­
tivated personal and professional relationships 
with Supreme Court Justices as the two groups 
were acting as political advocates in the civil-  
rights movement.

A .  P e r s o n a l R e la t io n s h ip s b e tw e e n

S u p r e m e C o u r t  J u s t ic e s a n d  A t to r n e y s  
in  t h e  O f f ic e  o f  t h e  S o l ic i to r  G e n e r a l

J. Lee Rankin was the Solicitor General be­

tween August 1956 and January 1961, the time 
that the CVSG process blossomed.63 Before 
President Dwight D. Eisenhower appointed 
him Solicitor General on August 14, 1956, 
Rankin worked as the assistant attorney gen­

eral in the Department of Justice’s Office of 
Legal Counsel, where he argued in favor of 
the plaintiffs in the landmark case of YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB row n 
v. B oard o fE duca tion  ̂As Solicitor General, 

Rankin “developed the Justice Department’s 
position that led to the principle of one per­
son, one vote” in response to the legislative 
reapportionment cases that the Supreme Court
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he ard.65 Rankin was also a close friend and 
associate of Chief Justice Earl Warren,66 who 
later wrote the majority opinion in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAR eyno lds 
v. Sim s,67 which held “ that the Constitution 

guarantees equal representation in state legis­
latures, to be measured generally by the for­
mula ‘one man, one vote.’” 68 Rankin also 
maintained a friendship with Justice Harold 

H. Burton, inviting the Justice to his home to 
visit with his wife and family.69

Rankin’s predecessor as Solicitor Gen­
eral was Simon E. Sobeloff, who served from 
February 1954 to July 1956.70 He became So­
licitor General after the arguments in the land­
mark case of B row n v. B oard o f E duca tion 
and therefore “ inherited the responsibility for 
representing the government in the upcoming 
legal battle over implementation.” 71 Sobeloff 

worked with Philip Elman, who at that time 
was the special assistant to the Attorney Gen­

eral on civil  rights, to prepare the government’s 
brief for implementing desegregation.72 The 
Court’s ultimate decision in B row n I I 13 largely

tracked the government’s suggestion, except 
that it removed Sobeloff’s proposed ninety- 
day limit for desegregation.74

Sobeloff, more than Rankin, had direct 
and continuing friendships with several of the 
Justices who were on the Court during the 

formative years of the CVSG process. For 
example, the collection of Justice William 
Brennan’s papers shows that Brennan and So­
beloff maintained a correspondence.75 Unfor­
tunately, the content of this correspondence 
cannot yet be examined, as not all of the 
Brennan papers are available to the public.76 
Sobeloff was also friends with Justice Thur- 
good Marshall, who, while not on the Supreme 
Court during the crucial Terms of 1956-1958, 
joined the Court in 1967 as the CVSG pro­

cess was just becoming entrenched in Supreme 
Court practice. Sobeloff and Marshall corre­
sponded during the early 1960s, when both 
were federal appellatejudges.77 On September 
12, 1962, Sobeloff wrote a letter to Marshall, 
congratulating him on his confirmation as a 
Second Circuit Court of Appeals judge.78 In­
deed, their close friendship is evident from an 
exchange between the two men during March 
1963, where then Judge Marshall joked to So­
beloff, “ I am taking this means of making the 
opening statement that if  you get pushed for 
judges and need help, I would be more than 
agreeable to help out on a Baltimore sitting 
or two, providing, of course, it did not involve 
any cases of segregation, etc.” 79

Like his successor, Rankin, Solicitor Gen­
eral Sobeloff was close friends with Justice 
Burton.80 Discussing a recent trip to North 
Carolina, Justice Burton signed his letter to So­
beloff, “with cordial regards to Mrs. Sobeloff 
and you from Mrs. Burton and I.” 81 Sobeloff 
also maintained correspondence with Justice 
Felix Frankfurter between 1955 and 1956 and 
then again in 1961.82 The two discussed per­

sonal subjects—including their opinions on 
the possible forming of a Jewish state in the 
Middle East and Sobeloff’s relationship with 
his father—that indicate the depth and breadth 
of their friendship.83 Sobeloff also turned to



V IE W S  O F  T H E  S O L IC IT O R  G E N E R A L ONMLKJIHGFEDCBA4 1zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Frankfu rte r fo r p ro fe s s io nal gu idance , s e e king 
Frankfu rte r’s comments and suggestions on a 
“ rough draft”  of his “Address for New School 
for Social Research”  that he planned to present 
in New York City on June 5, 1956.84

Lastly, and perhaps most importantly, So- 
beloff and Chief Justice Warren also had a pro­
fessional and, at times, political relationship. 
On October 7,1955, Sobeloff sent a handwrit­

ten letter to Warren stating that “ this is the 
letter I mentioned the other day.” 85 Both the 

attachment and the wording of this particular 

letter are significant. The attached letter was 
one addressed to Sobeloff from the New York 
Chapter of the American Sons of the Revo­
lution, reporting on a speech by Senator East- 
land on the Supreme Court’s recent Fourteenth 
Amendment jurisprudence in the segregation 
cases.86 By forwarding a copy to the Chief Jus­
tice, Sobeloff was acting as a sort of political 
partner to the Court by alerting the Justices 
to the unfavorable speech by a member of an­
other branch of the federal government.87 The 

text of the letter itself not only serves as evi­
dence of the relationship between Sobeloff and 
Warren, but also demonstrates that the two had 

previously discussed the politics surrounding 
the segregation cases.88

B . T h e S to r y  b e h in d  Sinclair v. United

States*9 : A  C a s e S tu d y  o f  t h e  I n te r p la y  
b e tw e e n t h e C o u r t  a n d  t h e  O f f ic e  o f  t h e 

S o l ic i to r  G e n e r a l

A feuding separated husband and wife, the Sin­
clairs, had been trading insults. When the hus­
band mailed a letter containing many “ four- 

letter words” to his wife, she angrily took the 
letter to the post office, and he was subse­
quently charged under a federal statute pro­
hibiting mailing “obscene, lewd, and lascivi­
ous letters.”90 After Sinclair was convicted, he 
filed a petition for certiorari at the Supreme 
Court, and the Criminal Division of the De­
partment of Justice drafted a brief in opposi­
tion to certiorari.91 The opposition brief would 

have been routinely filed and the petition de­

nied, but, as luck would have it, that draft in op­
position landed in the hands of Philip Elman, 
then a staff attorney in the Office of the Solici­
tor General.92 Elman believed that the Sinclair 

case and the mail-obscenity statute presented 
great constitutional issues. But the then Solic­
itor General, Philip Perlman, did not want to 
get involved and said that the Office would not 
file in the case.93 It was at this point that El­

man states he “probably acted improperly”94: 

He mentioned the case to Justice Frankfurter, 
for whom he had previously clerked, and his 
friend David Feller, the senior law clerk to 
Chief Justice Fred Vinson, and specifically 
mentioned to Feller that the Solicitor General 
might confess error in this case.95 Feller “ told 
the Clerk of the Court that the Chief Justice’s 
office wanted to know what the government’s 
position in the case was and wanted the gov­
ernment to file a brief.”96 The Solicitor Gen­

eral filed the Criminal Division’s brief in op­
position to certiorari, but Justice Frankfurter 
lobbied the other Justices and Feller lobbied 
the other law clerks, resulting in the Supreme 
Court granting certiorari.97

C . T h e C o u r t  a n d  S o l ic i to r  G e n e r a l a s 
P o l i t ic a l  P a r tn e r s a n d  A d v o c a te s

“The Solicitor General is not a neutral, he is an 
advocate; but an advocate for a client whose 
business is not merely to prevail in the instant 
case. My client’s business is not to achieve vic­
tory, but to establish justice.”98 Indeed, when 

the Court grants certiorari in a case, it “helps 
shape political discourse in our society.”99 And

[i]f  one were required to identify 
a single societal impulse informing 

more significantly than any other 
the development of constitutional law 
under Earl Warren, it would be the 
civil rights movement. The rising 
social consciousness of racial mi­
nority groups—partially manifest in 
their demands for equality under 

the law—was at once the principal
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D-zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 950 DOBY VS. BROWN-

J u s t ic e  H a ro ld  H . B u r to n HGFEDCBA 

( le f t ) w ro te a “ D ” in h is  
c o n fe re n c e n o te s ( r ig h t) , 

in d ic a t in g th a t th e J u s ­

t ic e s in te n d e d to d e n y  
c e r t io ra r i in th e to b a c c o  

g ro w e rs ’ c a s e . B u t h e  a ls o  
w ro te  “ a s k  fo r re s p o n s e &  

a s k s o l. g e n .,” in d ic a t in g  

th a t th e  J u s t ic e s h a d  d e ­

c id e d to s e e k th e S o lic ­

i to r G e n e ra l’s a d v ic e fo r  

th e f irs t t im e o n h o w  to  

re s p o n d to  a p e t it io n fo r  
c e r t io ra r i.YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

D , 955-...DOLCIN CORP. vs.
COLUMBIA CIRCU

. 971 TENNESSEE BURLEY 

» -* r ' (Waiver by r

989  ̂PRENTICE VS. MOf

impetus and the result of many of 
the Supreme Court’s decisions during 
those years.100

The civil rights movement and the many 
Supreme Court cases associated with it con­

sumed much of the attention of Solicitors 
General Sobeloff and Rankin, who argued all 
of the civil rights cases except B row n I I . m 
Sobeloff worked closely with his principal 
staff attorneys during some of the Warren 
Court years, Elman and Ralph Spritzer, on 
the pivotal civil rights cases of the day.102 
Sobeloff also collaborated with attorneys 
from the Attorney General’s office, including 

Attorney General Brownell and his suc­
cessor as Solicitor General, Rankin, on 

pivotal civil  rights cases, especially the school- 
desegregation cases.103 In a Memorandum 

from Attorney General Brownell to Solici­
tor General Sobeloff, Brownell wrote of the 
need for the two of them, as well as Rankin, 
who was then an attorney in the Attorney 
General’s Office, to meet and discuss a uni­
fied approach for the Department of Justice 
to take in the school-desegregation cases.104 
At the same time, Elman was in frequent 
contact with Justice Frankfurter about the 

most advantageous position for the govern­
ment to take.105 Although, later in life, El­

man explained that he and Justice Frank­

furter “weren’t plotting strategy,” Frankfurter 
was one of the five Justices who, from the 
time the graduate-school-desegregation cases 
came to the Court, was ardently in favor of 
overruling P lessy v. F erguson , thereby ending 
segregation.106 But because “ [t]he two men 

concluded that the best hope for success re­
quired separating the issue of constitutional 
principle from proposed remedy,” Elman lob­
bied Solicitor General Sobeloff and then- 
assistant attorney general Rankin to suggest 
later implementation in the government’s brief 

in B row n.In addition to his political and le­
gal interest in the desegregation cases, Frank­
furter probably had a personal interest in the 
inner workings of the Solicitor General’s of­
fice, as he had declined that office in 1933 

when President Franklin D. Roosevelt offered 
it to him.108

It was quite true that the Justices on the 

Warren Court were simultaneously grappling 
with these same complicated political-legal 
issues of desegregation and, later, reappor­
tionment and redistricting.109 “The Court in­
validated state practices and policies that 
segregated and excluded black people from 
enjoying the social and political equality 
promised in the 14th Amendment.” 110 In do­
ing so, the Court was acting in what has been 
described as “ its dual legal-political role,”  

wherein "[t]he special burden of the Court,
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the n, is to exercise great political powers while 

still acting like a court, or, if  we prefer, to 
exercise judicial powers over a wide domain 
while remaining concrete, realistic, and alert 
as to the political significance of what it is do­
ing.” 1 11 Because much of the Court’s work was 

“policy-oriented and profoundly political,”  the 
distinction between law and politics could of­
ten become blurred.112 This is very similar to 

the work of the Office of the Solicitor General, 
which has been described as at the “ intersec­
tion of law and politics.” 113

IV . 1 9 5 7 -1 9 6 9 : T h e  E m e rg e n c e  o f th e HGFEDCBA 

C V S G  P ro c e s s

A . A d m in is t r a t iv e  P r o b le m s a n d S u g­

g e s t io n s : T h e S o l ic i to r  G e n e r a l a s t h e 
S o lu t io n

The mutual need of the Court and the Solic­
itor General for political support in the diffi ­

cult civil-rights cases, coupled with the Court’s

feeling that borderline important cases were 
being improvidently denied certiorari, led the 
Court to turn to the Office of the Solicitor 
General. Indeed, Harvard Law School profes­
sor Paul Freund observed that the increasing 
number of petitions for certiorari loomed “as 
a serious barrier to the true mission of the 
Supreme Court: to clarify, expound, and de­
velop the law in its most significant national 
aspects.” 114

During the years leading up to the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT en­

nessee B urley 5̂ case—the first case in which 

the Supreme Court decided to request the So­
licitor General’s opinion—Solicitor General 

Sobeloff’s notes indicate that the attorneys 
in the Solicitor General’s office, along with 
the attorneys in the Attorney General’s office, 
were discussing the Court’s certiorari process. 
In a meeting in which the attorneys were work­
ing on the “  1956 Criminal Law Program of the 
Department” because they planned to “adjust 
to attitude of Sup. Ct. toward federal prosecu­
tions,” Sobeloff’s handwritten notes include

Tennessee Burley Tobacco Growers Ass’n v. Range (1 9 5 7 ) is  th e  f irs t in s ta n c e  o f th e  S u p re m e  C o u r t c a ll in g  

fo r  th e  v ie w s  o f th e  S o lic ito r G e n e ra l b e fo re  g ra n t in g  c e r t io ra r i. I t is  n o t c le a r w h y  th e  J u s t ic e s n e e d e d  e x tra  

a d v ic e  in  th e  c a s e , w h ic h  in v o lv e d  th e  r ig h t o f m e m b e rs  o f a  to b a c c o -g ro w e rs ' a s s o c ia t io n  to  s e e k  re lie f f ro m  

th e  a s s o c ia t io n . P ic tu re d  is  a  c ro p  o f b u r le y  to b a c c o .
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m e ntio n o f ce rtio rari p e titio ns .116 Under the 
heading “Sketch of Office’s work for the past 
year and plans for the future,”  the item labeled 
“ (d)”  is “Our problems respecting certiorari— 
midway between Court and Divisions.” 117 The 

next few pages of the notes contain several ref­
erences to the certiorari process that, while 
not entirely clear, still demonstrate that the 
certiorari process was a subject of discussion 
and planning among the attorneys in the So­
licitor General’s Office.118 For example, So- 
beloff wrote that “certiorari becomes obsolete 
with the first bomb” and “I ’ ll take advan­
tage of the emergency to seize a jugful of 
certioraris.” 119

Around this same time, the late 1950s, 
there also seemed to be some unrest among 
the Justices as to the proper role of the cer­
tiorari process. For example, Justice Burton 
was against gratuitous grants of certiorari and 
instead informed Chief Justice Warren in Jan­
uary 1956 that he was “alert against taking 
cases except those that obviously call for de­
termination by this Court.” 120 Burton’s letter 

to the Chief Justice grew out of his frustration 
over the large number of certiorari petitions 
brought by employees under the Federal Em­
ployers Liability Act, the Jones Act, the Fair 
Labor Standards Act, and “ like legislation.” 121 
While Burton expressed his sympathy for em­

ployees because some of the lower courts “un­
doubtedly”  made incorrect factual judgments, 
he was adamant that the certiorari process was 

not to be used to correct errors in fact-based 
determinations.122 In response to Justice Bur­

ton’s concerns, Justice Frankfurter agreed that 
“effective functioning of this Court”  is the Jus­
tices’ foremost concern but defended the “ join 
3” practice of the certiorari process—that is, 
“when three members of this Court urge that 
a petition for certiorari raises a serious ques­
tion and one or more of their brethren feel that 
the strength of their conviction should elicit a 
fourth vote.” 123

Later that year, in a Memorandum to 

the Conference, Justice Frankfurter elaborated 
further on the certiorari process, finding the

cursory review that so many important and 
complicated petitions were given to be inad­
equate and troubling.124 Specifically, Frank­
furter complained that

because of the very nature of the cus­

tomary conduct of our business, we 
have at times discussed and voted on 
cases involving important or compli­

cated issues at a state when few, if  any, 
of us could have come to grips with 
them or had time to explore the rele­
vant materials, considering the mea­
gerness of briefs.125

After identifying this weakness, Frankfurter 
made several suggestions to modify the Court’s 
certiorari practice so that “ in doubtful, diffi ­
cult, important cases” there was more thor­
ough review of the petitions before the Jus­
tices’ certiorari votes.126 His three suggestions 

in this memorandum all had the goal of pro­
viding “some sort of investigation of doubt­
ful cases prior to vote-taking.” 127 One sugges­

tion to provide this investigation was for the 
Court to assign the doubtful, borderline cer­
tiorari petition to a Justice for a full report 
before voting to grant or deny certiorari.128 In 
support of his suggestion, Frankfurter wrote 
that

in those cases in which the nature of 
the subject matter, the limited time 
that has been had for exploration of 
problems and materials ... etc., etc., 
call for the allowance of a period 
of time for the maturing of wisdom, 

a report by a member of the Court 
... will  enlist desirable collaborative 
contributions of all the Justices in
the final formulation of the Court’sHGFEDCBA

• • 129opinion.

Frankfurter’s second suggestion largely tracks 
his first, but with less specificity, as he sug­

gests that there needs to somehow be “ fuller 

consideration of cases prior to discussion at 
Conference.” 130 His last suggestion to improve 
the Court’s certiorari process was for the Jus­
tices to give more consideration to dissenting
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fro m de nials o f ce rtio rari, s o that the re we re 
cle ar m ajo rity and dis s e nting o p inio ns at the 
ce rtio rari s tage .131

In ano the r Me m o randu m to the Co nfe r­
e nce , Ju s tice Bre nnan als o dis cu s s e d his co n­
ce rns o ve r the ce rtio rari p ro ce s s , explaining 
that

[a] number of state courts have cer­
tiorari practices under various names. 
Some, like New York, distribute 
applications for review among the 
court’s members, each member as­
suming the responsibility of digest­

ing the applications assigned to him 
and recommending action for or 
against a grant. Other courts, like 
Ohio, allow fifteen minutes for oral 
argument and decide grant or not by 
majority vote. None of the courts rep­
resented followed our practice of in­
dividual review.132

Although it seems that this particular 
memorandum did not deal with concerns over 
the substantive review of the petitions, as 
Frankfurter’s did, one could speculate that 

Brennan’s concerns were an impetus towards 
the creation of the “cert pool,” and perhaps 
these memoranda from the Justices played 
a very significant role in shaping Supreme 
Court practices and processes. Indeed, it ap­
pears that Justice Frankfurter’s first sugges­
tion in his September 1956 Memorandum— 
that individual Justices should be assigned to 
do more thorough reviews of the borderline 
and important certiorari petitions—provided 
the initiative for the Court to decide to CVSG 
eight months later.133 With the CVSG pro­
cess, the Justices obtained the “ investigation 
of doubtful cases prior to vote-taking” that 

Frankfurter suggested, because the attorneys 
in the Solicitor General’s office provided a 
detailed and exhaustive opinion regarding the 
merits of each petition for certiorari that the 
Court CVSGed.134

The Solicitor General was a natural sub­
stitution for a Justice in Frankfurter’s sugges­

tion to the Court that a full, detailed report on 

the merits of certiorari be provided before the 
Justices’ vote on certiorari. “At critical junc­
tures, the Court looked to the executive and 
legislative branches for support.” 135 With the 
Court’s expanding docket and the increasing 

workload handled by each Justice, it was nat­
ural for the Justices to look outside the Court 
for a closer examination of doubtful and im­
portant cases.136 The Court likely looked to 
the Solicitor General because of the personal 
relationships that individual Justices had es­
tablished with Solicitor General Sobeloff, who 
had just left office at the time of YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT ennessee 
B urley , and with newly appointed Solicitor 
General Rankin.137 The similar politically tur­

bulent legal issues that both the Court and the 
Office of the Solicitor General were facing 
also led the Court to view the Solicitor Gen­
eral as a political and legal partner.138 Thus, 
when the Court decided to get a tenth opin­
ion on borderline certiorari petitions, as was 
likely per Justice Frankfurter’s suggestions, it 
turned to the attorneys of the Solicitor Gen­
eral’s Office, who were dealing with similar 
political issues and scrutiny and with whom 

many Justices had personal friendships. Also, 
it was especially important for the Court to turn 
to someone whom it trusted and knew closely, 
as most of the Justices later violently opposed 
outsourcing certiorari petition review to “a na­
tional court of appeals that would evaluate all 
petitions for review now filed in the Supreme 
Court.” 139

B . T h e  F ir s t  o f  M a n y :  Tennessee Burley 
Tobacco Growers Ass’n v. Range140

T ennessee B urley T obacco G row ers A ss’ n v. 
R ange is the first instance of the Supreme 

Court calling for the views of the Solici­
tor General before granting certiorari.141 Jus­

tice Burton kept exhaustive records during his 
tenure on the Court from 1945 to 1958.142 

Included in those records are the conference 
lists—the lists of all of the petitions for certio­
rari, petitions for rehearing, and judgments to



4 6RQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAJ O U R N A L  O F  S U P R E M E  C O U R T  H IS T O R Y zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

be anno u nce d at e ach o f the Ju s tice s’ weekly 
conferences.143 On Friday, May 31, 1957, the 
Justices discussed YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT ennessee B urley T obacco , 
case 971 of that Term.144 Burton, who kept 
notes on each of the cases discussed at the 

conference, indicated that the respondents in 
that case had waived their response.145 Next to 
the case number, where Burton indicated if  the 
Justices had granted or denied certiorari, is a 
capital “D,”  indicating that certiorari had been 
denied.146 However, in almost indecipherable 

pen, he wrote “ask for response & ask sol. 
gen.” 147 This scrawl appears to represent the 
first time that the Justices decided to seek the 
Solicitor General’s advice on how to respond 
to a petition for certiorari.148

From Justice Burton’s notes, it is not clear 
how exactly the Justices decided to CVSG— 
who first suggested it, if  there was a vote, and 
if  so, the specifics of each Justice’s vote.149 It is 
also unclear what made the T ennessee B urley 
case unique in that it demanded extra attention 
at the certiorari stage.150 The court below, the 

Court of Appeals of Tennessee, had affirmed 
the trial court’s ruling that Ivan Range and 
the other members of the defendant tobacco- 
growers’ cooperative association were not en­
titled to relief against the association itself.151 
Specifically, the Court of Appeals affirmed 
that the complainants had failed to show that 
the association’s actions constituted waste or 
mismanagement, but it also affirmed that the 
association could not withhold equities from 
the members of the association, who could 
choose to withdraw those equities if  they so de­
sired. 152 The appellate court further elaborated 

that if  the parties’ counsel were unable to agree 
upon dollar amounts for the equities, then the 
issue should be remanded to the trial court for 
determination.153 There was no dissent from 
the Court of Appeals decision, so this lower 
decision offers no additional insight into how 
or why the Justices determined that this case 
merited the extra certiorari attention of the So­
licitor General.154 Indeed, the Supreme Court 

never heard the merits of the case, as, follow­
ing the advice of Solicitor General Rankin,

it later denied certiorari on October 14, 
1957.155

After this initial CVSG order, the Court si­
multaneously granted certiorari and requested 
the Solicitor General’s opinion in two cases 
in 1958, W illiam s v. L ee in April 1958 and 
A aron v. C ooper in August 195 8.156 Although 
this practice by the Court has since largely 
faded away, it remained fairly common in the 
1960s, 1970s, and 1980s.157 Particularly in 
the highly charged case of A aron v. C ooper, 

the Supreme Court had a political interest in 
collaborating with the Office of the Solici­
tor General.158 The original draft order of the 
Court’s order in A aron v. C ooper stated that 
“ [t]he Solicitor General is invited to file a brief, 
ifhe is so advised, on September 10,1958.” 159 
But this order was revised to include stronger, 
more definitive language: “The Solicitor Gen­
eral is invited to file a brief by September 10, 
1958, and to present oral argument if  he is 
so advised.” 160 Despite this somewhat strong 

and urgent language from the Court, Solicitor 
General Rankin responded on September 10, 
1958 with a letter to the Clerk of the Supreme 

Court that the Solicitor General’s office would 
not be filing an additional brief because the 

“brief previously filed by the United States 
adequately states the reasons for our view that 

the order of the District Court was erroneous 
and was properly reversed by the Court of Ap­
peals.” 161

Then, almost a year later, the Court issued 
its second CVSG in San D iego B u ild ing T rades 
v. G arm on .'62 Unfortunately, Justice Burton’s 
meticulous certiorari notes end before this case 

was discussed, and his files do not contain 
the conference list indicating when and how 

the Justices discussed G arm on 's petition for 
certiorari.163 However, G arm on is notable in 

the history of the CVSG process because it is 
the first instance in which the Court requested 
the Solicitor General’s opinion before grant­
ing certiorari using its now standard language, 
“The Solicitor General is invited to file a brief 
in this case setting forth the views of the United 
States.” 164
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During these initial years of the Court’s 
CVSG practice, the Court proceeded slowly. 
Approximately one month after the CVSG 

in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAG arm on , the Court requested the Solic­
itor General’s certiorari opinion on a peti­
tion,165 but nearly a year lapsed before the 
Court’s CVSGed on its fourth and fifth pe­
titions, both on October 12, 1959.166 Then the 
Court hit a slight lull, not utilizing the newly 

minted CVSG practice once in either the 1960 
or 1961 Terms, and utilizing it only once in 
1962.167

During the politically charged years be­

tween 1963 and 1969, the Court’s tendency 
to CVSG exploded: it called for the So­

licitor General’s views on forty-eight peti­
tions.168 By 1970, the Court’s practice of 

utilizing the Solicitor General as a “ tenth Jus­
tice” vote was firmly established as an inte­
gral part of and an often-advantageous option 
in the certiorari process.169 Approximately 
100 petitions were CVSGed in the 1970s,170 
200 in the 1980s,171 150 in the 1990s,172 

and well over 100 more from 2000 to theHGFEDCBA
1 ~T\present.

Although the Supreme Court’s usage of 
the CVSG practice became common during 

the politically turbulent 1960s and 1970s, in 
a large number of the petitions in which the 
Court sought the advice of the Solicitor Gen­
eral, the issue was not civil rights but labor 
and employment.174 The Court’s focus here 

on employer-employee relations tracks Jus­
tice Burton’s earlier concern over the growing 
number of certiorari petitions being filed in 
this area of the law.175 His concern that the 
Court might be granting certiorari too often 
in petitions arising under federal employment 
legislation, coupled with Justice Frankfurter’s 

concern that the Court was making hasty and 
uninformed certiorari decisions in borderline 
or difficult petitions, likely led the Court to 
utilize its new ability to get a tenth opinion in 
certiorari petitions presenting labor and em­
ployment issues.176

V . C o n c lu s io n

The Office of the Solicitor General is a pecu­
liar one within the Department of Justice. The 

Solicitor General straddles the intersection of 
law and politics, and also that of the executive 
branch and the judicial branch.177 The Solic­
itor General’s relationship with the Supreme 

Court exemplifies these intersections, partic­
ularly when the Court requests the Solicitor 
General’s opinion in determining which peti­
tions for certiorari will  be granted time on the 

Court’s busy docket. Although this practice is 
quite common today and is indeed one of the 
areas where the Solicitor General exerts a good 
deal of influence over the Supreme Court, it 
did not become routine for the Court to CVSG 
until the 1960s.178

The first CVSG orders from the Court 
trickled in slowly, beginning with the T en­

nessee B u r ley petition for certiorari in 1957.179 
While the reasons for the Court’s adoption of 
this practice are neither entirely clear nor en­
tirely definite, there are several factors that 
made this seem like a rational and natural 
choice for the Justices in 1957. Solicitor Gen­
eral Sobeloff, who was in office until 1956, and 
Solicitor General Rankin, who was his succes­
sor, both maintained close personal and pro­

fessional relationships with a number of the 
Justices on the Court at that time.180 Although 

the Office of Solicitor General has generally 
enjoyed a high level of respect and trust from 
the Supreme Court, these Solicitors General 
increased the institutional capital of the Of­
fice through their close relationships with the 

Justices. The political turmoil of the era and 
the confluence of politics and law in many of 

the pivotal issues of the day were challenges 
to both the Solicitor General’s Office and the 
Court, so that collaboration or at least dialogue 
between the two groups occurred.181

So when the Justices were faced with 
some administrative problems, identified by 
Justices Burton and Frankfurter, meaning that 
petitions for certiorari were not receiving the
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S o l ic i to r

Y e a r P r e s id e n t G e n e r a l S u p r e m e C o u r t  J u s t ic e szyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

1954 Eisenhower Sobeloff Jackson, Black, Reed, Frankfurter, Douglas, Burton, 
Clark, Minton, W a r r e n

1955 Eisenhower Sobeloff Black, Reed, Frankfurter, Douglas, Burton, Clark, 
Minton, W a r r e n ,  Harlan

1956b Eisenhower Sobeloff/
Rankin

Black, Reed, Frankfurter, Douglas, Burton, Clark, 
Minton/Brennan, W a r r e n ,  Harlan

1957c Eisenhower Rankin Black, Reed/Whittaker, Frankfurter, Douglas, Burton, 
Clark, W a r r e n ,  Harlan, Brennan

1958d Eisenhower Rankin Black, Frankfurter, Douglas, Burton/Stewart, Clark, 
W a r r e n ,  Harlan, Brennan, Whittaker

1959 Eisenhower Rankin Black, Frankfurter, Douglas, Clark, W a r r e n ,  Harlan, 
Brennan, Whittaker, Stewart

1960 Eisenhower Rankin Black, Frankfurter, Douglas, Clark, W a r r e n ,  Harlan, 
Brennan, Whittaker, Stewart

1961 Kennedy Cox Black, Frankfurter, Douglas, Clark, W a r r e n ,  Harlan, 
Brennan, Whittaker, Stewart

1962 Kennedy Cox Black, Frankfurter/Goldberg, Douglas, Clark, W a r r e n ,  

Harlan, Brennan, Whittaker/White, Stewart

1963 Johnson Cox Black, Douglas, Clark, W a r r e n ,  Harlan, Brennan, 
Stewart, White, Goldberg

1964 Johnson Cox Black, Douglas, Clark, W a r r e n ,  Harlan, Brennan, 
Stewart, White, Goldberg

1965 Johnson Cox/

Marshall

Black, Douglas, Clark, W a r r e n ,  Harlan, Brennan, 
Stewart, White, Goldberg/Fortas

1966 Johnson Marshall Black, Douglas, Clark, W a r r e n ,  Harlan, Brennan, 
Stewart, White, Fortas

1967 Johnson Marshall Black, Douglas, Clark/Marshall, W a r r e n ,  Harlan, 
Brennan, Stewart, White, Fortas

1968 Johnson Griswold Black, Douglas, W a r r e n ,  Harlan, Brennan, Stewart, 
White, Fortas, Marshall

1969 Nixon Griswold Black, Douglas, W a r r e n /B u r g e r ,  Harlan, Brennan, 
Stewart, White, Fortas, Marshall,

aThe name of the Chief Justice is in bold. Where one Justice retired and another was nominated as a replacement, that 
is represented by “ [departing Justice]/[newly appointed Justice].”
bSeveral particularly important events in the development of the CVSG process occurred in 1956: SobelofFs notes 
regarding the Office of the Solicitor General’s “problems respecting certiorari,”  Justice Burton’s January 1956 letter to 
Chief Justice Warren, Frankfurter’s September 1956 Memorandum to the Conference. YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBASee Part IV(A),  supra . 
cSeveral particularly important events in the development of the CVSG process occurred in 1957: May 31, 1957 
decision of the Court to CVSG in T ennessee B urley , October 14, 1957 denial of certiorari in T ennessee B urley . See Part 
IV(B), supra .

dAn important event in the development of the CVSG process occurred in 1958: October 13, 1958 decision of the 
Court to CVSG in San D iego v. G arm on . See Part 1V(B), supra .
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atte ntio n the y m e rite d—p articu larly in bo rde r­
line o r im p o rtant p e titio ns182—they turned to 

the Solicitor General. The Supreme Court’s 
trust in and respect for the Solicitor Gen­

eral, along with established relationships and 
a recognition that the two institutions were 
dealing with similar political-legal issues jus­
tified the Court’s reliance on the Solicitor Gen­
eral as a solution. Justice Frankfurter had ini­
tially suggested that one of the Justices provide 
a full and detailed report on the borderline 
or important petitions for certiorari to ensure 
that these petitions were not being improvi- 
dently denied,183 but, perhaps because of the 
already increasing workload of the Justices,184 

the Court turned instead to the Solicitor Gen­
eral for advice and assistance, where he then 
fulfilled  his “ tenth Justice” 185 responsibilities.
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At conference Frankfurter said YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM app is the worst tragedy since D red Sco tt. Justice 
Brennan says he means it.

—Richard S. Arnold, from his diary of the 1960 Supreme Court Term2

The 1960 Supreme Court Term laid the 
groundwork for the subsequent revolution in 

the relationship between state and federal law 
accomplished by the Supreme Court under 
Chief Justice Earl Warren. The “most famous 
search and seizure case in American history” 3 
—M app v. O hio4—would be decided that 
Term. M app held that the Fourth Amendment’s 
protection against “unreasonable searches and 
seizures” required the exclusion of evidence 
found through an illegal search by state and 
local police officers, extending to the states a 

rule that had previously applied only to fed­
eral law enforcement. M app became a pivotal 
chapter in the story of civil  rights in the United 
States.

M app v. O hio remains a prominent topic 
today. In bringing state law in line with the 
older federal exclusionary rule, the decision 
made the United States the only country to

take the position that some police misconduct 

must automatically result in the suppression of 

physical evidence. The position of the United 
States on this subject remains unique more 
than fifty  years after M app was decided.5 The 
future of the exclusionary rule, however, has 
been the topic of much debate, particularly fol­
lowing the Supreme Court’s decision in H er­

r ing  v. U n ited Sta tes in January 2009.6
Richard S. Arnold, later a renowned judge 

on the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals, kept a 
diary of his clerkship year with Justice William 

Brennan in 1960-1961. When Arnold began 
his clerkship, Chief Justice Warren met with 
all of the new law clerks to impress upon 
them the need for secrecy. “You will learn 
things, hear things, know things that you will  
take to your grave with you,” Warren said.7 
But the secrecy already had been breached. 
Before Arnold began his clerkship, William



MAPP V. OHIORQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA R E V IS IT E D : A  L A W  C L E R K ’ S  D IA R Y 5 5

R ic h a rd S . A rn o ld HGFEDCBA 

(p ic tu re d ) ,  la te r  a r e ­

n o w n e d  ju d g e  o n  th e  

E ig h th  C irc u it ,  k e p t  a  
d ia ry  o f h is  c le rk s h ip  

w ith  J u s t ic e  W il l ia m  J .  

B re n n a n  in  th e  1 9 6 0 - 

1 9 6 1 T e rm , th e  y e a r  

Mapp i r . Ohio w a s  

h a n d e d  d o w n . zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Rehnquist, a law clerk for Justice Robert H. 
Jackson and later Chief Justice of the Supreme 
Court, provided the “ first signed statement” 8 

by a former law clerk describing the role, in a 
1958 article entitled, “Who Writes Decisions 
of the Supreme Court?”9 Arnold, by contrast, 
did not share any part of his diary until af­
ter all the Justices who had served during his 
clerkship had died.10

When Arnold became a law clerk, 
Warren—appointed by Dwight Eisenhower— 
had been serving as Chief Justice since 1953. 
The “Warren Court” became synonymous 
with the liberal exercise of judicial power in 

favor of civil liberties and civil rights. YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB row n

v. B oard o f E duca tion?1 decided in 1954, was 
only the beginning, but already the Warren 

Court had engendered a political backlash. 
When driving Justice Brennan to his home 
in the evenings, Arnold and his fellow clerk 
Daniel Rezneck would pass along the way 

an occasional “ IMPEACH EARL WARREN”  
billboard.12

T h e  S u p re m e  C o u r t  in  1 9 6 0

In addition to Warren, Felix Frankfurter, and 
Brennan, the other members of the Supreme 
Court in 1960 were William O. Douglas, 
Hugo L. Black, Potter Stewart, Charles Evans
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Whittaker, Tom C. Clark, and John Marshall 

Harlan II. “Harlan II ”  was the grandson of the 
first John Marshall Harlan, who served on the 
Supreme Court from 1877 until 1911 and who 

was the only Justice to dissent in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP lessy v. F er­

guson}3

Arnold’s diary reveals his fascination with 
the Supreme Court as an institution that was 
dependent upon the character of the individu­
als who comprised it. He especially enjoyed the 
tradition of each Justice inviting the other law 
clerks to lunch during the year, at the Supreme 
Court dining room usually populated only by 
the law clerks and staff. Arnold recorded per­
sonal characteristics of each Justice, along 
with anything particularly memorable that the 
Justice had said.

One example is Arnold’s diary entry for 
November 22,1960: “The law clerks had lunch 
today with Justice Black. He intimated that 
things would have turned out better had the 
South been required to proceed much more 
rapidly, instead of‘with all deliberate speed.’ 
He agreed with this formulation in the second 
round because unanimity was important.” 14

According to biographer Roger Newman, 
Justice Black believed the Supreme Court in 
the 1960 Term faced “more cases of great im­
portance”  than at any time since he joined the 
Court. As quoted by Newman, Black told a for­
mer clerk: “ I do not anticipate a year in which 

I shall have to rarely dissent.” 15
Arnold was clearly in awe of the seventy- 

five-year-old Black. Arnold wrote in his diary: 
“ I found him very kind and gracious—he was 

pleased I was going back to Texarkana. He was 
perfectly poised and dignified and very acute 
and bright—not the slightest hint of age. He is 
truly a great man.” 16

Frankfurter was a professor at Harvard 
Law School when he was nominated to the 
Supreme Court by Franklin Roosevelt in 1939. 
He had previously served Roosevelt as an 
informal advisor on many New Deal mat­
ters. Frankfurter retained his ties with the 
Harvard Law School faculty and surrounded 
himself with its recent graduates as law

clerks. Frankfurter held the deep esteem of 
many of the Harvard law faculty and was 
widely considered the Court’s most influential 

member.17
When Frankfurter invited the other law 

clerks for lunch, Arnold was taken with Frank­
furter’s antics: “Frankfurter shouted, gestic­
ulated flung his silver onto the table, and 
accused a law clerk of being slippery. Frank­
furter literally shouted his disapproval of Sen­
ator Fulbright for not taking a more forthright 
stand on B row n.

At sixty-two, John Marshall Harlan II  

was substantially younger than either Frank­
furter or Black. Arnold’s notes from their law- 
clerk lunch with Justice Harlan describe him 

as “very grandfatherly and judicious, verg­
ing on the stuffy, but not without humor. 
He disagrees with almost everything of im­
portance his grandfather ever said. He does 
not believe Negroes are an unduly favored 
class of litigants. He asserted further that he 
would not restrict congressional investigations 

of communism with a probable cause showing 
requirement—everything would be all right up 
to dragging just anyone off  the street and ask­
ing him if  he were a communist.” 19 Harlan was 

“ the soul of dignity,”  and “deserved the title of 
‘august’ if  anyone ever did”  Arnold recalled. 
It amused Arnold greatly that when Justice 
Brennan saw Harlan in the halls, he would say 

delightedly, “Hiya, Johnny.” Arnold did not 
believe that anyone else, including Harlan’s 
mother, ever called the Justice “Johnny.”20

Douglas, nominated to the Supreme Court 
by Franklin Roosevelt, served on the Court 
for nearly thirty-seven years, making him the 

longest-serving Justice in Supreme Court his­
tory. Arnold wrote that Douglas “was actually 
rather nice and friendly. He refused to admit 
that there was any split on the court between 
two wings or blocks.” 21

Arnold’s impression of Justice Whittaker 
was improved by the clerks’ lunch. “He made 
a much more favorable appearance than we 
had expected. He is a simple but tough- 
minded man, well aware of his own limitations,
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genuinely humble. He supports YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB row n but 
thinks Shelley v. K raem er 22 is wrong. He is 
very sensitive to criticisms of the court as too 
liberal, procommunist. He was truly a charac­
ter to inspire affection.” 23

Lunch with a Justice other than one’s boss 
was a rare event, occurring by tradition but 

once during the Term. More frequently, Arnold 
and Rezneck ate lunch with Brennan, espe­
cially on Saturdays. On one occasion Arnold 

met the two retired Justices who still had of­
fices at the Supreme Court, Harold H. Burton 
and Stanley Reed. “The Justice and I had lunch 
in the Methodist building, and Mr. Justice Bur­
ton, who is often there, joined us. He is rapidly 
declining in physical strength. His left hand 
shakes, and his mental reactions are slow and 
dull. When we came back to the Court we saw 
Mr. Justice Reed on the ground floor—he was 
a model of courtesy and vigor, showing no 
signs of age.”24

But overwhelmingly, Arnold’s diary re­

flects his observations of his “boss,”  as he put 
it, Justice Brennan. In the 1960 Term, Bren­
nan was only in his fourth year on the Court.25 

Brennan’s relatively junior status at the time 
and the ideological divisions on the Court left 
him frequently on the dissenting side that year. 
The 1960 Term, which Arnold would witness, 
was particularly noteworthy for the number 
of 5^4 decisions handed down during it, with 
Brennan often in the minority.

Professor Paul Freund selected law clerks 
for Justice Brennan, Eisenhower’s recent nom­
inee to the Court. Freund was one of the lead­
ing scholars of constitutional law. One Bren­
nan clerk for the 1960-1961 year had already 
been selected: Rezneck, a graduate of the Har­
vard class of 1959, who had spent 1959— 
1960 as a research assistant for Freund on 
the ONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH o lm e s D e v is e H is to r y  o f  t h e S u p r e m e 
C o u r t . 2 6

In mid-fall of 1959, Freund called Arnold 
into his office to offer him a clerkship with 
Brennan. A short time later, Brennan wrote 
to Arnold, “ I am most happy to follow the 
suggestion of Professor Freund and invite you

to accept a law clerkship with me for the 1960 
term. It will  give me great pleasure if  you will  
accept.”27 Arnold’s prompt reply stated that he 
was “delighted to receive this morning your 
letter inviting me to serve as your law clerk for 
the Court’s 1960 Term. I view the appointment 

as a great honour and promise to do my best 
to justify your confidence.” 28

Arnold did not meet Brennan until he 
started work. The two Brennan law clerks 

chosen for that year—Arnold and Rezneck— 
developed a close relationship with Brennan. 
On most days they would drive him to and from 
his home in Georgetown, often discussing the 
Court’s pending cases.29

The politics of determining which cases to 
take and which to avoid was an important fea­
ture of the 1960 Term. The Justices weighed 
priorities for disposition on a weekly basis. The 

custom at the time was for the Justices to hold 
a weekly conference on Fridays to discuss the 
cases argued during that week, assign opin­
ions to be written, and also consider which, 
if  any, of the numerous appeals filed during 
the week to accept for review. On occasion, 
these conferences would carry over to Satur­
day morning.

Brennan made it a regular practice to dis­
cuss with his clerks the results of the Friday 
conferences. Law clerks were never present 
for any of these conferences, but Justice Bren­

nan would relate the day’s events to his clerks. 
Stories from the Justices’ conferences, as 

recorded in Arnold’s diary, are from Bren­
nan’s explanations. Not all Justices favored 
their clerks with a blow-by-blow of the confer­
ences. Arnold would sometimes find himself 
in the position of informing other Justices’ law 
clerks about what had happened there.30

It was a busy Term for the Justices and 
their law clerks. Throughout the year, the 
Supreme Court heard 146 cases on oral argu­
ment out of nearly 2,000 petitions for review 
presented to the Court.31 An early entry in 

Arnold’s diary notes: “Tomorrow, conference. 
How can the court dispose of five or six argued 

cases, most of them of considerable difficulty,
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and then go on to deal with all the appeals and 
petitions for certiorari (at least 30 of which are 
to be discussed)? Who knows?” 32

C iv i l  L ib e r t ie s  in  th e  S u p re m e  C o u r t ,  

1 9 6 0 -1 9 6 1

It was an auspicious time for anyone, let alone 
a Southerner like Arnold, to be present at 
the Supreme Court. Only two years before 
Arnold began his clerkship, the Supreme Court 
handed down its famous decision in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAC ooper 
v. A aron .33 This case was the only instance

in which the Supreme Court accepted an ap­
peal involving desegregation in Little Rock, 
Arkansas. Members of the Little Rock School 
Board, including the Superintendent, had suc­
ceeded in securing from a federal district court 
an order to delay integration of the schools for 
another two and one-half years, citing the tur­

moil created by Governor Orval Faubus’s stand 
against integration and the arrival, for a time, 

of the United States Army’s 101st Airborne 
division, sent by President Eisenhower.

The Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals 
had reversed the district court, but the 
Supreme Court took the case, in an August
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Special Term, in order to affirm federal judi­

cial supremacy and the mandate of YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB row n v. 
B oard o f E duca tion '.

Since the first B row n opinion three 

new Justices have come to the Court. 
They are at one with the Justices 
still on the Court who participated 

in that basic decision as to its 
correctness, and that decision is now 
unanimously reaffirmed. The princi­
ples announced in that decision and 
the obedience of the States to them,

according to the command of the
Constitution, are indispensable for 
the protection of the freedoms guar­
anteed by our fundamental charter for 
all of us.34

Justice Brennan was the primary author 
of C ooper v. A aron , although it was signed by 
all nine Justices.35 While Arnold was clerking 
for Justice Brennan, he later noted, “ the mem­
ory of C ooper v. A aron was fresh.” 36 And the 
nation still had, in the scheme of things, a fresh 
memory of B row n v. B oard o f E duca tion . The
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“Southern Manifesto”—a statement by South­
ern members of Congress that YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB row n v. B oard 
o f E duca tion was illegal and illegitimate as a 
matter of constitutional law—came in 1956. It 
had been signed by, among others, Arkansas 
Senator J. William Fulbright.

But the 1960 Term was perhaps most no­
table for the steps it did not take in favor of 
racial equality. Part of the reason for this had 
to do with the composition of the Court. In his 
last years on the Court, Frankfurter became 
an outspoken critic of many of the Court’s 
ground-breaking decisions to end racial segre­
gation. He was also the Court’s most ardent ad­
vocate of judicial restraint at the time. Frank­
furter left the Court in 1962 after suffering 
a stroke, so the 1960 Term—documented in 
Arnold’s diary—was for all practical purposes 
Frankfurter’s last full  year.

The fault lines on the Supreme Court are 
apparent not only in Arnold’s diary but also 
in academic assessments of the 1960 Term. 
In many close cases, Warren, Black, Douglas, 

and Brennan found themselves together in dis­
sent. Justices Frankfurter and Douglas were 
the furthest apart; Chief Justice Warren and 
Justice Brennan agreed more often than any 
other two Justices.37 Arnold recognized the 
link between Warren and Brennan, noting on 
one occasion: “The Chief was in to see the 
boss today twice—he seems to look to Justice 
Brennan quite a bit for advice.” 38 There were 
stark ideological differences that year in par­
ticular, resulting in both unusual techniques 

of withholding ultimate constitutional adjudi­
cation and what one observer termed “deeds 
without doctrine”—Court actions without a 

rationale sufficient to provide jurisprudential 
guidance for the future.39

In the 1960 Term, there was only a smat­
tering of civil-rights cases involving race that 
the Supreme Court decided to hear. It was a 
year of retrenchment on racial matters, but the 
Court’s decisions on the Fourteenth Amend­
ment and how it applied to the states would 
have a significant impact on the nation. The 
Court struggled to articulate what obligations

the states must recognize in order to make 
meaningful a national system of individual 

rights. The Supreme Court was in the midst 
of a federalism revolution that many observers 
found astonishing.

Mapp v. Ohio: T h e  E x c lu s io n a ry  R u le HGFEDCBA 

in  S ta te  C r im in a l  P ro s e c u t io n s

The most striking and revolutionary decision 
of the Term was M app v. O hio ,40 which held 

that evidence obtained by a search in viola­
tion of the federal constitution could not be 

admitted in state prosecutions. Nominally a 
6-3 decision, the case resulted in five separate 
opinions. The decision was handed down on 
the last day of the Term, and Arnold’s diary 
explains why it took until then for the Justices 
to work out a resolution. Robert McCloskey, 
reviewing the 1960 Supreme Court Term in the 
A m erican P o litica l Science R eview , said M app 
v. O hio was a development “so spectacularly 

libertarian” that it must play a major part in 
any evaluation of the Term’s results.41

Dollree Mapp, an Ohio woman, had been 
sentenced to seven years in prison for possess­

ing obscene literature, which she claimed she 
was merely storing for a former tenant who 
had left it behind along with other belongings. 
Police officers had searched her home, with­
out a warrant, based upon the allegations of an 
unnamed informant who claimed that a per­
son wanted for a recent bombing was hiding 
there, along with gambling paraphernalia. All  
the police found after an extensive search of 
the home were allegedly obscene books and 

pictures. Those materials—evidence that was 
admittedly seized illegally—were introduced 
in court and resulted in Mapp’s jail sentence.

M app v. O hio came to the Supreme Court 
seemingly as a First Amendment case. The 
lawyers had argued it that way before the 
Court, and the only suggestion that it might 
turn on another provision of the U.S. Con­
stitution came in an amicus brief filed by 
the American Civil Liberties Union. In one
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paragraph, the ACLU suggested instead that 
Dollree Mapp’s conviction was invalid because 
it was based on evidence from an illegal search.

Arnold’s conversations with Brennan re­

flect little early emphasis on the illegal search. 
On a drive home from the Supreme Court, 

Arnold discussed the case with Brennan: “The 
Justice not only thinks that [the Ohio obscenity 
statute is] unconstitutional, but went so far as 

to say the states cannot constitutionally punish 
a man for reading, in private but with prurient 
interests, obscene books. Dan and I disagreed, 
and the Justice labeled us as ‘hopeless reac­
tionaries.’”42

Arnold also recorded a strategy session 
between Warren and Brennan: “The Chief 

came in today to talk over YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM app with the Jus­
tice. He, too, thinks it must be reversed. [Bren­
nan] and Dan and I argued the matter at some 
length again this afternoon. The Justice admits 

he’s in an analytical dilemma, but he is ‘damn 
well going to vote to reverse, anyway.’” 43

The analytical dilemma was this: Three 
years earlier, in a case known as R oth v. 
U n ited Sta tes,44 the Supreme Court redefined 
the constitutional test for obscene material. 
Brennan had written the majority opinion. The 
First Amendment, he said, protected “all ideas 
having even the slightest redeeming social 

importance—unorthodox ideas, controversial 
ideas, even ideas hateful to the prevailing cli­
mate of opinion.”45 But material that would 

qualify as “obscene” received no such pro­
tection: “We hold that obscenity is not within 

the area of constitutionally protected speech or 
press.”46 Obscenity, in turn, was determined 
by “whether to the average person, applying 
contemporary community standards, the dom­
inant theme of the material taken as a whole 
appeals to prurient interest.” 47

The problem, then, was that by all ac­
counts the material in Mapp’s house w as ob­
scene, or at least had been determined to be 

obscene in a state judicial proceeding. There 
were only three dissenters in R oth , so there 
would be no way Brennan could find enough 

votes to reverse Mapp’s conviction on the ba­

sis of the First Amendment while R oth—an 
opinion he had written—was still good law.48

This left the possibility that the Court 

might view the illegal search and seizure at 
Mapp’s house as requiring reversal of her con­
viction. But here again, the analytical dilemma 

was great. An “exclusionary rule” had long 
been applied in federal prosecutions where ev­
idence had been obtained in violation of the 
Fourth Amendment’s prohibition of “unrea­
sonable searches and seizures.”  Such evidence 
could not be used against the defendant at trial. 
But the federal exclusionary rule did not apply 

to state prosecutions, and half of the states at 
that time—including Ohio—still admitted ille­

gally seized evidence in criminal prosecutions. 
Eleven years earlier, in a case titled W olf v. 
C o lo rado ,49 the Supreme Court had concluded 

that the exclusionary rule did not apply to state 

court proceedings. In W olf, four Justices read 
the Fourteenth Amendment to incorporate all 
the protections of the Fourth Amendment in 
state criminal prosecutions, but Frankfurter’s 
majority opinion would not go that far. State 
officials, Frankfurter wrote, need not apply the 
exclusionary rule in state court proceedings.50 
Justice Black went even further. In a concur­
ring opinion in W olf, he said that the failure to 
exclude evidence obtained by an illegal search 
did not violate the Due Process Clause of the 
Fourteenth Amendment.

Later conversations reflect Brennan’s dif­
ficulty with the case: “The Justice is deter­
mined to vote to reverse M app, but he doesn’t 
quite know how. I argued at length with Dan 
and him that since the First Amendment is out 
of the case, that the only way to strike down 
the Ohio statute is to say that to make knowing 
possession a crime is to use an impermissible 
means of implementing the state’s permissi­
ble anti-obscenity policy. Of course, best of all 
would be to overrule W olf and reverse this case 
on the Fourth Amendment, but no one thinks 
there’s a chance of that.” 51

This is precisely what would happen. 
Writing for a bare majority, Justice Clark 
held that Fourth Amendment protections,
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incorporated through the Due Process Clause 
of the Fourteenth Amendment, did require 
state courts to follow the exclusionary rule, 
and overturned YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW olf. The voting was compli­

cated, with the deciding vote falling to Jus­
tice Black, who had voted with the majority in 
JFo//.

At the Friday conference that week, 
Arnold wrote that “ [t]he Chief Justice, Dou­
glas, Brennan, and Clark, were all in fa­
vor to overrule W olf (great effort is to be 
made to get a fifth somewhere for this propo­
sition, to apply the fourth amendment ex­
clusionary rule to states through the 14th 
amendment).” 52

The conference notes also described in­
decision on the part of other Justices about 

whether the case could be decided on First 
Amendment grounds (a decision ultimately re­
jected): “Two—Black, also Douglas—to over­
rule R oth . Two—Harlan, Frankfurter—say it 
violates substantive due process to forbid mere 
possession. Five—The Chief Justice, Brennan, 
Clark, Whittaker, and Potter Stewart—say the 
First Amendment forbids prohibition of mere 

possession; R oth distinguished as involving 
only possession for purposes of sale.” 53

M app v. O/zz'o was not decided at the 
first conference. Instead, that conference be­
gan a series of exchanges between individ­
ual Justices concerning strategies to resolve 

the case. Private meetings of coalitions among 
the Supreme Court were not uncommon in the 
1960 Term, according to Arnold's diary, with 
Frankfurter often the convener.

The most important development was 
Black’s decision on the Fourth Amendment 
question. Arnold wrote: “Black in to see the 

Justice before lunch. He has decided to go 
along with overruling of W olf in M app. He had 
just talked an hour with Clark—is convinced 

that the Fourth Amendment is an empty guar­
antee without the exclusionary rule. He told 
Clark he would join him if  his opinion applied 
the Fourth Amendment to the states, as such, 
as a specific of the Bill of Rights. Naturally 
the Justice is overjoyed. We are not to speak of

B re n n a n  in fo rm e d  h is  c le rk s  th a t  J u s t ic e  F e l ix  F ra n k ­

fu r te r  (p ic tu re d )  h a d  ta k e n  h is  d e fe a t  in  Mapp v e ry HGFEDCBA 

b a d ly  in  c o n fe re n c e .  A c c o rd in g  to  A rn o ld ’ s d ia ry ,  

B re n n a n  to ld  h im :  “ In  c o n fe re n c e  F ra n k fu r te r  b e ­

c a m e  v io le n t .  H e  s h o o k ,  a lm o s t  c r ie d — i t  is  ‘ a  d e a th  

b lo w  fo r  fe d e ra l is m . ’ ”

it to anyone else within the court for the time 
being, however.” 54

Justice Clark had been assigned the major­
ity opinion. His opinion, which he circulated to 
the other Justices, overruled W olf, applied the 
exclusionary rule to the states, and made that 

the sole ground of reversal. As Arnold noted, 
Clark held “ that the Fourteenth Amendment 

absorbs or incorporates the Fourth Amend­
ment as such and in full.” This was appar­
ently too much for Frankfurter. When Frank­
furter received the M app circulation, Arnold 
wrote, “he took one look and shot off down 
the hall in a great hurry, perhaps to see 
Clark.” 55

Clark received complaining letters from 
two Justices who would end up among those
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dissenting in the case, “one from Potter Stew­
art (as YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW olf was not discussed at conference, 

and was raised only by ACLU as amicus), one 
from Harlan (four pages insisting that the ex­
clusionary rule is not a constitutional require­
ment even in the federal courts).” 56

Frankfurter took his defeat in M app as a 
personal affront, and he looked for ways to 
change the result even after Clark’s opinion 
had gained a majority. According to Arnold (as 
reported by Brennan, whom Arnold referred to 

as “ the Justice”  or “ the boss” ):

In conference Frankfurter became vi­
olent. He shook, almost cried—it is 
“a death blow for federalism.” He 
demanded reargument—which was 
voted down, five to four. Most of the 
tirade was aimed straight at the boss 
[Brennan], who said “ I ’ve had things 
said to me today that haven’t been 
said since I was a child.”  Frankfurter 
said he would vote against the pro­
cedure of the decision—question not 

fully  argued, counsel incompetent, no 
thorough survey of state law, wrong 
to go on a ground which divides the 

court when it unanimously believes 
the Ohio statute is unconstitutional. 
Frankfurter wants special counsel ap­
pointed to argue the states’ case, with 
a team of experts to study state law.
The Justice said he and Clark were the 
only calm ones there. Brennan told 
me, “Finally I got fed up and said 
as calmly as possible, ‘ I can’t help 
thinking all this furor is directed only 

to the result in this case, not to the 
circumstances of reaching it.’” That 
made Felix furious.57

Brennan told Arnold that he had “never seen 
Harlan so exercised. He’s going to write a bit­
ter dissent on the affront to collegial spirit of 
the court.” Stewart and Whittaker also were 

troubled about “ turning M app into an unex­
pected vehicle for overruling W olf, but that 
they will  join the court on the merits.”  Arnold

records that Harlan, Frankfurter, Stewart, and 

Whittaker had met privately before the con­
ference to plan their attack. Brennan said, “ I 
would have been more impressed if  I hadn’t 
known it was planned.” Frankfurter and Har­

lan planned to file dissents after the term was 
over. Frankfurter said it would take him at least 
ten months to write his dissent.58

Along the way, Brennan worried that 
Black was “getting cold feet” and might ask 
for re-argument. If he did, Arnold wrote, 

Clark would “withdraw his whole opinion, and 
rewrite to hold the Ohio statute unconstitu­
tional under the First Amendment.” 59 Black 

thought M app would be “ the most damned 
case of the term.” 60

M app became the subject of yet another 
conference of the Justices, the last collective 
discussion of M app before the end of the Term. 
“At conference Frankfurter said M app is the 
worst tragedy since D red Sco tt. Justice Bren­
nan says he means it. A  note from the Justice in 
conference says M app will  not come down [on 
Monday]. The conference was long—lasted 
until 2:15 p.m. M app was the subject of much 
argument.” 61

Justice Black resolved his dilemma over 
W olf with an explanation in a concurring 

opinion. In W olf, Black had characterized the 
exclusionary rule to be merely “a judicially 
created rule of evidence,”  not required by the 
Fourth Amendment. In M app, Black wrote, “ I 
am still not persuaded that the Fourth Amend­
ment, standing alone, would be enough to bar 
the introduction into evidence against an ac­
cused of papers and effects seized in violation 
of its commands.”  Nevertheless, a “more thor­
ough understanding of the problem” led him 

to conclude that “ the Fifth Amendment’s ban 
against compelled self-incrimination”  was the 
true basis of the exclusionary rule.62 To ac­

cept the Black position would have required 

the Court to “ incorporate”  the privilege against 
self-incrimination within the due process pro­
tections of the Fourteenth Amendment.63 The 

Supreme Court would not take this step until 
1964.64
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The debate between Frankfurter and Bren­
nan (along with Black) over incorporation was 
of long standing. Arnold recorded an amusing 
exchange between Brennan and Frankfurter 
toward the end of the Term: “Last night at 
11 p.m., the Justice [Brennan], who had gone 
to sleep, got a call from Frankfurter. Frank­
furter said ‘Potter? Potter Stewart? Potter?’ 
The Justice said, ‘This is Bill. ’ Felix said, 
‘Oh, all right, I wanted to talk to you, too.’ ”  
Frankfurter brought up an opinion Brennan 
had circulated in a case involving search war­
rants for allegedly obscene material. Frank­
furter told Brennan his opinion was “sub­
stantially all right,” but Frankfurter wanted 
the case to go on the Fourteenth Amendment 

alone, with no reference to the First. “ ‘You’re 
throwing absorption in my face,’ he said. The 
Justice said he had no such design, and agreed 
to alter the opinion.” 65

Arnold preferred the view openly ex­
pressed by Black that “ incorporation” of the 

individual guarantees of the Bill  of Rights in 
the Constitution against state action should be 

total and should result from the Privileges and 
Immunities Clause. As Arnold described Jus­
tice Brennan’s position on incorporation of the 

Bill  of Rights,

He didn’t go as far as Black. He 
wanted to incorporate only some pro­
visions. And I never did understand 
how you would decide which you 
would incorporate and which you 
wouldn’ t. And I don’t think that any­
body has ever answered that question 
satisfactorily.66

The explicit overruling of a recent 
Supreme Court decision—YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW olf v. C o lo rado , 
decided in 1949—was a rare step for the War­
ren Court. The line-up in M app, expressed in 
five separate opinions, represented only five 
votes to reverse W olf, with the primary ratio­
nale for doing so receiving only a four-vote 
plurality (Warren, Clark, Douglas, and Bren­
nan). Justice Black wrote that a combination 
of the Fifth and Fourth Amendments, rather

than the Fourteenth Amendment’s Due Process 
Clause, required states to follow the exclusion­
ary rule.67 Justice Stewart, in a two-sentence 
separate opinion, had concurred in the judg­
ment solely on First Amendment grounds, oth­
erwise joining Justice Harlan’s dissent.68

The dissenters—Harlan, Frankfurter, and 
Whittaker—refused to apply the exclusionary 
rule to the states. Harlan wrote, “ I think it fair 
to say that five members of this Court have 
simply ‘reached out’ to overrule W olf. With 
all respect for the views of the majority, and 
recognizing that sta re dec is is carries different 
weight in Constitutional adjudication than it 
does in nonconstitutional decision, I can per­
ceive no justification for regarding this case 

as an appropriate occasion for re-examining 
W oifc69

In 1983, then-retired Justice Stewart 
spoke about the case in his Harlan Fiske Stone 
lecture at Columbia Law School.70 Stewart 

said, “ I was shocked when Justice Clark’s pro­
posed Court opinion reached my desk. I im­
mediately wrote him a note expressing my 
surprise and questioning the wisdom of over­
ruling an important doctrine in a case in which 
the issue was not briefed, argued, or discussed 
by the state courts, by the parties’ counsel, 
or at our conference following the oral argu­
ment.” More than two decades after the deci­
sion, Stewart maintained his concern that “a 
first amendment controversy was transformed 
into perhaps the most important search-and- 
seizure decision in history.” 71

There are several other accounts in print 
of the machinations behind M app v. O hio?2 

Arnold’s version, recorded from his conver­
sations with Justice Brennan, is largely con­
sistent with these earlier stories. It confirms, 
for instance, Justice Stewart’s suspicion that 
“ the members of the soon-to-be M app major­
ity had met in a ... ‘rump caucus’ to discuss a 
different basis for their decision.” 73 Arnold’s 
diary adds color and detail, especially in the 
period after it was clear to the dissenters that 
W olf would be overturned. Frankfurter’s histri­
onic comparison of M app to the D red Sco tt



MAPPRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA IA  OHIO R E V IS IT E D : A  L A W  C L E R K ’ S  D IA R Y 6 5 zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

decision at conference, presumably on feder­
alism grounds, is especially informative. YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM app 
was, after all, a “major step away from Frank­
furter’s reading of the Due Process Clause.” 74

O th e r  D iv id in g  L in e s  in  th e  1 9 6 0  T e rm

In its lasting effects, M app v. O hio was the 
most significant decision of the Supreme 
Court’s 1960 Term. But there were other mo­
mentous cases that year that Court watchers 
likely anticipated to be of greater moment than 
a case about obscenity. Some of these cases 
further inform the divisions on the Court that 

were evident in M app.

In the 1960 Term, the Supreme Court 
heard a number of cases related to Com­
munist party activities—real or imaginary— 

and the efforts of Congress and the states to 
stamp out “subversion.” In the cases involv­

ing the “communist menace,” as McCloskey 
summarized, “ [t]he Court, with minor excep­

tions, held against the individual and in favor 
of governmental power.” 75 Many of the deci­
sions were 5-4, with Brennan often notably in 
dissent.

One of the more surprising racial-rights 
decisions of the Term, according to con­
temporary observers, G om illion v. L igh tfoo t16 

involved gerrymandered city elections in 
Tuskegee, Alabama, which excluded from vot­
ing all but 4 or 5 of its 400 former Negro res­
idents. The Supreme Court held that the leg­
islature had affirmatively acted to deny the 
vote on rac ia l grounds, specifically forbid­
den by the Fifteenth Amendment.77 G om illion 
thus stood for the proposition that electoral 
apportionment is subject to challenge on the 
ground of racial discrimination. In the same 

Term, the Court had agreed to hear B aker v. 
C arr1* a more general challenge to appor­

tionment schemes that left some populations 
within a state proportionately less represented. 
The G om illion opinion was assigned to Felix 

Frankfurter.
At Warren’s urging, the Court had previ­

ously presented a unanimous front on racial

cases, most notably B row n v. B oard o f E du­

ca tion and C ooper v. A aron . But one Justice 

was convinced that the case should turn on 
the Equal Protection Clause. “Charles Whit­

taker has circulated a short concurrence in 
T uskegee,”  Arnold wrote, “ in spite of the var­
ious Justices’ efforts to persuade him not to 

last night at the Chiefs black-tie dinner. The 
Justice said all the wives were disgusted at the 
conversations all being taken up with this sub­
ject.” 79

Whittaker would not be dissuaded, and 
his concurrence set out the path the Court 
would take in B aker v. C arr, a case that was 
argued, but not decided, that year. The follow­
ing year, B aker v. C arr yielded one of Jus­
tice Brennan’s most important opinions.80 It 

also yielded Frankfurter’s last opinion of any 

sort—a dissent. Warren called B aker v. C arr 
“ the most vital decision” during his service 
on the Court.81 B aker v. C arr would be polit­

ically more explosive than the Tuskegee case 
because it permitted federal courts to examine 
state apportionment on general equality prin­
ciples (“one man, one vote” ), not solely for 
overt racial manipulation of elections.

The case was originally argued that 
spring. Frankfurter and Stewart were primarily 
responsible for the decision to reargue the case 
in the following year. Arnold’s diary records 

the following account:

Frankfurter filibustered for 90 min­
utes before lunch, and it was all di­
rected at Whittaker, who had been 
openly for appellants at the argu­
ment, more than any other Justice, 
and who had spoken brave words 
about the plain duty of courts to en­
force the Constitution. Frankfurter 

conducted a parade of horribles, play­
ing on Whittaker’s fears. “He scared 
the hell out of him,”  the Justice said.
“ ft worked. He certainly knows his 
man.” Whittaker became very ner­
vous, his lip trembled. Frankfurter 
started out by citing the morning’s
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papers, which recount the U.S.’s hor­
rible blunder in Cuba, caused by lack 
of foresight. Frankfurter said “Let’s 

not make the same mistake here. 
Do you realize the terrible difficul ­
ties you would place the court in? 
Look ahead, not just in front of your 
noses. Look before you act!”  He then 
launched into a very detailed, erudite, 
and effective lecture on the political 
question cases. His voice was grave, 
his arms wildly  gesticulating. Harlan 
and Clark went solidly with Frank­

furter. The Chief Justice, Black, Dou­
glas, and the boss were firm to re­
verse. That left the case up to Whit­
taker and Potter Stewart.82

At the following week’s conference, the Jus­
tices decided YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB aker v. C arr would be rear­
gued, at the request of Stewart. Arnold wrote 
that Stewart “needs the summer to make up his 
mind. Whittaker says he’s relieved—had grave 
doubts about his vote to affirm.” 83

In between the two conferences, Frank­

furter had “worked on” Whittaker in partic­
ular. Arnold wrote: “Black called the Justice 
today—he said that Whittaker had called him 
over the weekend, was very troubled over the 
position he had taken on B aker v. C arr at the 
conference of April 21, wanted to come see 
Black. He did so, they had long colloquy. Whit­
taker left saying he was solid to reverse. Later 
in the week Frankfurter had a private meeting 

of Clark, Harlan, Potter Stewart, and Whit­
taker, and beat Whittaker down again.” 84

Arnold’s report of the maneuvers in B aker 
v. C arr ended there. When the case was rear­
gued the following fall, Arnold had completed 
his clerkship for Justice Brennan.

Racial equality in public accommoda­
tion was also largely a development for the 
future, not the 1960 Term. Yet Arnold ob­
served the careful and cautious approach of 
the Justices to matters of race. He recorded, 
for instance, an anecdote from Brennan about

efforts to avoid unnecessary confrontation 
with segregationists:

The Justice told me last Satur­
day that no Supreme Court opin­
ion on schools has ever used the 
word “ integration”—only “desegre­
gation.” In the two B row n cases this 
was pure chance. But not so in A aron 
v. C ooper. While the Justice was sit­

ting on his porch one day writing the 
opinion in that case, his next-door 
neighbor, an NBC-TV news man, 
came over and told him that at a 
meeting of the full  NBC news staff it 
had been decided not to use the word 

“ integration” over the air because (it 
was thought) in the South that word 
connoted racial intermarriage. So the 
next day at conference, at the Justice’s 
suggestion, it was decided not to use 
the word in the opinion.85

The agreement not to use the word “ inte­
gration”  did not survive the Term. Arnold de­

scribed a visit from Black to Brennan’s office 
in late February. The purpose was to discuss 
two cases involving contempt prosecutions by 
the House Un-American Activities Commit­
tee (HUAC). Black was “most anxious to get 
the Justice to join his dissents in B raden*6 and 
W ilk inson*1 but the Justice wouldn’t budge, 
although he again asked Dan and me what we 
thought.” 88 Brennan also dissented in those 

cases, in which the majority narrowly affirmed 
the convictions, but he would not join Black’s 
dissents, which were far more strident on the 
First Amendment. Black believed Braden’s ha­
rassment by HUAC had to do not with al­

leged communist sympathies, but with the 
fact that Braden had promoted “ racial inte­
gration” in the south. Arnold later reported: 
“Black’s B raden uses the word ‘ integration.’  
The Justice said he forgot to remind Hugo 
Black of the court’s practice of not using that 
word.” 89
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When Earl Warren stepped down as Chief Jus­

tice of the Supreme Court in 1969, the War­
ren Court’s near-complete incorporation of the 
Bill  of Rights into the Fourteenth Amendment 

meant that there was no longer any signifi­
cant difference between rights applicable in 
federal courts and rights applicable in state 
courts.90 The most liberal period of the War­

ren Court—1962 to 1969—was a due-process 
revolution.91

In the late 1960s, as public concern with 
crime and violence became a feature of po­
litical debate, Richard Nixon ran for presi­
dent in 1968 as a critic of the Warren Court’s 

rulings in favor of criminal defendants, es­
pecially the Court’s decision in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM iranda v. 
A rizona .92 Immediately after the M iranda de­

cision, Congress enacted a statute ostensibly 

overruling the case to make “voluntary”  state­
ments admissible.93 Nearly all of these later 

decisions from the Warren Court are still good 
law, however, despite later attempts to staff the 
Court with nominees willing  to undo some or 
all of this legacy.

Although the Supreme Court’s strides in 
favor of civil rights and civil liberties in the 
1960 Term were small in comparison with the 
earlier great leap forward in B row n v. B oard o f 

E duca tion , McCloskey concluded at the time 
that “ the signs of forward movement in the 
field of criminal procedure... seem unmistak­
able.”94 The M app decision, he wrote, stood 

out “ like a beacon, perhaps even portending a 
general erosion of the scruples about federal­
ism that have heretofore retarded movement of 
this kind.” 95

As was apparent to Arnold, the compo­
sition of the Court was an important factor. 
The most liberal of the Warren Court’s deci­
sions on criminal procedure and racial equal­
ity occurred after Frankfurter was no longer a 

member of the Court.
Brennan and Arnold began a lifelong 

correspondence.96 The two remained close

friends until Brennan’s death in 1997, at the 
age of ninety-one. Later in his life, Arnold re­
butted the view that Justice Brennan molded 
the Warren Court through the force of his per­
sonality:

Personality, no doubt, is important.
Judges are human beings. They 

live in bodies and react on a per­
sonal level. But judges do not cast 
votes simply because their backs are 
slapped in a particularly engaging 
way. What Justice Brennan did, he 
did as a lawyer and as a judge, and his 
mastery of the English language, of 
the history of the Constitution, and of 

the technical aspects of the law played 
at least as big a part in his success at 

constructing majorities as the warmth 
of his personality and manner.97

By the end of the 1960-1961 Term, Bren­
nan’s weariness was apparent to his clerks. It 
was marked in one respect by Brennan’s open­
ness with his clerks about his fears for the 
Court: “The other day in the car going home 
the Justice said sadly the court is deteriorating 
to the point where Justices, especially Black, 
Frankfurter, and Harlan, are more concerned 

with maintaining the integrity of their own 
constitutional positions than with getting a de­
cision in particular cases.” 98

Arnold observed how Brennan coped with 
the relentless parade of controversies to be 
decided. In his later years as a judge on the 
Eighth Circuit, Arnold learned to appreciate 

what Brennan and the other Justices faced:

Justice Brennan would come back 
from a conference with his notebook 
and sit down with us and go over the 
cases they had discussed, and tell us 
what the Court was going to do. Ex­
cept on days when he was too tired, 
and on those days, he’d just give us 
the notebook. I never did understand 

why it would make somebody so tired 
to sit in a room and talk about the law
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for a couple of hours, until 1 did it 
myself with a bunch of other judges.
And now I understand it."

The perspective portrayed in Arnold’s di­
ary reveals the evolution of Justice William 
Brennan to become, as Morton Horwitz wrote, 
“ the most important intellectual influence 
on the Warren Court.” 100 But relationships 
among the Justices were also significant 
drivers for the outcome in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM app v. O hio . The 
Justices were passionate. Arnold’s recount of 
the decision in M app is instructive for the 
level of disagreement and temper it reveals. 
This episode enhances our understanding of 
the division-creating federalism issues in the 

early stages of the Warren Court’s due-process 
revolution.
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In 1893, Chicago attorney Ellen Martin sent an invitation to her sisters in law to at­
tend a first ever Congress of Women Lawyers, a convention to be held in conjunction with 
the Chicago World’s Fair. Her announcement went out to “All  women in the United States 
and elsewhere who have been admitted to the bar of a court of record or graduated from 

a law school.” Martin and Fredrika Perry, her law partner, had chronicled the rise of the 
woman lawyer in an 1887 article titled “Admission of Women to the Bar.” 2 Thanks to their 

survey and the 1890 national census, Martin knew there were more than 200 female attor­
neys in the United States—what we may think of as the first generation of U.S. women 
lawyers.3 Speculating that many of them would come to a meeting that coincided with the 

World’s Fair, Martin made the argument that her sisters needed to form a professional as­

sociation for the purpose of learning from each other and binding themselves more closely 
together.

Three dozen women of this first 
generation—including three members of the 
U.S. Supreme Court bar—answered the call, 
meeting for three warm August days in the 
shadow of the dazzling new Ferris wheel called

“ the wonder of two continents.”4 During the 
official program, several of the older women 
reminisced about their early struggle against 
discrimination, but most of the speakers es­
chewed the opportunity to discuss personal
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T h e  f irs t e v e r C o n g re s sHGFEDCBA 

o f W o m e n L a w y e rs  

c o n v e n e d in 1 8 9 3 in  

c o n ju n c t io n w ith th e  

C h ic a g o  W o r ld ’s F a ir .zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

experience, talking instead about contempo­
rary legal and political issues.5 Lawyer and 
Republican party activist .1. Ellen Foster spoke 
about naturalization and election laws. Mary 
Ellen Lease, the fiery Kansas Populist some­

times dubbed “Yellin ’ Mary,” used a lawyer’s 
perspective to analyze political movements. 
California attorney Clara Foltz chose not to 
present her proposal for an office of pub­
lic defender, instead delivering a new, eso­
teric talk titled “Evolution of the Law.” For­

mer presidential candidate (1884 and 1888) 

Belva Lockwood, deeply involved in the in­
ternational peace movement, unsurprisingly 
used the time allotted to her to present the 
case for a permanent international court of 
arbitration.

These and other talks reflected the intel­
lectual prowess of this first generation, barely 
a quarter of a century after they had battled, 

cajoled, petitioned, and litigated their way into 
the profession of law.
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In 1865, at the conclusion of the American 
Civil  War, the idea of equal rights filled the air. 
In the optimistic decade that followed, a small 
group of women imagined that they might act 

on their aspirations to become lawyers. It was 
a radical ambition. Law was an all-male pro­

fession and most Americans believed that any 
woman who did not need to work outside her 
home or farm ought not to. Nevertheless, the 
thought of equality was addicting, and these 
women marched forward, reading law with fa­
thers and brothers, knocking on law-school 
doors, and petitioning county, state, and fed­
eral courts for bar privileges.YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

W here these women lived and w h ich law- 

school deans and judges they encountered m at­

te red . Columbia University Law School re­
fused to admit women in 1868 (and until 1927), 

while within two years of that date Washington 
University in St. Louis, Union College (later 

Northwestern), and the University of Michigan 
permitted female law students to matriculate. 
In progressive counties and states, judges ac­
cepted motions to admit women attorneys to 
the bar.

Elsewhere, however, courts declined to 

extend bar privileges to women, using the 
dodges of the common law, statutes employing 

the pronoun “he,”  woman’s proper place, and 
God’s intentions. When Myra Bradwell chal­
lenged her exclusion from the practice of law, 
U.S. Supreme Court Justice Joseph Bradley, 
in a concurring opinion, rejected her claim 
of Fourteenth Amendment rights, declaring it 
“ the law of the Creator”  that woman’s destiny 
should be limited to the “noble and benign 
offices of wife and mother.”6 In 1875, two 
years after the B radw ell decision, Wisconsin 
supreme court chief justice Edward Ryan also 
invoked Victorian mores in denying Lavinia 
Goodell’s petition for state bar membership. 
He wrote that licensing her would mean “a 
sweeping revolution of social order.” Nature 

had not, he argued, “ tempered woman for ju­
ridical conflicts,”  and he believed that it would 
be “ revolting”  that “woman should be permit­
ted to mix professionally in all the nastiness 
of the world which finds its way into courts of 
justice; all the unclean issues, all the collateral 
questions of sodomy, incest, rape, seduction, 
fornication, adultery, pregnancy, bastardy, ille­
gitimacy, prostitution, lascivious cohabitation, 

abortion, infanticide, obscene publications, li ­
bel and slander of sex, impotence, divorce: all 
the nameless catalogue of indecencies ... with 
which the profession has to deal, and which go 
toward filling  judicial reports which must be 
read for accurate knowledge of the law. This 
is bad enough for men ... Reverence for all 

womanhood would suffer in the public specta­
cle of woman so instructed and so engaged.” 7

Ultimately, where women faced reasoning 

of this kind, they won bar privileges only by 
lobbying state legislatures or, in the case of 
the federal courts, Congress. In 1879, Goodell 
found relief from Ryan’s ruling in the more 
democratic spirit of the Wisconsin legislature. 

In the same year, Congress passed the an­
tidiscrimination legislation long lobbied for by 
Washington, D.C. attorney Lockwood, a bill  
that opened the entire federal bar to all quali­
fied women lawyers.
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What did the firs t ge ne ratio n o f American 
women lawyers do with this hard-won pro­
fessional privilege? Put succinctly, they did 
everything that law and custom did not pre­
vent. The first generation was not invited into 
the developing areas of corporate and rail­
road law; they did not wear the black robes 
of a judge; and, although male lawyers filled 
the ranks of legislatures and foreign diplo­
matic missions, presidents refused to appoint 
women to diplomatic office just as the pub­
lic refused to elect them to assemblies and 

senates.
The first generation did practice civil  and 

criminal law, solo and in partnership, back 

office and courtroom. They were deeply in­
volved in reform, lobbying extensively on the 
major cause issues of their day, including 
suffrage, temperance, race (where they were 
not always on the side of the angels), prison 
conditions, and international peace. They 
authored countless books, articles, and news­
paper columns. They pursued parallel careers 
as lecturers. In 1876, Lockwood tried to open 
a law school for women in Washington, D.C.; 

twenty years later, lawyers Ellen Mussey and 
Emma Gillett succeeded. Several ventured into 
politics. Whatever they did, after each success, 
they reached higher—enlarging their law prac­
tices, writing more, lobbying more, seeking 
ways to use their knowledge of the law to shape 
and order their society.

Myra Bradwell of Chicago made her mark 
in two ways. As I have said, in 1873 she chal­
lenged the refusal of the supreme court of Illi ­
nois to admit her to its bar by appealing to the 

U.S. Supreme Court. The Justices of that Court 
ruled, 8 to 1, that Illinois had the right to con­
trol and regulate the practice of law, and that 
Bradwell was not protected by the Privileges 
and Immunities Clause of the recently ratified 
Fourteenth Amendment. This was, of course, 
a terrible setback for the women’s rights move­
ment in general and professional rights in par­
ticular, requiring thereafter that women attor­

neys lobby for antidiscrimination legislation 
before Congress and in countless state legisla­

tures.
Bradwell was far more successful—a ge­

nius, really—in quite another endeavor. In 
1868, she started the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAC h icago L ega l N ew s, 

an official reporter for the state of Illinois. 
According to Jane Friedman, her biographer, 
Bradwell had to obtain a special charter from 
the Illinois legislature under which she could 
operate as publisher and business manager 
“without the legal handicaps that ordinarily 
encumbered married women.” 8

She never practiced, even after Illinois ad­
mitted women lawyers to its bar. Instead, she 
built the publication of legal news, statutes, 
and appellate court reports (state and fed­
eral) and the printing of legal forms into a 
very profitable and respected business em­
pire. At first, she capitalized on the lag time 
between the passage of laws and the Illi ­
nois government’s publication of those laws. 

By reprinting the statutes, she saved lawyers 
and judges a trip to Springfield, the capital, 
to read the originals. In a particularly savvy 

move, she obtained from the legislature a spe­
cial charter that made all laws printed in her 
newspaper “valid as ‘evidence of the exis­

tence and contents of such laws before all 
courts in Illinois.’ ” 9 A number of nineteenth- 

century men built similar enterprises. Brad­
well, however, distinguished herself by making 
this mainstream legal publication an important 

source of information about women profes­
sionals and the women’s-rights movement— 
a tool, Friedman writes, with which to wage 

war “on the legal and social inequities of her 
day.” 10

Bradwell took great pleasure in writing 
about the women who established their own 
law practices. This included Lockwood, Good­
ell, and Ada Bittenbender, attorney for the 
Woman’s Christian Temperance Union, as well 
as Mary Hall, Lelia Robinson, Clara Foltz, and 
Laura Gordon.
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e ve r, co ns ide r he rs e lf a YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAw om an s lawy e r, de­
s p ite he r inte re s t in the inade qu acie s o f the 
m arrie d wo m e n’s property laws. Quite to the 
contrary, in 1875, after the county judge ap­
pointed her to represent two young men ac­
cused of robbing a store, she became deeply 
interested in male criminals and prison condi­
tions. For the remaining five years of her short 
life, she threw herself into the additional work 
of penal reform and prisoner literacy. In a sage 
letter to her sister, she wrote, “The jails are 
schools of vice and crime ... Jails and prisons 

could just as well be made schools of virtue 
... if  the people chose to have it so and would 
give a very little thought to the subject.” 13

L A V IN IA  G O O D E L L

Lavinia Goodell, the target of Wisconsin judge 
Ryan’s Victorian mores, grew up in Utica, New 
York. She spent her twenties working in pub­
lishing, often for her father, who edited an 
antislavery paper. In the early 1870s, having 
moved with her parents to Wisconsin, Good­
ell, perhaps knowing about Bradwell and the 
handful of other “ first”  women lawyers, made 
the decision to read law. She also began attend­
ing trials in her new hometown of Janesville. In 

1874, she passed the bar exam. She was first 
hired by temperance women from a nearby 
community who were seeking an attorney with 
sufficient moxie to help in the prosecution of 
two businessmen said to be selling liquor on 
Sunday. Goodell succeeded in the local jus­
tice court. When the two convictions were ap­
pealed to the circuit court, she won against 
one defendant and sufficiently discouraged the 
other “ that he gave up his business.” 11 Equally 

important, she won praise for her courtroom 
skills from the judge and members of the lo­

cal bar who had come to watch. A month 
later, she won a financial judgment for a male 
client, prompting the editor of the Janesv ille 
G azette to report that she had “managed the 
case with considerable ease and ability.” 12 
Goodell had many female clients whose legal 
concerns often involved divorce proceedings 
or probate matters, and occasionally criminal 
charges such as shoplifting. She did not, how­

M A R Y  H A L L

Women began practicing law in several of 
the New England states in the early 1880s. 
In Connecticut, Mary Hall was admitted 
to the bar following what Matthew Berger, 

her biographer, describes as a (landmark) 
equal protection state court decision.14 In 

preparing for a career in law, Hall had been 
given a copy of Kent’s C o m m e n ta r ie s o n  
A m e r ic a n L a w — but no encouragement— 

by her attorney brother. She fared better in 
the chambers of John Hooker, Clerk of the 
Supreme Court of Errors and husband of 
prominent suffrage leader Isabella Beecher 
Hooker. John Hooker was a mentor with whom 
the young attorney later practiced.
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Hall confined herself to office work, spe­
cializing in probate law. She nearly always 
refused to appear in court. She argued that 
“public sentiment would be much against a 
woman’s speaking in court.” 15 Her stance 
was much debated, and not infrequently de­
plored, by other women lawyers. The dis­

pute, of course, centered on the propriety of 
public speaking and whether it would “unsex”  
a woman.

The purely professional issue was equally 
weighty: would women attorneys have an 
unfair advantage with all-male juries, thus 
putting in peril the very foundation of the 

American judicial system? Law professor Bar­
bara Babcock writes of one (male) opposing 
counsel who held nothing back in stating just 
this fear: “Lady lawyers [are] dangerous to 
justice inasmuch as an impartial jury would 
be YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAim possib le when a lovely woman pleaded 
the case of the criminal.” 16 Women lawyers 
would “produce the wrong results” by cloud­
ing the reasoning abilities of witnesses, juries, 
and even judges.17

C A T H A R IN E  W A U G H  M C C U L L O C H

Catharine McCulloch, married and eventu­
ally the mother of four, was one of the

attorneys who found Hall’s decision to hand 
court appearances off to male colleagues 
deeply disturbing. She was a member of the 
Equity Club, a women-lawyers correspon­
dence group, and in 1888 she circulated a let­
ter in which she stated, “Some bristling ag­
gressive woman lawyer ought to stir up those 

slow moving people [who confine themselves 
to back office work] or Miss Hall had better 
come to Illinois where it is just as honorable 
for a woman to talk publicly to men as in pri­
vate.” 18

McCulloch, born in the state of New York 
and transplanted to the Midwest, graduated in 
1886 from Chicago’s Union College of Law. 
She was not shy in criticizing Hall, nor was 
she reluctant to publish a tell-all account of 
the discrimination that she faced when, not yet 
married, she set out to find a legal position in 
the “Windy City.”

Many friends advised me to settle in
Chicago and capture my share of the 
large fees floating about. So 1 de­
cided to get a clerkship in some first 

class law firm ... Other classmates 
were doing the same already and why 
not I? [X] gave me a list of good 
men and firms and wrote me per­
sonal letters to several. Armed with 
these and letters and recommenda­
tions from two Judges friends of mine 

and the College Professors 1 sallied 
forth to seek my fortune. I sailed out 
inflated with enthusiasm and confi­

dence in my own abilities. I dragged 
myself back collapsed with chagrin 
and failure.

Mr E whose sister was a friend ... 
had more clerks than he knew what 
to do with.

Mr W. was glad to make my ac­
quaintance but... [it]  was the wrong 
season of the year to look for such a 
place.
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Mr J. p re fe rre d the he lp o f his 
two s o ns and m u s t als o co nfe s s he 
dis ap p ro ve d o f wo m e n s te p p ing o u t 

o f the ir tru e s p he re , the ho m e . This 
of course led to some discussion the 
nature of which you can no doubt 
imagine.

Pompous Judge J. never knew of 

anyone who needed a clerk ... [and 
spoke] with his eyes still clinging to 
his newspaper.

Bristly, bullet headed little Mr. B. 

exclaimed vehemently “ I don’ t ap­
prove of women at the bar, they cant 
[sic] stand the racket. I would prefer 
to find a place for my daughter in 
someone’s kitchen and I advise you 
to ... go home and take in sewing”
... I assured him it was not in de­
fault of having opportunities to en­
ter kitchens that I wished to do law 
work... inwardly reflecting that only 
when I had defeated that pettifogger 
in some illustrious lawsuit would he 

be fully answered. Take in sewing 
at 60 cents a dozen for fine shirts?
No thank you. He can make shirts 
himself.19

McCulloch’s experience suggests that large 
cities were not necessarily receptive to women 

attorneys.
McCulloch retreated to her hometown of 

Rockford. She rented a modest office, boarded 
with her parents until her marriage, and had 
some paying clients whose fees, she wrote, 
“kept her from debt.”20 The local male attor­

neys and court officials in this small town were 
friendly and helpful. In turn, she began a life­
long practice of assisting poor women who 
needed legal services. Writing another Equity 
Club letter in 1889, she said, “When the client 
is a poor woman who cannot afford to pay 
anything I call that a free dispensary case and 
rejoice that I had an opportunity to learn some 
new point there.” 21

In 1890, she married a local attorney and 
joined his practice, bringing in her own clients. 
She was active in suffrage and temperance. 

In 1888, she accepted nomination as the Pro­
hibition party candidate for state’s attorney 
and ran 200 votes ahead of the party ticket. 
In 1907, McCulloch was elected justice of the 
peace in Evanston, Illinois, the first woman 
to hold the position in that state. She used 

it to educate the public about women’s abil­
ities and to argue the case for woman suf­

frage (McCulloch had, of course, been elected 
by male voters). Florence E. Allen, the first 
woman to serve as a federal appeals judge 
(confirmed in 1934), is said to have told 
McCulloch that her election as justice of 
the peace encouraged Allen’s own early bid 
for judicial office at the Court of Common 
Pleas.22

Boston, Massachusetts was no kinder to 
Lelia Robinson than Chicago had been to Mc­
Culloch. In 1881, Robinson, a talented jour­

nalist, graduated fourth in her Boston Univer­
sity Law School class. Like a number of first- 
generation women lawyers, she found that her 
admission to the bar was not automatic. Dur­
ing her first two years of practice, Robinson, 
like Hall in nearby Connecticut, chose office 
work, also believing that it would protect the 
interests of her clients to have male attorneys 
argue for her in court.23

Ironically, Robinson’s conservative ap­
proach did not help her in building a prac­
tice. She had neither brother nor husband nor 
mentor to help. Boston was, she wrote, a city 
where people trusted their legal affairs to “gray 

hairs.”24 Lacking clients, she turned to the 
writing of a law book to occupy her time. She 
produced L a w  M a d e E a s y , a volume for the 
lay public, who needed, she believed, to have a 
basic knowledge of the law written and sum­
marized “ in clear, simple language.” 25 The 
book received high marks from lawyers and 

judges.
Legal writing, however, did not com­

pletely satisfy Robinson, who wanted a full
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legal practice. With a promise from her par­
ents and sister that they would join her, 

she moved to the West Coast, believing 
that in the Washington Territory, which had 
recently voted women suffrage as well as 

the right to serve on juries, she might find 
less conservative people. She arrived in Seat­

tle with a letter of introduction from the 
wife of the president of the Northern Pa­
cific Railroad and quickly found professional 
support.

Encouraged by local Judge Roger Sher­
man Greene and John Haines, a successful 
trial lawyer, Robinson learned trial advocacy. 
Greene appointed her counsel for a prisoner 
the first court term after she arrived.26 Al ­

though fearful, she was pleased to discover 
a talent for this work and later wrote in an Eq­
uity Club letter that “ the public ... judges a 
woman lawyer as it does a man, largely by his 
success or non-success in court, and if  one is 
never seen or heard there, one’s abilities are 
a matter of serious doubt.” 27 Robinson built 

a practice handling civil and criminal cases. 
A local newspaper reported that she “has been 
winning cases from the best lawyers of the Ter­
ritory, and people now talk about making her 
a judge.” 28

Despite the welcome and her professional 
success, Robinson returned to Boston (her 
family had not joined her). She re-established 
her local practice, now doing trial work along 

with probate cases and women’s-wage media­
tion.29 Like McCulloch, she opened her office 

on Saturdays to women for free consultations. 
Hoping to educate women all over the coun­
try, she wrote a second book. The ONMLKJIHGFEDCBAL a w  o f  H u s­

b a n d  a n d  W ife ,  at about the same time that she 
published her now well-known YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAG reen B ag arti­
cle, “Women Lawyers in the United States.” 30 
When she died, at the age of forty-one, Robin­
son was writing a third book, W il ls  a n d I n ­

h e r i ta n c e s , and was deeply involved in her 
work for the Nationalist political movement, 

which drew on the utopian ideas of Edward 
Bellamy.

C L A R A  F O L T Z

Unlike Hall and Robinson, Clara Foltz and 
Lockwood never struggled with the question of 
trial advocacy. Perhaps, this was because they 

were women of considerable ego, attorneys 
who could not imagine pulling their clients 
down.

frc HGFEDCBA—J

L A U R A  D E  F O R C E  G O R D O N

With her friend and colleague Laura De Force 
Gordon, Foltz opened the California bar to
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wo m e n and at the s tate s u p re m e co u rt argu e d 
s u cce s s fu lly that Has tings Law Scho o l s ho u ld 
no t de ny adm is s io n to wo m e n o n the gro u nds 

o f the ir sex. They attracted attention.
Yet Foltz, a plucky mother of five whose 

philandering husband had abandoned the 
family, appreciated the dilemma female trial 
advocacy presented to client and counselor. 
As Barbara Babcock, Foltz’s biographer has 
written: “Many of her clients were criminal 

defendants, so desperate they would trust a 
female attorney or so poor the court ap­
pointed Foltz [the novice woman lawyer] to 
their cases.” 31 And, indeed, in summation in 

a 1892 case, Foltz rhetorically asked the jury, 
“Do you think this poor innocent man would 
have applied to a woman to defend him if  he 
had money to pay some distinguished male 
member of the bar?” 32 Elsewhere, Foltz wrote 

that male attorneys sometimes sent clients too 
poor to pay to her, making her office “a sort 

of rendezvous for the poor and the weak and 
the despairing.” 33 Early in her career, Foltz 
was buoyed by the thought that with divorce 

cases, at least, there was “a chance of a fee 
if  she could win a property settlement for the 
wife.” 34 Throughout her career, Foltz main­

tained a general practice in civil and criminal 
courts and later practiced oil and gas law as 
well as mining law.

Foltz had fought to enter the profession 
of law and was, at her core, a reformer. She 
believed that women attorneys “should work 
to improve the administration of justice,”  and 
she made good on this belief by lobbying, be­
ginning in 1890, for the idea of a public de­
fender.35 Babcock, on whose writings 1 am re­

lying, concludes that the public defender idea 
was “ formed from Foltz’s experiences as a jury 
lawyer facing unfair prosecutors” and from 

her involvement with the suffrage and pop­
ulist movements.36 Foltz’s public defender was 

“a capable jury lawyer, the equal of the public 
prosecutor in resources and respect... an op­
positional figure to check and correct the dis­
trict attorney... engaging] the law’s presump­
tion of innocence on a deep level.” 37 It was 

a profoundly American vision of justice and

fairness, only partially realized in Progressive- 
era judicial reform and the later U.S. Supreme 
Court decision in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAG ideon v. W ainw righ t.38

B E L V A  L O C K W O O D

We come, finally, to the life and career of Belva 
Lockwood. Born near Lockport, New York in 
the northwest of the state, Lockwood moved 
to Washington, D.C. months after the conclu­

sion of the Civil War. She fought her way into 
the National University Law School, receiving 
her diploma in 1873 only after sending the pic­
tured letter to President Ulysses S. Grant, the 
ex officio head of the institution.

Thanks to the docket books and case files 
kept by the National Archives in Washington 
and to the fact that Lockwood was a publicity 
hound, we know a great deal about her law 
practice.

She worked out of offices in downtown 
Washington, just off  Pennsylvania Avenue and 

near to the then-bustling commercial district 
of 7th Street. She maintained a solo practice. 

Initially, her elderly second husband Ezekiel, 
a notary, sat nearby, at the ready to put his seal 
and signature on documents. Even before his 
death in 1877, Lockwood had also brought her 
surviving daughter Lura and a young niece into 

the business as office manager and clerk. They
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L o c k w o o d 's  L e t te r  to  P re s id e n t  G ra n t

he lp e d with a clie nte le o f labo re rs , trade s m e n, 
s m all p ro p e rty o wne rs , ve te rans , an o ccas io nal 
lady in dis tre s s—and, late in Lo ckwo o d’s ca­
reer, members of the Eastern Cherokee Band 
of Indians.

Lockwood ran an office not unlike that 
of local male attorneys with small practices. 
The docket books show her handling “note”  

and “damages” actions, “ejectments,” credi­
tor’s bills, injunctions, and annulment of deeds.

As with many other first-generation women 
lawyers, divorce and probate filings consti­
tuted the bread and butter of Lockwood’s 
professional work: days after being admit­
ted to the D.C. bar, she filed a “Bill for Di­
vorce.” She represented dozens of criminal 
defendants. They were charged with virtu­
ally every category of crime, from mail fraud 

and forgery to burglary and murder. She won 
“not guilty” decisions in many of these jury
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tr ials . Ezekiel introduced her to guardianship 
work and to the business of veterans’ pen­
sion claims. Just as some of the early women 

attorneys in the West pursued work in natural- 
resources law, her residence in the nation’s cap­
ital encouraged her specialization in patent fil ­
ings and claims against the government.

In order to have an equal opportunity to 
serve clients in the area of claims against 
the United States government, Lockwood con­
tested with the federal courts, in particular the 
U.S. Court of Claims and the Supreme Court. 
In 1874, the justices of the Court of Claims 
refused to admit her to its bar. Fighting for 
bar privileges and in order to open the entire 
federal bar to qualified women attorneys, she 
lobbied Congress, and in 1876 she endured 
an unsuccessful motion to admit her to the 
U.S. Supreme Court bar. Finally, on March 3, 
1879, following arm-twisting in the House and 

Senate—what Lockwood called an “uncon­
scionable” deal of lobbying in which nothing 
was “ too daring”—Congress enacted the anti- 
discrimination legislation that led the Supreme

Court to admit her to its bar.39 A.G. Riddle, a 
former Congressman, attorney, and man of let­
ters who had motioned her admission in 1876, 
was again her sponsor in 1879.

Pictured here is the record of the Supreme 

Court’s vote against Lockwood in 1876. Pic­
tured next is an illustration published a year 
after her admission that depicts the Supreme 

Court chamber in this period. Lockwood is 
shown sponsoring the admission of the first 
Southern African-American lawyer to the 
Supreme Court bar, Samuel Lowery.

The five years that Lockwood had to wait 
for federal bar privileges limited her career, 
although to what degree it is not possible to 
know. While she contested Congress and the 
courts, she continued her local practice. Like 
all of the women I have discussed tonight, she 
also engaged in reform work—in her case, 

the fight for woman suffrage, women’s edu­
cational and employment rights, and interna­
tional peace.

Lockwood’s plans and proposals were 
often bold and before their time. In 1876,
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with s e ve ral o the r wo m e n, s he inco rp o rate d 
a s cho o l calle d the Wo m e n’s National Univer­
sity, to provide women, in a “nonhostile”  envi­
ronment, “a thorough knowledge of Science, 
law, Divinity  and Medicine.”40

E L L E N  S P E N C E R  M U S S E Y  A N D HGFEDCBA 

E M M A  G IL L E T T

The project did not succeed, but in 1896, Wash­
ington, D.C. attorneys Ellen Spencer Mussey

and Emma Gillett—the latter a Lockwood 
protege—started the Washington College of 
Law, which merged in 1949 with American 
University.

Docket books and newspaper reports sug­
gest that Lockwood’s law practice was most 

robust in the ten or twelve years after she was 
admitted to the D.C. bar. In this period, on 
her new bicycle delivering briefs, in addition 
to her bread-and-butter work, she represented 

several ladies in distress.
Mary Jane Nichols became Lockwood’s 

client in 1875. Nichols had cared for the chil­
dren of John Barber until, she alleged, he raped 
her (several times) and she became pregnant. 
No criminal charges were brought. Despite 
this, Lockwood filed a civil lawsuit asking for 

$10,000 in damages. The civil law of seduc­
tion was in flux. Lockwood invoked a recent 
decision “ that under the common law a per­
son whose rights have been violated, is not 
obligated to stand helplessly by and see his 

private rights merged in the crime against the 
public.” 41 Lockwood and opposing counsel 
lobbed pleas and amended declarations for a 
year and a half. The record suggests an out-of- 
court settlement.

The case of client Louisa Wallace, a for­
mer slave, provided a different set of circum­
stances. At the age of forty-seven, Wallace 
was indicted for infanticide several days af­

ter the death of her newborn son. Lockwood 
handled Wallace’s defense with co-counsel 
James Redington. It is probable that the court 
appointed them, but we have no record of this. 
Deliberating less than two hours, the all-male 
jury, rejecting the defense’s contention that the 
child had been stillborn, found Wallace guilty 
but urged executive commutation of the stipu­
lated sentence, death by hanging.

Lockwood immediately filed motions to 
have the verdict set aside and for a new trial, 
citing technical irregularities and lack of “suf­
ficient and satisfying evidence.” A new trial 

was granted, with Lockwood and YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAtw o male at­
torneys now defending Wallace. The defense 
contended that the government needed to show
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that the child was cap able o f “ inde p e nde nt 
life” and had come to its death by willful  
and intentional neglect. Again, the all-male 
jury found Wallace guilty. In sentencing Wal­

lace, the presiding judge rejected the jurors’ 
recommendation of executive clemency (ten 
years’ imprisonment rather than hanging) and 
specifically berated the women of Washing­
ton for not attending the trial and acknowledg­
ing what he labeled the “ rudest barbarism”  
of infanticide. There is a story to be ex­
plored in the Wallace case about poverty, pub­
lic health, foundling asylums, and abandoned 
mothers.42

In the nineteenth century, the law posed 

difficult, often impossible hurdles for women 
wishing justice, wronged in sexual relations 
with men. A civil action for seduction be­
came popular among women after the Civil  
War. So did lawsuits for breach of promise of 
marriage. They were small but important le­
gal weapons used to equalize the bargaining 
power of women, and Lockwood, enmeshed in

women’s rights, undoubtedly saw them as in­
struments to be used in unraveling patriarchy. 
Lockwood handled several such cases, in one 
suing the son of a U.S. Senator and in another 
bringing suit against U.S. Senator Ben Hill,  
a powerful representative from Georgia! (No 
wimp, our Belva.)

In 1884, Lockwood made the decision to 
campaign as a candidate for President. After 
a dozen years practicing law, she was looking 
to a larger stage. She ran for the office for a 
variety of reasons:

• She had a strong ego, was restless, and 
imagined the campaign as something 
of a lark (she had a high opinion of herself 

but also was a woman of humor);
• To make an ironic statement about the on­

going rejection of woman suffrage at major 
party conventions;

• To endorse publisher Marietta Stow’s mes­
sage that running for office could be an act 
of empowerment for women;
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• And perhaps out of the frustration 
of knowing that, because of sex dis­
crimination, an appropriate government

position—say, district attorney, agency 

head, or judge—would never be offered 
to her.

..........■ ■ ■ 5 ■; ? v

f_____"_______ :_________ _____ ■■ ------■ . ■

:-3HGFEDCBA

, ®outf of fhc Waited JHateg £ONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

O C T O B E R  T E R M ,  1 0 0 5

Th e U n it e d St a t e s, . YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAA pp tllan t
. • tw. . I-;.- ,

Ts e Ch e k o k t.k Na t io n
. A  N o .  3 4 6 . ,  A /•/ZcA-.-, •

■

Th e ‘Ea s t e r n; Ch e r o k e e s, A ppellan t!)
. vs. . ■ >  N o . 3 4 7 .

Th e Ch e r o k e e Na t io n' '

Th e Ch e r o k e e Na t io n, • A ppellan t)
w t. J  N o . 3 4 8 .

THf . Un it e d St a t e s I A.’ -

Th e Ea s t e r n a n d 
Emig r a n t Ch e r o k e e s, . A ppellees

-vs. ' . .
Th e Un it e d St a t e s •

h N o . 3 4 9 .

IN APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF CLAIMS

' - BRIEF

For the Eastern and Emigrant Cherokees

•B E L V A /A . W C K W O O D , .

v.\/ Kington. 3J. C.

V,„; 

V A

■ L ,

United States v. Cherokee Nations b r ie f



8 6 J O U R N A L  O F  S U P R E M E  C O U R T  H IS T O R Y

L o c k w o o d a rg u e d HGFEDCBA 

Kaiser v. Stickney 

b e fo re  th e  S u p re m e  

C o u r t in  1 8 8 0 .zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

In 1884, photographs were not yet used 
in newspapers. Cartoons remain one of the 
ways of seeing how nineteenth-century polit­
ical candidates were represented to the pub­

lic. Many cartoons depict candidate Lockwood 
and serve as evidence that her campaigning 
was noticed and also, by my reckoning, that 
she was treated as one of the boys.

Lockwood’s campaign began with rallies 
in nearby Maryland and downtown Washing­
ton, after which she made it national in scope 
despite the lack of a real political party behind 
her—or a party treasury. Employing a clever 
business model, she funded her cross-country 
electioneering by offering herself as a public 

lecturer, appearing at churches, civic halls, and 
country fairs. We know, of course, that she did 
not win.

Lockwood continued to want a larger 
stage and a second career. For reasons of in­
tellect, money, or politics, many of the women 
lawyers of the first generation maintained two 
careers: Robinson wrote books and articles; 
Ada Bittenbender gave many years of full-time 
service to the Woman’s Christian Temperance 
Union; Hall ran a Connecticut charity for poor 
boys; Mussey and Gillett built their law school;

and Kate Stoneman, who opened the New York 
State bar to women, taught school and worked 
feverishly for the cause of women’s suffrage in 
that state (and possibly never practiced law). 
After the 1884 election, Lockwood launched 
herself as a paid lecturer, criss-crossing the 

country for many years while also maintain­
ing a law practice that increasingly handled 
only pension claims and patents.

She had one very big case left in her, how­
ever. By now you know that, if  Belva Lock- 
wood was anything, she was tenacious. She 
also had a mile-high ego. In representing the 
Eastern Cherokee Band of Indians, she drew 
upon both.

Lockwood began representing the Eastern 

Band of Cherokee Indians in 1875. She collab­
orated with Cherokee James Taylor, who had 
been sent to Washington to win U.S. recogni­
tion of the Eastern Cherokee tribe and, when 
recognition was granted, to press treaty-based 
monetary claims against the United States. Es­
sentially, in 1875, and for thirty years until she 
won at the Supreme Court, Lockwood argued 
that the citizens of the Eastern Band, although 
geographically separated from the Cherokee 
Nation (West), were equal tribal members of
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the Cherokee Nation and must be given an 

equal share of disputed fees as well as pro­
ceeds from land sales, past and present.

The case and Lockwood’s representation 

were tied to tribal politics and acts of Congress.

These twisted, and turned and sometimes 
stalled until 1901, when Congress authorized 
the Cherokee to bring a finding-of-fact case 

at the Court of Claims. Lockwood and Tay­
lor saw this as the opening they had long 
sought, and Lockwood jumped in by filing a 
motion to intervene in the case already un­
der way—a motion that the Court of Claims 
allowed.

On January 16,1906, Lockwood, who had 
first argued before the Supreme Court in the 
1880 execution-of-deed case of K a iser v. Stick­

ney,  ̂presented her clients’ appeal. She was 
seventy-five years old. Three months later, 
in a unanimous decision, the Court ruled for 
the Cherokee, affirming a one-million-dollar 
award plus interest—five million dollars in 
all.44 Lockwood was ecstatic. She wrote to a 
woman friend, “ [The judgment] gives me a 
great reputation as a lawyer, which will  help 
all women, and will  give me eventually money 
enough ... to make my old age comfortable.”  
It did not entirely work out that way, but that 
is a tale for another day.

The first generation of U.S. women 
lawyers was smart, bold, and defiant. Its mem­
bers were charming and argumentative. They 
debated whether to wear their hats in court as 
well as fundamental questions of service and 
professional identity. Would pro bono work 
be their ruin? (The women divided on this 

point.) Should they be “ lady lawyers”  or sim­
ply law yers? Was a contingent-fee case worth 

the risk? And was there any way around the 
fact that male attorneys had a far easier time 
“making the acquaintance”  of businessmen in 
clubs, businesses, and public places? Even the 
shyest members of this first generation were 
women of considerable spirit, women who 
believed that the profession of law would find 
a place for them.

The question, of course, was what place 
that would be. The first-generation women 
lawyers who lived into the twentieth century 

saw that change had come most quickly in the 
early years of their fight to join the profes­

sion. By 1900, women attorneys did not find it
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difficu lt to jo in the bar, altho u gh a nu m be r o f 
law s cho o ls we re s till clo s e d to the m . Ho we ve r, 

o nce adm itte d to the bar, m o s t wo m e n lawy e rs 
at the tu rn o f the ce ntu ry co ntinu e d to find 
the m s e lve s lim ite d to m o de s t s o lo o r fam ily 
p ractice s . The federal government would not

recruit women attorneys for a number of years. 
Tycoons and CEOs also maintained their con­
servative ways. In 1914, when Susan Brandeis, 

daughter of soon-to-be U.S. Supreme Court 
Justice Louis Brandeis, announced her desire 
to study law, her father bluntly replied, “As a
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wo m an atto rne y y o u will be s hu t o u t o f the 

p ro fitable wo rk invo lving im p o rtant bu s ine s s 
trans actio ns .”45

Similarly, the United States was not ready 
for women judges, although women reformers 
and attorneys lobbied for the nomination of a 
woman to the U.S. Supreme Court as early as 
1912 after the death of Justice John Marshall 
Harlan.

The first generation, then, provided, as 
Justice Ruth Ginsburg so aptly reminds us, 
the shoulders upon which subsequent gener­
ations of U.S. women lawyers have stood as 

they struggle to expand the place and con­
tributions of women attorneys. The struggle 
may not be over—but imagine, for a moment, 
what Belva Lockwood and her contemporaries 
would have made of pictures like this one of 
the women members of the New York Court of 
Appeals: Chief Judge Judith Kaye with Judges 
Susan Read, Victoria Graffeo, and Carmen 
Ciparick.

E N D N O T E S

1 Editor’s note: This lecture was delivered at the Associ­

ation of the Bar of the City of New York on October 27, 

2008. It was sponsored by the Supreme Court Histori­

cal Society, partnering with the Historical Society of the 

Courts of the State of New York and Friends of John Jay 

Homestead, Inc.

2 Ellen A. Martin, “Admission of Women to the Bar,”  YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
]  C h icago L aw T im es 76 (1887), available at http://www. 

law.stanford.edu/library/womenslegalhistory/articles/ 

chicago-times.pdf (last accessed Mar. 15, 2010).

3The 1890 U.S. Census indicated that there were more 

than 200 American women attorneys in the U.S. (the same 

census revealed 89,000 male attorneys). U.S. Bureau of 

the Census, ONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT h e E le v e n th C e n s u s o f  t h e U n ite d  S ta te s : 

1 8 9 0 (Washington, D.C., 1897), vol. 1, p. 304. In 1880, 

the number had been seventy-five. U.S. Bureau of the 

Census, T h e T e n th  C e n s u s o f  t h e U n ite d  S ta te s : 1 8 8 0 

(Washington D.C., 1883), vol. 1, p. 744.

4Jill Norgren, B e lv a L o c k w o o d : T h e W o m a n W h o  

W o u ld  b e P r e s id e n t (N Y :  N Y U  P r e s s , 2007), p. 196, 

n8.

5 The best report of the meeting and talks appears in the 

C h icago L ega l N ew s: August 5,1893, p. 421; August 12, p. 

427; and August 26, pp. 447^8,450-1. Fourteen women 

speakers are listed in the program.

6  B radw ell v. I l l ino is, 83 U.S. 130 (1872) (J. Bradley, con­

curring).

7In  the M atter o f  the M otion to adm it M iss L av in ia G ood­

ell, 39 Wise. 232 (1875). Note that Ryan, ironically, does 

not shy away from listing “ the nameless catalogue of in­

decencies.”
8Jane M. Friedman, A m e r ic a ’ s F ir s t  W o m a n : T h e B i ­

o g r a p h y o f  M y r a  B r a d w e l l (Buffalo, NY: Prometheus 

Books, 1993), p. 77.

p. 79.

10W.,p. 91.

"Catherine B. Cleary, “Lavinia Goodell, First Woman 

Lawyer in Wisconsin,”  74 W isconsin M agazine o f H isto ry 

243 (Summer 1991), p. 252.
l2Quoted in id ., p. 253.

l3 Id .,p . 263.

l4Matthew G. Berger, “Mary Hall: The Decision and 

the Lawyer,” 79 Connecticut Bar Journal 29 (2005) 

p. 29.

15 Letter from Catharine Waugh (McCulloch) to the Eq­

uity Club, May 2, 1888, in Virginia Drachman, W o m e n 

L a w y e r s a n d t h e O r ig in s  o f  P r o fe s s io n a l I d e n t i t y  in  

A m e r ic a :  T h e  L e t te r s  o f  t h e E q u i ty  C lu b , 1 8 8 7 t o  1 8 9 0 

(Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press, 1993), p. 136. 

l6Barbara Allen Babcock, “Women Defenders in the 

West,” l N evada L aw Journa l 1 (Spring 2001), pp. 2-3.

17Id ., p. 3; Berger, p. 47.

18Letter from Catharine Waugh (McCulloch) to the Equity 

Club, May 2, 1888, in Drachman, p. 136.
'’Catharine G. Waugh, “Women as Law Clerks,”  pp. 1-2, 

available at http://pds.lib.harvard.edu/pds/view/2581380 

(last visited April 5, 2010).
20Julia Wilson, “Catharine Waugh McCulloch: Attorney, 

Suffragist, and Justice of the Peace,” p. 6, available at 

http://www.law.stanford.edu/library/womenslegalhistory/ 

papers/McCullochCGW-Wilson.pdf (last visited Mar. 15, 

2010).

21 Letter from Catharine Waugh (McCulloch) to the Equity 

Club, April  26, 1889, in Drachman, p. 174.

22Wilson, p. 16.

23 Sarah Killingsworth, “Lelia Robinson,” p. 8, avail­

able at http://www.law.stanford.edu/library/womenslegal 

history/papers/RobinsonL-Killingsworth.pdf (last visited 

Mar. 15,2010).
24Letter from Lelia Robinson to the Equity Club, April  7, 

1888, in Drachman, p. 125.

25Killingsworth, p. 7.

26Id , p. 9.

27Robinson to the Equity Club, April 7, 1888, in Drach­

man, p. 120.
28Mary Nicol, “Lelia Robinson Sawtelle: A Second 

Look,” p. 21, available at http://www.law.stanford.edu/ 

library/womenslegalhistory/papers/RobinsonL-Nicol.pdf 

(last visited Mar. 15,2010).

29Killingsworth, p. 12; Nicol, p. 26.



9 0 J O U R N A L  O F  S U P R E M E  C O U R T  H IS T O R Y zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

30Le lia J. Ro bins o n, “Wo m e n Lawy e rs in the United 

States,” 2 YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAG reen B ag 10 (1890), available at http://www. 

law.stanford.edu/library/womenslegalhistory/articles/ 

greenbagreal.pdf (last visited Mar. 15, 2010).
31 Barbara Babcock, private communication to author (“ In­

troduction to Clara Foltz biography,”  p. 1).
32Barbara Babcock, “ Inventing the Public Defender,”  43 

A m erican C rim ina l L aw R eview 1267 (Fall 2006), p. 1280. 

33Babcock, “Women Defenders in the West,”  p. 7.

34Babcock, “ Inventing the Public Defender,”  p. 1281.

35Id ., p. 1296.

36W.,p. 1270.

37W.,pp. 1267, 1270-71.

^G ideon v. W ainw righ t, 372 U.S. 335 (1963).

39Norgren, p. 82.

40Earlier, in 1873, Lockwood had sent President Grant 

and members of Congress a plan for a gender-integrated 

national university.

41Norgren, p. 99.

42Norgren, p. 100-102.

n  K a iser v. Stickney, 131 U.S. CLXXXVII  Appx. (1889: 

“Cases Omitted” ).
44U .S . v. C herokee N ation , 202 U.S. 101 (1906).

45Letter, Louis D. Brandeis to Susan Brandeis, Nov. 10, 

1914, in Melvin I. Urofsky, ONMLKJIHGFEDCBAL o u is D . B r a n d e is : A  Life 

(New York: Pantheon, 2009), pp. 844-45, n509.



Contributors

Jeffrey L. Amestoy is a retired chief justice of 
the Supreme Court of Vermont and a Fellow at 
the Center for Public Leadership at the Harvard 
Kennedy School.

Myron H. Bright is a judge on the U.S. Court 
of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit since 1968. 
His chambers are in Fargo, North Dakota.

Heather Gerken is the J. Skelly Wright Pro­
fessor at Yale Law School.

Stefanie A. Lepore graduated from George 
Washington Law School in 2009 and is cur­
rently an associate at Vinson & Elkins.

Jill Norgren is a professor emerita of govern­
ment at John Jay College of Criminal Justice

and the Graduate Center, the City University 
of New York. She is the author of Belva Lock- 
wood (2007) and the forthcoming Rebels at 
the Bar.

Sandra Day O’Connor served as an Asso­
ciate Justice of the U.S. Supreme Court from 
1981 to 2006.

Polly J. Price is a professor of law and the 
associate dean of faculty at Emory University 
School of Law.

Kermit Roosevelt teaches law at the Univer­
sity of Pennsylvania.



92 

Illustrations 

All images are from the Library of Congress except as 
listed below: 
Page 2, Collection of the Supreme Court of the United 
States. Photograph by Lois Long. 

Page 5, Collection of the Supreme Court of the United 
States. Photograph by Lois Long. 

Page 8, Collection of the Supreme Court of the United 
States. Photograph by Lois Long. 

Pages 26-29, Courtesy of Myron Bright 

Page 40, Office of the Solicitor General 
Page 55, Courtesy of Polly Price 

Page 78 (top), Courtesy of Hastings Law School 
Page 83 (top), Courtesy Washington College of Law 
Page 88, Courtesy of Judge Kaye 

Cover: David Souter in 2006. Photo by Mathew Cavanaugh, cpt/Corbis 

Erratum: 

On page 277 of the previous issue, Professor Morgan's description of Jones v. Opelika was incorrect. The case 

was decided in 1942 and the Witnesses lost 5----4. 
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